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DECLARATION OF DIANE ACAMPORA

1. My name is Diane Acarapora. | Tam a ferale, over the age of 21, who resides in
Buford, Georgia. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to
testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein,

2. 1began working for Sferling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling™) in April 2602, as a Sales
Associéte‘at the Kay store in the Park City Mall, in Lancaster, Pennsylvania. I
continued in that poéition for approximately three months, when I bec.ame the Repair
Shop Manager at the Kay store in the Berkshire Mall, in Reading, Pennsylvania. 1
continued in that pros'ition for approximately four years, when I became a Sales
Associate at that same store in 2006. I worked as a Sales Associate for a short time,
and then I was proiriBtéd to Third Key at that samne Kay store. I confinued working as
Third Key until appi'éﬁhnately February 2007, when I was demoted to Sales Associate
at the Kay store in thie Exton Mall, in Exton, Pennsylvania, At the end of February
2007, I was promoted to Assistant Manager of the Kay store in the Bexkshire Mall, in
Réading, Pennsylvania, I worked in that position for a year, when I transfexred as
Assistant Maﬁagef to the Jared store in the Mall of Georgia, in Buford, Georgia, in
February 2008, 1 continued in that position until June 2008, when I becarﬁe a Bench
Jeweler at that same store. Icontinued in that position wntil March 2009, when I. Ieﬁ
the company.

3. During n1y employment at Sterling, I observed that Sterling had a policy
prohibiting its employees from discussing their pay. For example, I was told by
District Manager Jeff Yoder when I first began working for the company that

employees are not to discuss their pay with other employees, and that it was
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February 2008, Our Store Manager, Richard DiFrancesco, had not made a
general announcement to employees in the store regarding this online posting
system, nor had he otherwise explained that if an employee wanted fo be

promoted then he or she must post their inierest online.

T declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is frue and correct. Signed this

3 day of Qf,()/[‘g,ﬁ , 2008

;{Q OA(MWUU«-—~~«

Diane Acampora
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1.

SUPPLEMENTAL DECLARATION OF DIANE ACAMPORA
My name is Diane Acampora. I am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Reading, Pennsylvania. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called
to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
I previously executed a Declaration in this matter on April 1, 2009.
After having left my employment with Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) in April,
2009, I was rehired by Sterling in February, 2010, as a full-time Sales Associate
at a Kay store located in Lancaster, Pennsylvania. I worked there approximately
two weeks and was then promoted to Assistant Manager at the Kay store, in King
of Prussia, Pennsylvania. Approximately one month later, I was transferred to the
Kay store, # 1108, in Lancaster, Pennsylvania. I also worked short periods of
time at two other Kay stores in that area during this time period. I left my
employment with Sterling in October, 2010.
When I was rehired in February, 2010, my pay was set at $14.00 per hour. I was
given a $ .50 per hour raise later that year when I was promoted to Assistant
Manager at the King of Prussia Kay store. During this time period, it was my
understanding that a male Assistant Manager in the area named
was making approximately $5.00 an hour more than I made even though I had
more jewelry experience than he had. During this same general time period, it
was also my understanding that NEYERERNER another male Assistant Manager of
a Belden Store in the Berkshire Mall located in Reading, Pennsylvania, was also
paid a higher salary than I was even though he, too, had less jewelry experience

than I had.
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occurred during the various Company sponsored cruises that were periodically
held to recognize high performing employees. I was told this by several Sterling

employees including Store Managers.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing Supplemental Declaration is

true and correct. Signed this S5\ day of w, 2012,

Q) (] meJ

Diane Acampora
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Declaration of Timeen Adair
My name is Timeen Adair. I am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Rogers City, Michigan. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called
to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
I was employed by Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) between approximately
1992 and December 2009. I began working for Sterling as an Office Manager at
the Kay store in the East Mall, in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, in approximately
1992. In that position I also sold jewelry on the sales floor. I continued working
in that position until approximately 1997, when I was promoted to Assistant
Manager at the Kay store in the Colonial Park Mall, in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania.
I continued working in that position for approximately a year, when I was
promoted to Store Manager at the Kay store in the East Mall, in Harrisburg,
Pennsylvania, sometime in 1998 or 1999. I continued working in that position
until approximately 2002, when I became the Store Manager of the Kay store in
the Woodbridge Mall, in Woodbridge, New Jersey. I continued working in that
position until approximately 2006 when I became the Store Manager of the Kay
store in the Harford Mall, in Bel Air, Maryland. I continued in that position until
December 2009, when I left Sterling.
While I was employed by Sterling, I earned several awards from the company. In
2001 and 2004 I won incentive trips. In approximately 1993 or 1994, I won the
district-wide Office Manager of the Year award. Sterling also awarded me

region-wide a customer service award 5 quarters in a row in 2003-2004.
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While I was employed by Sterling, I was aware that Sterling had a policy
prohibiting employees from discussing their pay with each other. I recall several
of my supervisors instructing me on this policy. My first Store Manager,
Thaddeus D’ Ambrosia, told me that employees were not supposed to talk about
their pay with each other. District Manager Jeff Yoder in Pennsylvania also told
me not to discuss my pay when [ was Store Manager of the Kay store in the East
Mall in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania. Vice President Rick Davis also told me not to
discuss my pay with other Sterling employees in approximately 2003, when I was
the Store Manager of the Kay store in Woodbridge, New Jersey.

This policy made it difficult for women to identify instances where they were paid
less than male employees performing the same job. Nevertheless, I am aware of
men being paid more than women because I learned this through conversation or
in my capacity as Store Manager.

For example, when I was the Office Manager at the Kay store in the East Mall in
Harrisburg, Pennsylvania in approximately 1992 through 1994, I was paid around
$7.50 or $8.00 an hour. During this time, I learned that YEEYERRINES . Was paid
around $13.00-$14.00 an hour as the Office Manager at the Kay store in the Park
City Mall, in Lancaster, Pennsylvania. I learned [EEERER" S pay rate from
Christie (LNU), who held the Office Manager position before me at the Kay store
in the East Mall.

At this time, I was performing better as Office Manager than [ZEEEEE. My
collection rate, which indicates how many past due accounts I was able to collect

on, was at 97%; ikt S by contrast was at 85%. I knew these collection rates
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because they were emailed to the stores. In addition to my Office Manager duties,
I sold jewelry on the floor on a regular basis. Based on my performance, I won
the district-wide Office Manager of the Year award.

When I learned I was paid less than a male in the same position, I complained to
Store Manager Thaddeus D’ Ambrosia. He told me that he didn’t know what
people were paid. I then complained to District Manager Mark Law when he
visited the store. Law admitted that EEEEEEEE was paid more, but said it was
because the Kay store in which RIS worked was a larger store. I protested
that I was performing better than JEEEEERES . and that my collections were better.
Law seemed to brush off my complaint and tried to placate me by saying he’d
“make sure” I got promoted to Assistant Manager. It did not seem right to me
that a male who was not performing as well I was should be paid more than me,
and that it was justified by the possibility of some future promotion.

In the late 1990’s, while I was Assistant Manager at the Kay store in the Colonial
Park Mall, I was paid around $12.00 an hour, which came out to be in the low to
mid $20,000’s annually. Around the same time, I learned that Sterling paid
NEEENREEE ., an Assistant Manager at the Park City Mall in Lancaster,
Pennsylvania, in the $30,000’s annually jjijjiii§j had told his pay rate to a group of
employees at the Kay store in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania. When I was promoted to
Store Manager soon after, at the Kay store in the East Mall in Harrisburg,
Pennsylvania, [ was paid around $32,000 a year, not that much different than

g salary who was working in the same area as only an Assistant Manager.
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14.

15.

16.

17.

This pay difference was not restricted to Sales Associates. In approximately 2006
or 2007, two of my Assistant Managers, one male and one female, were promoted
to Store Manager within about six months of each other, and the male was paid
more. Female Employee was promoted to Store Manager at the Kay store,
while was promoted to Store Manager of the J.B. Robinson
store in Freehold or Edison, New Jersey. The male, [k Was paid
substantially more than [k the female. Ilearned of this pay difference
because both of these employees told me their offers in conversation when they
were considering whether to accept the offer.

During my employment at Sterling, it was Sterling’s policy not to post job
openings and promotion opportunities at the store or anywhere else where
employees could see such postings. Instead, Sterling promoted employees
through a system in which the employee who was selected for a particular
promotion was then notified of that opportunity. Other employees found out
about openings and opportunities for advancement through word of mouth, such
as when an employee was leaving a store or after Sterling promoted someone else.
I learned of the promotions I received during my career at Sterling from a
manager above me telling me about that particular opening.

I was interested in promotions about a year after I began my employment with
Sterling. I expressed interest in promotions at that time to District Manager Jeff
Yoder.

In approximately 1994, I learned that JEIERRINER . the Office Manager I

discussed in paragraphs 6-8 above, was promoted to Office Manager of a new
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19.

20.

Jared store in Pittsburgh. This was a more desirable position because it was at a
Jared store, and a new one at that. I had not even heard of this opening when I
learned Sterling had promoted [EiEEEs to this store. I complained to my District
Manager at the time, either Jeff Yoder or Mark Law, that got this
promotion, I had not been notified of this opening, and I was interested in it. My
District Manager told me that (EEEEEEEE got it because he was newly married and
had twins.

Regional Vice President Ian Goldsmith, District Manager Mark Law, and Store
Manager Raymond Yen told me about a “secret” promotion opportunity that was
offered to me. While I was Office Manager at the Kay store in the East Mall in
Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, Store Manager Raymond Yen came to me and asked
me if I was interested in an Assistant Manager position that was coming open
because the current Assistant Manager was going to be promoted. Regional Vice
President lan Goldsmith, District Manager Mark Law, and Yen all told me not to
tell anyone about the offer while I was considering it. I ended up turning that
promotion down because Sterling offered me about $9.00 an hour, which was
only .50 cents more than [ was earning as Office Manager.

When I was promoted to Assistant Manager at the Kay store in the Colonial Park
Mall in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, I learned of the position when District Manager
Jeff Yoder approached me about an open position Sterling wanted me to take.
Promotions at Sterling involved not only a change in positions, such as from Sales
Associate to Assistant Manager, but also promotion to a higher volume store even

while keeping the same position. I observed that female employees at Sterling
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23.

were treated unfairly when it came to promotions to better stores. For example,
was the Assistant Manager at the Kay store in Harrisburg,
Pennsylvania, in which I was Store Manager. I observed that ESsEEE Was an
excellent employee and manager. After she was promoted to Store Manager, I
expressed to District Manager Jeff Yoder that she deserved to manage a big store,
but Sterling kept giving her the smallest stores in the district first the smallest
and then the next smallest jiilaaa had complained to me, “I’m getting the
crappy stores.” illan Was assertive and talented, and I would be surprised if
she had not advocated for herself in being promoted to a higher volume store.

At some point in approximately 2007, I learned of the Career Advancement
Registry (CAR). I went online and expressed my interest in obtaining promotion
to higher volume stores. After I posted in this system, I did not hear anything
back from Sterling, nor did I learn of any promotional opportunities at higher
volume stores.

I observed instances in which employees were told to post their interest in
promotion on the CAR after they were told of a particular position that Sterling
wanted to promote them to. For example, when I was Store Manager of the Kay
store in Woodbridge, New Jersey, in approximately 2007, my Assistant Manager
was JEEEIREEL. He appeared content with the Assistant Manager position, and
had not expressed interest in promotion to me or on the CAR.

I was at the store when District Manager Chris Filosa approached [ and
said there was an opening for him as Store Manager at the J.B. Robinson store in

either Freehold or Edison, New Jersey. I cannot remember which store Filosa
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mentioned, but it was one or the other of these two stores replied,
“Really? O.K.” Filosa then said he was not posted on the CAR, so he
couldn’t be promoted. He instructed [iilRaa t© go online and post his interest,
and then told me to make sure R did this. Filosa told me that [
needed to apply online “or we can’t offer him the job.” 1 observe kR POst
his interest in promotion that same day, and he received a promotion to Store
Manager within a week.

I observed another instance of an employee being told to post on the CAR for a
position that he was apparently already selected for. A male Sales Associate,
(LNU), at the Kay store in Woodbridge, New Jersey expressed interest in
being promoted to Assistant Manager, but only at a particular store in Whitehall,
New Jersey. In approximately 2008 or 2009, District Manager Kane Jowers
visited the store and told il to post for an Assistant Manager position, and
that a position at the store in Whitehall was opening up. Soon after posting,
BE was promoted to Assistant Manager. A female Sales Associate at my

store, [l (LNU) was interested in promotion to Assistant Manager and had

already expressed her interest in this to me and on the CAR jjjjiiilil§ complained to
me about Sonny getting the promotion to Assistant Manager because it was
common knowledge that had not expressed such interest on the CAR prior
to the Whitehall store opening up. I observed that instead of selecting between
the employees who had expressed interest in promotion to Assistant Manager
when filling this position, Sterling instead sought out a male and told him that the

store was opening and he should post on the CAR for it.
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whom was a co-employee, This comment was totally unprovoked and
unwelcomed. I reported it to my Store Manager, Donna Orosz, who made a
complaint to HR on my behalf. I never heard from HR about the complaint and

as far as | am aware nothing was ever done about it.

I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

Cﬁ day of JW\LU\J\) ,2012.
C

NV vl O/j&ﬁ A}/ A

Mandy Lee Al}'a
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DECLARATION OF EMILY ALVAREZ
1. My name is Emily Alvarez. Iam a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Houston, Texas. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to testify, 1
would provide the same testimony as stated herein,
2, I began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling” or “Company”) in
approximately November 2005 at Kay Jewelers, Store 1398, in Humble, Texas. At Store
1398, I was hired and worked as a seasonal cashier until approximately March or April
2006 when T became a part-time cashiet/office worker/sales associate working
approximately 20 to 40 plus hours per week. In that position, I had sales goals and sold
merchandise, operated the cash register, and managed the office. I worked in that
position for over two years, and then left Sterling in approximately April 2008 upon the
birth of my child. I rejoined Sterling in November of 2010 as a seasonal cashier at Kay
Jewelers, Store 1401, in Houston, Texas. I worked in that position for approximately two
months for the holiday season. I made $9.50 per hour the duration of my employment
with Sterling.
3. During my employment at Sterfing, I was aware that Sterling had a policy
prohibiting its employees from discussing their rate of pay with other employees. When I
was first hired by Sterling, my Store Manager at the time, Lori Danel Dotson (f.k.a. Lori
Leverett), told me about the policy and directed me that we were not permitted to discuss
our pay with other employees. Because of that policy, it was generally difficult for
women to identify instances where they were paid less than inale employees performing

the same job.
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either [Sterling] or attorneys representing individuals suing [Sterling] in relation to this
matter.” Sterling did not inform me that Ms. Janice is an attorney or that she had
represented Sterling in this case,

10. I found the language in Sterling’s letter telling me that I had signed the attached
declaration under oath intimidating. I do not recall ever seeing this declaration before,
nor do I recall ever being interviewed for this declaration or signing the declaration.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing Declaration is true and

cotrect. Signed this /g—‘day of ﬁ @Z , 2013, a E! k’m\

Emlly Alv rez
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complaint, if the need ever aroso, knowing that the subject of the complaint may discover

my identity and be free to confront me or retaliate against me.

' . i3
I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this 74/ j'day.r

) ,;) ) K )
; M@é/- Qq/z/&é@{ﬂlw

&, Af}ény S@’Anderson

of \faf%mzé«efa , 2009.
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D;ECLARATION OF HEATHER BALLOU
My name is Heather Ballou. Iam a female, over the age of 21, who resides in Gulf
Breeze, Florida, I méke this declaration on personal knowledge. If calied fo tc;stify, X
would provide the samje testimony as stated herein,
I began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (Stexling) in October 2000, as a Sales
Associate at the Kay store in the Cordova Mali, in Pemacola,‘Florida. 1 contii;ue_d in that
posttion uatil approximately Ma;rch 2003, when I was promoted to Third Key at the Santa
Rosa Mall, in Mary Esther, Florida. T continued in that posi‘tion until I une or July 2004,
| when I was promoted to Assistant Manager at the Xay store in the Cortana Mall, in Baton
Rouge, Louisiana. [continued in that position uﬁtil March 2005, when I was promoted to
Store Manager at the Kay store in the Esplanade Mall, in Kenner, Louvisiana, T continued
in that position uatil September 2005, when I became the Store Manager-of the Kay store.
in the Melbourne Square Mall, in Melbourne, Florida. T continued in that position ;mtii
Mai; 2006, when I was promoted to Store Manager of the Xay store in the Mali St.
Vincent, m Shreveport, Louisiana, [ continued in that position unti! Angunst 2008, when 1
became the Store Manager of the Kay store at the Bastern Shore Centre Mall, in Spanish
Fort, Alabama, T continued in that position until May 2009, when Sterling terminated my
employment,
During my employment at Sterling, I obsetrved that Sterling bad a policy prohibiting its
emi;ioyees from discussing their pay, For example, I was told by Store Manager Gail
Shoclcley when I was first hired that employees were not to discuss theit pay with other
employees, and that it was grounds for discipline including termination. This policy was

reiterated to me throughout my employment with Sterling, by District Managers Tony
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10,

1.

12.

Manager Gail Shockley, I also told her that I was a Store Manager at Friedman’s and
wanled to contimte in management,

I worked as a Sales Associate for the next two and a half years. During this time 1
expressed interest in being ])1'6111oted into management to my Store Managers Gail
Shockley and Peter Saccomarno, and to District Manager Ray Mitchell, and then District
Manager Tony Kass. Neither Mitchell nor Kass told me what I needed to do or leatn in
order to be promoted, Talso expressed this inferest in being promoted to Assistant
Manager to Sferling Vice President Paul Kyonick when he was at our store during a
special sales event within the first months of my employment, Kronick said “great” but
did not tell me what I needed to do in otder to be promoted. I also expressed interest in
being promoted to management to Store Manager Peter Saccomanno, and he only told me
that I should tell the Disirict Manager.

I talked to District Manager Brian Land, and expressed my interest in being promoted to
Assistant Manager, from approxima(ely the time he became my District Manager, until T
was finally promoted in March 2005, Land would tell me he couldn’t promeote me to
Assistant Manager because I was already making too much as a Sales Associate. Land
told me tlfat company-wide, Assistant Managers never made more than $11.00 an hour.
At that time, I was paid $12.50 as a Sales Assoviate.

[ was proﬁloted to Third Key at the Kay store i%l the Santa Rosa Mall, in Mary Esther,
Flovida, in approximately March 2003, I did not receive a pay raise with this promotion.
It did not appear the Third Key had very many managerial duties. Because of this,
becoming Third Key did not fecl like a promotion after being a Sales Associate for

almost two and a half years. Itold then Store Manager Duane Sallis that I bad job offers
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Declaration of Amanda Barger
My name is Amanda Barger. I am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Phoenix City, Alabama. 1 make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called
to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
I began my employment with Sterling Jewelers Inc. (*Sterling”) in approximately
June 2005 as a Part Time Sales Associate at the Kay store in the Peachtree Mall,
in Columbus, Georgia. I continued in that position until approximately August
2005, when I was promoted to Full Time Sales Associate at that same Kay store.
In approximately December 2005, I became the Third Key at that Kay store in
Columbus, Georgia. I continued in that position until approximately April 2006,
when I was promoted to Assistant Manager at the Kay store in the Colonial Mall,
in Aubuin, Alabama. I worked as Assistant Manager until September 2006, when
I left employment with Sterling,
I next worked for Sterling in approximately October or November 2007, as a Part
Time Sales Associate at the Kay store in the Peachtree Mall, in Columbus,
Georgia. In April 2008 I left employment with Sterling,
I next worked for Sterling in approximately the summer of 2009 as a Part Time
Sales Associate at the Kay store in the Peachtree Mall, in Columbus, Georgia. I
continued in that position until later in the year, when I was promoted to Assistant
Manager at the Marks & Morgan store in the Peachtree Mall in Columbus,
Georgia. I continued working as Assistant Manager at that store until March

2010, when I left employment with Sterling,
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DECLARATION OF TEDDI BARNES

1. My name is Teddi Bames. I am 2 female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Traverse City, Michigan.. I make this declaration on personal knowledge, If
called to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.

2. 1began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) in approximately February
1992, as the Office Manager at the JB Robinson store in the Grand Traverse Mall,
in Traverse City, Michigan, (At some time in 1994 or 1995, this store changed
from a JB Robinson store to Kay storz.) I continued in that position until
approximately September 2002, when I became office and sales help at that same
store. 1 worked as office and sales help until approximately January or February
2003. In January or February 2003, [ transferred to the Osterman store in the
Grand Traverse Mall, as office and sales help. I continued in that position for 2
year, until early 2004. At that time [ became a Sales Associate at the Kay store in
the Grand Traverse Mall, and continued in that position until T left the company in
August 2007,

3. While employed by Sterling, I observed that Sterling had a policy prohibiting its
employees from discussing their pay with each other. My Store Manager, Doug
Zuncik, told me soon afier [ startedr that I should not discuss how much I made
with other employees.

4, Ibelieve that Sterling discriminates against its female employees in pay. Because
of Sterling’s policy, however, it is difficult for female employees at Stetling to
identify instances in which they were paid less than male employees performing

the same job.
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1.

DECLARATION OF BRAD BARTL
My name is Brad Bartl, [ am a male, over the age of 21, who resides in West
Fargo, North Dakota. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to
testify, [ would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
[ began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling™) in approximately
December 1989, as a Sales Associate at the Goodman store in the Northtown Mall
in Minneapolis, Minnesota. I continued in that position for approximately 6
months, until [ was promoted in 1990 to Assistant Manager at the Goodman store
in the Brocklyn Center Mall, in Minneapolis, Minnesota, In approximately May
1990, I was promoted to Store Manager of the Osterman store in the Glendale
Mall, in Indianapolis, Indiana. I continued in that position for approximately one
year, when I transferred in the summer of 1992 to the Osterman store in the
Markland Mall, in Kokomo, Indiana. I worked as Store Manager at that store for
approximately 5 years, when I transferred in 1997 or 1998 to the Kay store in the
Concord Mall, in Elkhart, Indiana. I worked as Store Manager of that store for
approximately 5 years, when I transferred to the Kay store in Mishawaka, Indiana,
in approximately 2004. I continued at that store until August 2006, when I left

the company.

. During my employment with Sterling, Sterling had a policy prohibiting its

employees from discussing their pay with other employees, As Store Manager, 1
was responsible for informing my employees of this policy. Because of the
policy, it was difficult for women to identify instances where they were paid less

than males performing the same job.
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4, During the time I worked at Sterling, T believe that female employees suffered
discrimination because of the manner by which promotions were made. Job
openings and promotional opportunities were not posted via a formal job posting
system. Instead, promotion decisions were made by Sterling’s District Managers
and Regional Vice Presidents via an informal “tap on the shoulder” system, where
only those employees that management was already interested in promoting were
selected. During my 15-year tenure as Store Manager, I regularly received calls
from District Managers or Regional Vice Presidents asking if I had an employee
in my store that was “promotable,” usually for Assistant Manager positions. Once
the District Manager or Regional Vice President decided on an employee, that
person was then told about their selection for the vacant position.

5. There were six performance standards set for each sales employee: sales, credit
applications, extended warranties, add-ons, payment protection plans, and repairs,
Throughout my employment with Sterling, I observed that these performance
standards were used as a pretext to justify various employment decisions, such as
failure to promote or termination. They were clearly not used in a systematic way
to be fair to atl employees regardless of gender,

6. In approximately 2004, [ was aware that a female named Lisa McConnell was
promoted to Store Manager at a Kay’s in Elkhart, Indiana. In approximately
2005, T talked with McConnell about her salary as Store Manager. She was
making around $34,000 per year at that time. I was also aware that my wife,
Donna Bartl who was also a Store Manager in that area, was only making

approximately $32,000 - $33,000 per year. I was aware that there were several
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DECLARATION OF DONNA BARTL

. My name is Donna Bal%l. Tama fe;nale, over the age of 21, who resides in Farpo,
North Dakota, Imake this declaration on personal knowledge, If called to testify,
I would provide the same testimony as stated herein. l

. Tbegan working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) in November 19_9'9, asa
Sales Associate at the Kay store in the University Park Mall, m Mishawaka,
Indiana, I continued in that position for approximately sight to nine months, untit
I was promoted to Assistant Manager at that same store in 2000 or 2001, I
continued as Assistant Manager for approximately eight to nine months until I
was promoted to Store Manager at‘tﬁat same store in 2001, 1 continued as Store
Mauégcr there until I left the company in approximately August 2003,

| observed that Sterling had a policy prohibiting its employees from discussing
their pay. For example, when I started working for Sterling I was told by District
Manager Michelle McFarland that employees were riot to discuss their pay with
other employees, and that it was grounds for discipline. Iwa.-;, also told this by my
Store Manager Bob Mrock. He told me that I could get fired for talking about
how much I made with other employees.

. As Store Manager, I told my staff that they should not discuss their pay with other
employees. In approximately 2001, soon after [ became a Store Manager, an
employee asked me for a raise, He told me that another employee-was making
more than him. I told him that he was not supposed to discuss pay with other’
employees, and that I was going fo speak to the other employee about this

infraction. I then called Stetling’s Human Resoutces in Ohio regarding the
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DECLARATION OF ANNA BATTAGLIA-LAGALANTE
1. My name is Anna Battaglia-Lagalante. I am a female, over the age of 21, who
resides in St. Petersburg, Florida, 1 make this declaration on personal knowledge. If
called to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
2. I began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling” or “Company”) in
approximately August 2005 and left Sterling in approximately late 2006. Prior to
working for Sterling, I had approximately ten years of sales experience working at Lord
& Taylor.
3. I was hired by Sterling as a Sales Associate for approximately $9.00 or $9.50 per
hour. I remained at this hourly rate for the duration of my employment with Sterling
despite receiving my Diamontology certificate while at Sterling and working there for
well over a year. I worked at Kay Jewelers, Store 367, in Tyrone Square Mall in St.
Petersburg, Florida for over a year, and was then transferred to a Marks & Morgan store,
also in Tyrone Square Mall in St. Petersburg, Florida, in mid to late 2006.
4, At Marks & Morgan, the Store Manager, Jill Fundora, approached me and told me
that she wanted to train me to be the Assistant Manager, I told her T was interested in the
promotion, but wanted to know if T would be paid more for occupying the Assistant
Manager position and assuming the additional responsibilities and duties associated with
the position. Fundora said she did not know and would have to get back to me. After she
consulted whomever was responsible for inaking the decision, she informed me that I
would not receive a pay raise for assuming the Assistant Manager position. Due to
Sterling’s unwillingness to increase my hourly rate for assuming the position of Assistant

Manager, and assuming all the additional responsibilitics and duties that came with the
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DECLARATION OF LAILA BLAREK

. My name is Laila Blarek. Tam a female, over the age of 21, who resides in

_f‘oxwoﬂh, Mississippl. Imake this declaration on personal knowledgé. If called

to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.

I Began working for Sterling Tewelers Inc. (“Sterling_”_) in Sepiember 1999, ai the
Kay store in the Newmarket Fair Mall, in Newpbﬂ News, Virgipia, as an office
worker/sales associate. I coniinmed int that position until Decernber 1999, when I
was promoted (o Assistant Manager ai fhat same store. 1 continued as Assistant
Manager until Tnly of August .200[), when I became an office worker/sales

- agsociate at the JB Robinson store in the Chesapeake Square Mall, in Chesapeake,
Vii"g‘iﬁéi L eotitinued in that position until September 2000, when !Fti=m1'sf¢11t'd'as\
ail offiée Worker/sdlel ssébetate to the TR Rbitison ‘stors-in the Patrick:Hetiry:
ﬁﬁliﬁ*ﬂfﬁmﬁﬁgﬁ Ne-_wé"; Virginia. I econtimred in'that position anfil:Tune 2002, 4
when'T left f:hé ﬁginpénjf.

. Toext worked'f&fStérling in November or December 2002, as an offiee -

worker/sales asscéiate at the JB Robinson store i the Patrick Henry Mall, in

Newport News, Virginia. Icontinued.in that position natil Septernber 2004, when

1 1eft the compﬁny.

. Daning my emploj.rn:;ent with Sterling, 1 observed that Sterling had a poiicy

prohibiting itd em‘pic;yees from discussing their pay. For example, [ was to!ﬁ by

by Store Matidger, Tisa Hodge, when I firsi statted working for theiémpary that

WLy

ahipildyies Gerb orto didbuse their pay withi SHer éhployees; andthdtit was

gmﬁiz‘ﬁél‘fé' for didsiplitic! Because of that policy; it ib difficult for women'to jdentify
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instances where they were paid less than male employees performing the same
job.

5. 1 also obsorved that women suffered discrimination at Sterling because of the
manner by which promotions were made. Job openings and promotional
opportinities were not pbsted via a formal job posting system. Fromotion
decisions were instead made b}; Steriing’s District Managers via a subjective “tap
on the shoulder” system, in which only those employees that Sterling was already
interested in promoting were notified of specific openings.

6. I was interested in promotions into management from the beginning of my
employment with Sterling, [ expressed this interest during my initial interview

with Disnict Managér Al Kramer and Store Manager Lisa Hodge.

I dectare, under penalty of pﬂrjury‘ that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

ﬁ day ofjﬂﬁﬂ% 009

[

Laila Blarek
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Declaration of Christine Blum

My name is Christine Blumn. Iam a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Rockton, {llinois. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If calied to
testify, T would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
I began my employment with Sterling Jewelers Inc. (*“Sterling”) in approximately
Aungust 2001, as an Assistant General Manager at the J ared storc in Madison,
Wisconsin. | continued in that position until May 2007, when [ left empioyment
with Sterling.
Before [ began employment with Sterling, I worked for Rogers and Holland’s
Jewelers approximately seven years, including (wo years as Store Manager,

While [ was employed by Sterling, my General Manager, Tracy Kratz, told me
that employees were not supposed to talk about their pay with each other. This
policy made it difficult for women to identify instances where they were paid less
than male employees performing the same job,
During my employment with Sterling, I observed that job openings and promotion
opportunities weren’t posted at the store, or anywhere ¢lse employees could sce
them. Instead, an employee who was selected for a promotion was then notified
by the General Manager or District Manager of the particular opportunity. Other
employees found out about openings and opportonities for advancement through
word of mouth, such as when an employee was leaving a store or after Sterling

promoted someone clse.
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During my employment with Sterling I observed that decisions onl promotions

were made at least at the level of District Manager. In conversation with General
Manager Tracy Kratz, she told me she did not promote an employee unless the
District Manager told her the employee could be promoted.

| was interested in promiotion to General Manager. [ had two years experience as
Store Manager for Rogers and Holland’s Jewelers before I began working for
Sterling. I expressed interest in promotion to General Manager Tracy Kratz. |

also expressed interest in promo.tion to General Manager to all my District
Managers: Alan Rule, Dave Jacobson, and Bruce Weimer.

In approximately February 2006, the General Manager, Tracy Kratz, broke her

ankle and was out for about six months. During that period 1 successfully

managed the store as acting General Manager without an Assistant General

Manager to assist me, I expressed interest to District Manager Bruce Weimer in
becoming the General Manager should Kratz be unable to return to duty, He

replied that I was already doing the job, and did not see why I could not continue
doing it, Weimer did not tell me anything that I needed to do in order to get this
promotion. ' '
In approximately August 2006, District Manager Bruce Weimer called and told
me that the “powers that be” decided that I was not getting the promotion to
General Manager. T understood Weimer to mean Sterting’s Regional Vice
President or above made the decision. I told Weimer that [ was disappointed in
being passed over for promotion and he said they were bringing in a manager

from Florida to get the store headed in the right direction.
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DECLARATION OF REKEITA BOYD

1. My name is Rekeita Boyd. Iam a female, over the age of 21, who resides 'm‘__ _
Pitisburgh, Pennsytvanin. Imake this declaration on personal kmowledge. If
called to testify, I would provide the samje testimony as stated I_1ercin.

2. 1began working for Sterling Jowelers Inc, (“Sterfing”) in April 2003, as 2 Sales
Associate af the Kay store in the Chesapeake Square Mall, in Chesapeake,
Virginia. Ieontinued in that position for a couple of months, when I was became
an Office Manager at that same store, 1 worked as an Office Manager for
appro¥imately a couple of months, when I became a Sales Associate af the Kay
store in the MacAtthur Center, in Norfall, Virginia, in the fall 0 2003, T
continued in that position until approximately Jaly 2005, when I was promoted to
Assistant Manager at the TB Robirison'stire in the Patrick Henry Mall, in Newport |
Néws; Virginia, T continued in that position yntil September 2005, when 1 left the
company.

3. While employed at Sterling, I was aware that Sterling had a policy prohibiting its
employees from discussing their pay, For example, I was told by Store Manager
Kim D\;:cns al‘nd Assistant Manager Phil Knight in 2003, that employees are not to
discuss their pay with other employees, and that it was grounds for discipline.
Because of that policy, if is difficult for women to identify instances where thef,'
were paid less thaﬁ mele em_;iioyees performing the same job.

4. When I became Assistant Manager in July 2005, niy salary was $26,000 a year,

Around this time, my old Assistant Manager Plil Knhight asked me how much I
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was paid. T told him I was paid $26,000. Knight replied, “That’s 11?7 From this
1 inferred that he made more than me,

. T observed that women suffered discrimination at Sterﬁng hecause of the manner
by which promotions were made. Job openings and p;omotionéi opportanifies
were not posted via a formal job posting system, Promotion decisions wete
instead made by Sterling’s District Managers via o subjective “tap on the
shoulder” systery, in which only those employess that Sterling was already
interested in promoting were notified of specific menggement openings,

. I was interested in promotions into management from the begioning of my
employment with Stérling. I exprossed this interest during my initial inferview
with Store Manager Adetine (LINU). However, Adeline did not tell me what I
needed to do o learn in order to be promoted.

.1 trans'fen'ed to the Kay store in the MacAxthur Center, in Norfolk, Virginia, in the
fall 0of 2003, I expressed my interest in being promoted into management to Store
Managet Kim Owens and Assistant Manager Phil Knight at that time, I was
interested in becoming an Assistant Manager, but our store already had one. Tt
was difficult to leatn of openings for Assistant Manager at other stores because
they were not posted. I continued to express interest in becoming an Assistant
Meanager to Owens and Knight during my employmient at "[hat store,

. Around July 2005, a new District Manager, Bob Griffin, was assigned fo our
district. Itold Griffin that I wanted to transfer to another district because IfeltI-
wasn’t growing professiona.ily in my current posifion, Griffin told mie of an open

Assistant Manager position at the JB Robinson store in the Patrick Henry Mall,
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¢, Thecame the Assistapt Mat'l’ager at that JB Robinson étore in July 2005, Within
wecks, Criffin fired fhe Store Manager, and I became the acting Store Manager
without an Assistant Manager of my own. However, T was not given proper
support while m this pésition. For example, Griffin refused fo Ist the Third Key
open ot close the store. He also caused division between me and my staff, by
discussing store business and my performance wiﬂl the former _Assistant Manager
who still worked at the store as a Sales Associate, Becauss'of these difficulties, T

left employment with the company in September 2005,

I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and cotrsct. Signed this
o
AU ™ aay ot Novamber . aoos,

%@

Rekeits Boyd
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Declaration of Linda Boyington
My name is Linda Boyington. [ am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Vero Beach, Florida. 1 make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to
testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
I began my employment with Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) in approxintately
2000, when Sterling acquired the Marks & Morgan store in the Indian River Mall
in Vero Beach, Florida, in which I worked as Store Manager. This store then
became a Kay store, and [ remained as Store Manager. [ worked as Store
Manager until approximately 2001, when I feft the company.
1 next worked for Stexling in approximately 2005, when I was hired as the Store
Manager of the Kay store in the Indian River Mall, in Vero Beach, Florida. 1
remained in that position until 2006, when I left the company.
Wh'ile'l'rwéézemployed by Sterling, T observed that Sterling had a policy
prohibiting employees ﬁ'oin discussing their pay with each other, and violation of
the policy would result in termination. When the Marks & Morgan store at which
I worked was acquired by Sterling, there was an orientation at the store and off
site about Sterling’s way of doing business. [ was told by various Sterling
managers, including my District Manager, that there was zero tolerance for
employees discussing their pay among each other, My District Managers told me
that as Store Manager, 1 had to instruct and enforce this policy with the employees
I managéd. Accordingly, I told employees in iny store that they could not discuss

théir pay with each other, and that they could:bé terminated for doing so.
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womanizer who pursued us sexually, When he visited my store, he made
comments to me about how attractive particular female employees were, and
commented on their clothing. For example, he commented on a female Sales
Associate’s skirt, and how short it was. He liked the younger female employees,

and [ observed him flirt with them in the store,

I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

LA day of , 2013,

a{d\&\Béyington $; (J
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DECLARATION OF LATOYA BROWN
My name is Latoya Brown, formerly Latoya Brown-Wells. Tam a female, over
the age of 21, who resides in Bessemer, Alabama, 1 make this declaration on
personal knowledge. If called to testify, I would provide the same testimony as
stated herein.
I worked af Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”, “the Company™) between October
1999 and 2008. Istarted as a Sales Associate at Marks and Morgan store #1887
in Brookwood Village Mall located it Birmingham, Alabama. After a few
months, [ was promoted to Third Key holder, Around 2000, [ transferred to the
Marks and Morgan store #625 in Central Plaza, also in Birmingham, [ started as
Third Key holder, and was promoted to Assistant Manager around 2002, 1
remained in this position unii] Jate summer 2003, when I steppad back down to &
Sales Associate position for personal reasons. In September 20085, I resumed the
Assistant Manager position, and in August 2006, I was promoted to Store
Manager of store #625. I remained in this position until April 2007, At that time,
[ transferred back to Kay store #1887 in Birmingham, and worked as a Sales
Associate until late July 2007, In October 2007, I returned to store 1887 after
maternity leave, and I worked as a Sales Associate until 2008,
Prior to coming to work for Sterling, I had three years of experience in
managemment and jewelry sales at Lorch Diamond Center, which later became
West Jewelers.
During my thme at Sterling, I was aware of a policy against discussing pay. 1 was

told of this policy by my District Manager, Barbara Estes around the time I was
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hired. Later, as Store Manager, [ instiucted the employees in my store to follow
this policy. 1believe that the policy made it difficult for female employees to
identify instances where they were paid less than their male counterparts. Based
on my experience at Sterling, however, 1 believe that women were paid less than
similarly qualified male employees in the same positions,

For example, around 2003, Store Manager Jeannine Frechette of store #625 told
me that she was paid less than hier husband, Store Manager Julius Winans of store
#1887. Both of these stores were in the Birmingham area and were located within
about 6 miles of one another. Ms. Frechette said she was paid [ess than hitr even
though she had more experience at the company and had been a Store Manager
longer than he had. In addition, Ms, Frechette had a stionger sales record £haﬁ her
husband.

I also believe that during my time as Store Manager in 2006-2007, 1 was paid less
than male Store Manager Wade Pearson of Kay store #2636 in Trussville
Alabama, even though Mr. Pearson did not have any additional experience and his
store was fess profitable than the store I managed, and his store was within about
12 miles of my store in Birmingham,

During my time at Sterling, I was not aware of any formal process for expressing
interest in promotion to management, On both oecasions, when I was promoted
to Assistant Manager and when [ was promoted to Store Manager, my District
Manager Barbara Estes approached me and extended the offer on behalf of
Sterling. As Store Manager, [ was aware of Sterling’s general procedure for

rectuiting new employees, which did not include posting openings in the store. It
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I declare, under penaity of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

2 GMM

Erica Caldwell

dayof\:);.dﬂez ’?’ , 2008.
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Year Award. I was the runner up for the company-wide Manager of the Year
Award in 2006 or 2007. I won an award in 2002 or 2003 as Store Manager at the
J1.B. Robinson store for bringing the store’s sales up to the next highest level. In
approximately 2005, I won an award for bringing the Kay store that I managed up
to $4 million annually; and then again in 2006 for bringing sales up to $4.5
million.

While 1 was employed by Sterling, I was aware that Sterling had a policy
prohtbiting employees from discussing their pay with each other. When [ first
began working for Sterling in approximately 1994, Store Manager John Colon
told me that I should not discuss my pay with other employees. As Store
Manager, I was responsible for implementing this policy.

During my time at Sterling, it was Sterling’s policy not to post job openings and
promotion opportunities at the store or anywhere that employees could see such
postings. Instead, employees were selected for promotion through a “tap on the
shoulder” system in which an employee selected for promotion was notified of
that opportunity by a Sterling manager. Other employees found out about job
openings through word of mouth, such as when an employee was leaving a store,
or after Sterling promoted another employee.

For example, when my store was going to need a new Assistant Manager, I told
my District Manager, and we would discuss which Sales Associate should be
promoted, all before the opening was announced. That employee would then be

notified of the promotion. During my employment with Sterling, 1 observed that
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23.

24.

25.

1 believe that Sterling retaliated against me for complaining about sex
discrimination. I sued Sterling for sex discrimination in 1998 after I was passed
0\;er for promotion to Store Manager. As described, I eventually began working
for Sterling again in 2002 when Sterling bought the jewelry store chain at which [
worked. In 2009, I chose to work for Eloquence by Mark Whittaker (MWTI), a
commpany that put on jewelry shows for Sterling. I resigned from Sterling in May
or June 2009, planning to work for MWI putting on jewelry shows for the
company.

In August or September 2009, Linda Gigoli from MWI called me and told me that
Sterling told her that I would not be allowed in Sterling stores to put on jewelry
shows for MWL, Gigoli asked me why Sterling would do that, and I had no idea,
until I thought about my lawsuit for sex discrimination. I called Perry Bignotti
and asked why Sterling would do this, and he said he didn’t know, but that he
would check with Vice President Joe Beck. 1 talked with Bignotti later, and he
said that Beck did not seem to know why she had been blacklisted by Sterling. I
knew of other former Sterling employces who went on to work for MWI and
whom Sterling allowed in their stores. I cannot think of any reason, other than
retaliation for complaining about sex discrimination, for Sterling adversely
affecting my employment with MWI by refusing me entry into Sterling stores.
This retaliation for complaining aboul sexual discrimination at Sterling continues
to this day. In January 2012, T learned of an opening for Store Manager at the

@
Jared store in E—J?ﬁ@hfﬁgm%‘l\lonh Carolina. I talked with Gary Fesperman,

who I knew from working at Marks and Morgan before it was acquired by
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Sterling. Fesperman is currently the Store Manager at the Jared store in Charlotte,
North Carolina. He told me that he spoke with his District Manager about the
possibility of me becoming the Store Manager of the Jared store in
Fredericksburg, and that his District Manager was excited about the possibility of
hiring me, and we sct up an interview. Before the interview could oceur, 1 learned
that it was abruptly cancelled. I cannot think of any reason, other than retaliation
for complaining about sex discrimination, that Sterling refused to consider me for

employment again,

I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct,

Signed this 3@ day of O(‘zﬁﬁr’ﬂ ., 2012,

Do .0/
Deci Call J
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DECLARATION OF BETTY CAMBRA
1. My name is Betty Cambra. [ am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Antioch, California. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to testify, I
would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
2. I began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling” or “Company™) in 1993 as a
Sales Associate at Kay Jewelers, Store # 569, in Antioch, California. | left Sterling to
work for Zales as a sales associate for a period of time, but returned to Sterling in 1996 as
a Sales Associate in the same store I previously worked at, Store # 569. I was paid $8.50
per hour when I was rehired by Sterling in 1996 and remained at this rate for years,
despite excellent performance and regularly meeting or exceeding my standards, until I
asked for a raise, at which time Sterling increased my hourly rate to $9.00 per hour. 1
became an Assistant Manager around 2000 and remained in that position for
approximately two years, until I chose to step down from Assistant Manager to Sales
Associate. | decided to step down from Assistant Manager to Sales Associate because
Sterling refused to increase my pay for occupying the position of Assistant Manager
which required I work longer hours and take on a heavier workload and more
responsibility. In addition, although I was qualified, eligible and interested in becoming
Store Manager, after two years as Assistant Manager, it appeared T was not going to be
promoted to Store Manager. Since Sterling was going to pay me $9.00 per hour
regardless of whether | worked as a Sales Associate or an Assistant Manager, which
required much more time and effort on my part, and since it appeared my prospects for
being promoted to Store Manager were small, T saw no benefit for ine to remain in the

Assistant Manager position. I remained in the position of Sales Associate at Store # 569
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until I left Sterling in approximately 2007, at which time I was making approximately
$11.00 per hour.

3. During my employment at Sterling, I was aware that Sterling had a policy
prohibiting its employees from discussing their rate of pay with other employees. T was
informed of this policy on both occasions on which I was hired by Sterling (in both 1993
and 1996) by my District Manager, Paul Chur, who told me that if [ discussed my hourly
pay with anyone, [ would be fired. When I asked Mr. Chur the reason for this policy, he
replied that some people were not getting paid the same amount and they would feel
discriminated against.

4. Because of this policy, it was generally difficult for women to identify instances
where they were paid less than male employees performing the same job. However,
based on information 1 obtained while working at Sterling, I do believe that women were
paid less than male employees performing the same or similar jobs at Sterling. For
example, a male employee named Kenny [LNU] with no jewelry experience who was
hired in from the outside to work for Sterling at Store #569 as the store’s Assistant
Manager disclosed to me that Sterling hired him in at and was paying him an hourly rate
that was significantly greater than the hourly rate Sterling was paying me. This was very
disconcerting because I was much more qualified than Kenny [LNU]. Thad years of
jewelry experience, whereas he had none. I was usually rated the highest in my store for
meeting my standards, was even often rated the highest in the Company, and was in the
President’s club several times, Thus, 1 had years of proven performance and experience

working at Sterling, whereas Kenny [LNU] had none. Yet, Sterling was paying this less
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qualified male, who had never worked for Sterling or in the jewelry mdustry before, more
money per hour than me.

5. During my employment at Sterling, I also observed that women suffered
discrimination because of the manner in which promotions were made. Job openings and
promotional opportunities were not posted via any formal job posting system. Qualified
and interested employees had no way to formally apply for promotional opportunities.
Rather, Sterling utilized a “tap-on-the-shoulder” method of promoting. Because of the
manner in which promotions were made at Sterling, employees would not necessarily
know if a management position was opening and there was never an opporttunity to apply
for the position. In fact, during my employment at Sterling, | was aware of no system or
process in place at Sterling for an employee to register his or her interest in being
promoted.

6. During my employment with Sterling, ! observed that males were routinely
promoted over equally or more qualified females, promoted faster than females, and were
hired from outside the Company into management positions in my store, having less
qualifications than female employees in the store who were currently employed by
Sterling. For example, Sterling hired Kenny [ILNU], a male with no prior jewelry
experience or experience working at Sterling, as Assistant Manager of my store instead of
promoting a more qualified female, such as myself, and paying her an amount equal to
that which it was willing to pay a less-qualified male. In addition, Sterling hired a male
from outside the Company, named Ali Alamdar, to occupy the position of Store Manager
at my store after it had asked me to act as Store Manager while it conducted its search to

fill the position, and I had been successfully deing so for months without any increase in
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pay. Yet, although [ had a proven ability to occupy the position of Store Manager and
was clearly qualified to do so, Sterling gave the position to a less qualified male from
outside the Company instead of me, and then asked me to help train him.

7. On May 25, 2006, 1 was interviewed by a Sterling executive or attomey
representing Sterling, I am unsure which position the woman who interviewed me held.
My Store Manager at the time, Cindy Gonzalez, told me that the woman was there to
interview us. [ did not ask to be interviewed and felt compelled to participate. The
interviews took place in the back room of the store during work hours. I remember
{eeling uncomfortable being interviewed, and was concerned that if | said the wrong
thing, I could be fired. At the conclusion of the interview, which lasted approximately
20-30 minutes, I believe the woman from or representing Sterling handed me a document
to sign. 1 do not remember her asking me to read the document. [ felt very rushed
because there were people waiting behind me to be interviewed, and did not fully or
carefully read the document she handed me before signing it. T do not remember ever
receiving from the interviewer a copy of the document I signed.

8. There are several areas of the May 2006 declaration that were not accurate, are
missing relevant information, or are no longer accurate. Paragraphs 1, 18, and 19 are not
accurate because | felt pressured to sign the declaration that was handed to me. [ felt iike
if 1 did not participate in the interview and sign the document handed to me, that I would
be seen as a “troublemaker,” and Sterling got rid of troublemakers. I also felt very rushed
and did not have an opportunity to carefully and fully review the declaration.

9. The sentence in Paragraph 7 which states “I believe that my pay rate, raises, and

incentives are set without regard to gender” is also not accurate, and is certainly not my
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current understanding of what was happening while 1 was employed by Sterling. I

believe, based on the information I have provided above as well as other information and .

things I experienced, that Sterling discriminated against women in pay because it would
hire males and pay them more money than equally or more qualified females already
working for Sterling. Sterling was a Man’s Company. Men always seemed to be paid
more and promoted more quickly, and men always held most all of the highest positions
in the Company.

10, In addition, paragraph 8 which states that I was not interested in being promoted
to management and that I have never been denied a promotion because of my gender, is
not accurate and is missing important information. It was not that | was not interested in
being promoted to management. [ was. 1 just was not interested in being promoted to a
manager position, which required much more responsibility and much longer hours,
without any additional compensation, which is why 1 stepped down from the Assistant
Manager position I had worked in for two years. [ was interested in being promoted to
management; Sterling was just not interested in paying me anything more than [ was
making as a Sales Associate for occupying a manager position. Yet, it readily paid more
money to less qualified males it hired in from outside the Company to occupy the very
positions I had occupied (1 had worked as Assistant Manager and acted as Store Manager
while Sterling searched for a less qualified male to hire for the position). T do believe I
was denied a promotion because of my gender, particularly when [ was performing the
duties of Store Manager, which Sterling asked me to do,.but then hired a male to occupy
the position I was already performing the duties for. I was frankly disgusted with the

Company with the way it discriminated against women.
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11.  Paragraph 9 of the 2006 declaration is also inaccurate and is missing information
with regard to the sentence which states I have never reported a complaint of
discrimination or harassment to management. [ complained to managers Alan Kaplan,
Ali Alamdar, Sylvia Suarez, and others that men with less cxperience br qualifications
wetre getting paid more than I was.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing Declaration is true and

-

carrect, Signed this Sﬁ day of ggg FJ/YL , 2012,

Betty Canibka
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'DECIZARA'T'ION OF GIOVANNA CANONICO
l'n E ’i! A EARE P A IR
M}r pame is Giovanna Canonico. T am a female, over the age of 21, who resides

HREIG Gog 7 U RO e T L e TN M £ AT

in Hendelson Nevada 1 make thls deciai ation on pereonal knowledge. If caﬂed

""" » HIY aHe i IR A

o testi*"'y, I would provide the same testimony as stated hexein.

I began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) in approximately

I‘ibvmnbar 1998, as a Sales Associate at the Kay store in the Galleria Mall, in

Henderson, Nevada. I oontinued in that position for approximately three years,

when ! was promoted to Assistant Manager at that same store. In approximately
2004, 1 became a saiéé Associate at that sﬁne store. 1 continned in that position
for apliroxim;t‘ely'aliﬁéétr; ‘Wien I was promoted to Assistant Manaﬁe} ‘some nme

in 2b05 I coné?nﬁed” in thiat position il a;;proximata%y 2006, when 1 was™ el

I IE W L O

detnoted to Sﬁfes Assobidte at that same store, I contmued in that pomzon untils
so;ne t:mé m the s:ur;m:e; L)f 2007 when Tleft the cbmpany Lk .g;

I next’ivorke‘d: i’bf Stér.lihé‘begimﬂng in November 2(]07, asa Saieé:'z\ééﬁt.:‘ilaté at
the K:iiy store in the Galletia Mall in Henderson, Nevada. 1 continitéﬁ’ih that -
position until ﬁie end of J-anualy 2002, when Steﬁ'ing tetminated nii(%ﬁiﬁlﬂjiﬁéﬁt.
Duriné my en;plo}zﬁﬁut at Stexiing, T was a membe;:' of the Prcsident;s. Club ESV:GII'}'
year, and went ot abuut ten trips as patt of this award. [ also won two Laa _
Diamond contés‘s m 2907 and 2008, based on the amount of Leo Dlamonds I
sofd ina tbur to mx mamh period.

Durmg oy employment at Sterting, I observed that Sterling had 2 pohcy

prohlbftmg 1ts'employees- from discussing their'pay. ‘For exampie,hbwas- told by

. - R Pagelof 3
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their pay. My Stoie Manager Ms. Bond informed me about this policy and T currently
enforce this policy among empioyees of the Kay store as Assistant Manager.
1 declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct,
: —
Sigued this(a‘gf day of March, 2009,

Darlene Cetlanek

Page 6 of
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continued to act in an inapproptiate manner towards me and other female

employees of Sterling.

T declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct,

Signed this _/ 4 dagof /[ 2H o

SJ /’/#H (/

Shcm Chegini
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DECLARATION OF KELLY CHIAVAROLI

. My name is Kelly Chiavaroli. I am a female, aver the age of 21, who resides in
Tarpon Springs, Florida. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If

. caIEd to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.

. I'began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) in approximately October

2003, as seasonal office and sales help at the Jared store in Citrus Park, Florida, T

continued in that pesition until approximately February 2004, when 1 was

promoted to Office Manager. I worked as Office Manager until approximately

March 2005, when I became a Sales Asscciate. [ continued in that position untit

approximately June 2006, when I left the company.

. While employed by Sterling, I observed that Sterling had a policy prohibiting its

employees from discussing their pay with each other. 1 believe Store Manager

Lucia Scott told me that [ should not tatk about my pay with other employees.

.. I believe that Sterling discriminates against its female ernployees in pay. Because

of Sterling’s policy, however, it is difficult for female employees at Sterling to

identify instances in which they were paid. less than male employees performing

the same job.

. Sometime in 2003 or 2006, Sterling’s attorneys came to our store and had

employees sign 2 paper regarding their p;'a.y. I felt pressure to sign the paper,

which I did sigr. At the time, I did not know that some employees refused to sign

the paper. Had I known this, I would have felt more comfortable and would have

refused to sign it as well,

Page 1 of 2
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SUPPLEMENTAL DECLARATION OF KELLEY CHIAVARGL!
My name is Kelley Chiavaroli. Iam a female, over the age of 21, who resides in Tarpon
Springs, Florida. [ make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to testify, |
wouid provide the same testimony as stated herein,
I previously executed a declaration in this métter on August 13, 2008 attesting to
discrimination I experienced because of my sex (female) while employed by Sterling
Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling™).
In Paragraph 5 of the declaration I signed on August 13, 2008, I mentioned that in 2005
or 2006, attorneys representing Sterling came to my Store {the Jared in Citrus Park,
Florida, Store 443) and had employees sign a paper regarding their pay. T explained that |
felt pressured to sign the statement. Almost seven years later I received a letter from
Sterling with this statement enclosed. The statement was titled “Declaration of Kelley
Chiavaroli” and was dated November 9, 2005, In the letter, Sterling discussed the Jock,
et al. v. Sterling Jewelers Inc. case, reminded me that 1 had “signed a declaration under
oath,” and notified me that it had “attach{ed] a copy of [my] declaration for [my]
convenience.” Attached hereto as Exhibit 1 is a copy of the letter from Sterling. Sterling
then alerted me that attorneys for the women who filed the arbitration complaint might
contact me to discuss my declaration, and advised me that I was not required to speak to
counsel for either Sterling or the arbitration claimants and that T could end discussions at
any time. Sterling aiso advised me to confact a “Christina Janice af (303) 665-6168” if I
had any “concern[s] aboul how [I was] being treated by either [Sterling] or attorneys
representing individuals suing [Sterlﬁ;g] in relation to this matter.” Sterling did not

inform me that Ms. Janice is an attorney or that she had represented Sterling in this case,

Page 1 of 2
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[ found the fanguage in Sterling’s letter telling e that I had signed the attached
declaration under oath intimidating. T did not remember the document Sterling attached
as my declaration, and did not agree with all the statements made therein. Paragraph 12
states that “T was provided with a fulf opportunity to carefully revicw this affidavit and
freely make any corrections and additions of any kind.” However, this was 110t true.
During the meeting with the two attorneys who prepared this declaration, I informed
them that Paragraph 5 was incotrect. Paragraph 5 states: “T believe that T am fairly paid
and that my pay rate, raises, and incentive are set without regard fo gender. T have never
complained to any member of l ared management about my pay or incentive, nor have 1
heard of any other employee doing s0.” I pointed out that T had complained about my
pay and that T was denied a metit increase. However, no corrections were made to
Paragraph S.

[ also thought I was required to sign the November 9, 2005 declaration. It was not my

undersianding at the time that T could refuse to sign it

. <,/:t\.,
I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this i

dayof  Marci. 2013,

Z)/cééw 4 Chavesdd.

Kelley hiavaroli

Page 2 of 2
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June 5, 2012

Ms, Kelley Chiavaroli
551 MANISHA PL
TARPON SPRINGS, FL 34688

Dear Ms. Chiavaroli:

As you may remember, some cursent and former retail sales emuployees of Sterling Jewelers Inc, have asserted thal the
company diseriminated against female employees in promotion decisions and compensation. The women whao initiated
this claim purport to act for themseives and ceriain other female retail sales cinployces of Storling. The case, which is -
heing arbitrated, 1s called Jock, ef of. v. Sterling Jewelers Inc. The wonen who filed this complaint seek money and other
forms of relief. Sterling believes that it has at all tmes abided by federal and state taw and that the allegations by the
individuals are unfounded. At the samie Hine, the compauy takes these matters very seriously and has investigated the
facls and is evaluating the claims,

As parl of the investigalion and evaluation process, company representatives contacted you in the Fall of 2005 or Spring
of 2006 10 ask you questions about your experiences al Sterling and to pain kinowledge about these issues that you
possess. Following thase discussions, you signed a declaration under oath, You showld have received a copy of this
declaralion after you signed ii, but in case you did not or have misplaced it, we ave atlaching a copy of your declaration for
YOUI CONVENIENCE,

Recently, counsel for the women who filed the arbitration complaint formally requested that Sterding provide theni with
your contact information, Sterling is required o provide this information (o those attorneys. As a resuli, those attorneys
may contact you to discuss your declaration, As was cxplained o you before you spoke to Sterling’s counsel, you arc not
required to speak to counsel for either Sterfing or the arbitration clabmants, and you bave the right to hire a lawyer to
represent you during any discussions with either side, if you choose. Even if you decide to speak with attorneys for either
side, you may choose to end your diseussions al any lime, Regardless of whether you choose to speak with the adorneys
who are litigating against the company or nol, Steriing has a policy prohibiting retaliation against any employee simply
because that employee chooses 1o participate in a lawsuit or investigation concerning alleged vielationis of federal or state
law.

I{ al any time you become concerned sbout how you are being treated by either the company or allorpeys representing the
individuals suing the company int relation to this matter, please do not hesitate lo contact Christina Janice at (330) 665-
6168, o that we can allempt to addyegs your concems, We appreciate your time and attention to this matter,

Very truly yows,
Wianged 5. Lapndd

Michael 12, Lynch
VP Employee Relations

Encl. Declaration

375 GHENT ROAD  AKRON, OH 443334600
(330) 668-5000
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EXHIBIT A

BECLARATION GF KELLEY CHIAVAROLE

I, Kellay Chinvaroli, having a business address of 8104 Citrus Park Drive, Tampa,
Flarida, do hereby swear, affinn and attest as follows:

i. I amn aver |8 years of age and compelent o tesiify {o the matlers slated 1 this
affidavit. 1 make this aflidavit based upon my personal knowledge. This aflidavil is given
votuplarily. [ have not been promised any bepelit, coerced or threafened in any manner in
cxchange for the testimany in this affidavit, '

2. 1 am currently employed at Jared Store No. 443 in Tampa, Florida. T have been
an employee of Jared’s sinee October 2003 and hove worked in Store Neo, 143 for that entire
period of lime, I began as a seasonal worker and swas promoted le the position of Office
Manager in February 2004. As an Oftice Manager, | was paid at a rate of $10.50 per hour, 1
worked in that position unlil Masch 2605, when T beeame a sales representalive, My starling rate
of pay as a sales representative was $10.50 {plus commissions), My cument supervisor is Avind
Mahip.

3 As a sales represenlative, 1 am currently paid uf n rate of $10.50 per hour, I am

considered an hourly, non-exempt employee.

4, Prior o working at fared, | sofd crall items af crafl shows for approximately two

years. Otherwise, | had no soles, management or cusiomer service experience prior to joining
Jared and had never worked in the jewelry business a sales cinployee.

5. ! bedieve that 1 am fairly paid and that my pay mte, raises, and incenlive are set
without regard to gender. | have never complained {0 any member of Jared managemen{ about

my pay or incentive, nor have [ heard of any cther cinployee doing so.

CONFIDENTIAT
5J1 00011542

SJI 00011542
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EXHIBIT A

6. { have received rcéular performance reviews since beginning my cmploy Jared. 1
Lefieve that the reviews that 1 have received faivly and scourately assess my performance.

7. When | was hired by Jured, | received an employee handbook and comialetcd the
Associate j‘railning System (“ATS™. ATS inclvded training on Jared's payroil practices and
described how incentive pay is computed,

3. When 1 was hired, Jnred also provided me with lraining on ils payrol! systein and
the propcr method for reporting my working time. 1 understand that the Company policy
prohibils employees from working “off the clock.”

9. While employed with Jured, [ have understoud that I am required to clock-out if 1
take a meal break of 30 wminutes or langer, and clock back in afler T complete my meal break, |
have also understood thai § am not required to cloek-out for breaks of less than 30 mintes and
that I will be paid for these breaks.

10.  Based on my experience working for Jared, { believe that the Company makes
promotion decisions fairly, considering factors such as an employee’s past performance, [also
heiieve that promotion decisions are made by Jared withow! regard o gender.

il lunderstand that ] am not required to provide the testimony in this declaration. }
further understand that it would be a violation ol Jared™s policy for anyone to relalisic against
me for providing or refusing to provide the testimony in this affidavit. T bave agreed to notify
the Company immediately if'1 ever believe | am being subject (o uny retaliation in violation of its
policies,

12, 1have provided this deelaration voluntarity without any promise of benefit or

threat of any kind. Prior do signing this affidavit, 1 was provided with a fuil opperiunity 1o

CONFIDENTIATL
8JI 00011543
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EXHIBIT A

carcfully review this aflidavi{ and freely make any corrections and additions of any kind, |
verify that the infonnation [ have provided in this affidavit is true and correct,
PURSUANT TO 28 US.C. § 1746, | DECLARE UNDER PENALTY OF FERJURY

UNBER THE LAWS OF THE URITED STATES OF AMERICA THAT THE
FOREGOING IS TRUE AND CORRECT,

Excented on November i , 2005 ! ?;f “Q(f g _,_a/q j'gzgud&,{d“
p

rint Name)

mﬁ?jf d Mv&i‘

Fimnwide.B0ARG144.3 045224.1006

CONFIDENTIAL
83T 00011544

5Ji00011544
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in the promotion of female Store Managers seemed obvious ~ it was because of
their gender.

10. Sterling supposedly had a policy of “promoting from within.” Notwithstanding
this policy, I can recall several instances where males were brought in from
outside t‘he Company and placed in Store Managet positions passing over highly
qualified women who worked at Sterling and would have been interested in the
positions.

11. I do not remember a single time during my many years at Sterling where a female
was brought in from outside the Company and placed in a job which would have

resulted in a promotion denial for an incumbent Sterling male employee.

I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct, Signed this

fglt—

Anthony Chbidty

T day of J?éu.(/ , 2012,

Page 4 of 4
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20,

21

fater the;e were additional things to do, such as aitend District Manager training
me:eﬁngs at the corporate headquarters it Akton, Ohio. Polizos did not tell me
about. these meetings.

I began the District Manager training program in fate 2004 or carly 2005 under
Polizos. This program involved helping out the district manager with his duiies
and handling them in his absence, such as handling manager and employes issues,
conducting fraining meetings in the disirict, handling customer complaints, and
assisting in running f;md staffing other stores in the disirict, as well as managing
my own sfore. There were supposed to be some criteria for the District Manager
tratning program, but they were not provi&ed to me.

Polizos did not do some of the things he needed 1o do in dndér for me to advance

through the District Magager training program. For examiple, there was'a

‘management-training booklet that I was to complete; upon completion, the

District Manager was to verify its completion and sign off on the bocklet. I
coﬁpi.eted the booklet in approximately Apﬁl 2005, but Polizes did not sign it.
He did pot visit my store very often because he said thore were other stores that
needed his heip. When I calied Polizos and reminded him he needed to sign off
on my training booklet, he put me off by saying, “We’ll get to it.” He nefer
signed off on my training boclklet,

1 sp;oke with other Sterling officials to express my interest in becoming a District
Manager and in an effort to find out what I needed to do in order to be promoted.

1 spoke with Greg Waidmann, who was a Sterling Vice Presidemt. This s when 1
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described examples of other gender discrimination I experienced in my previous

declaration.

I declare, under penaity of petjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

c;lo{ day of [/W()u/{ L2012,

* MWCQ(?
N

Page 3 of 3
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DECLARATION OF SADIE CISNEROS-McMILLAN
1. My name is Sadie Cisneros-McMillan. I am a female, over the age of 21, who
resides in Lake Jackson, Texas. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called
to testify, | would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
2. In approximately June 2003, T began working for Sterling Jewelers, Inc.
(“Sterling” or “Company™) as a full-time Sales Associate at Kay Jewelers, Store # 1781,
at the Bay Brook Mall in Friends Wood, Texas where I did my training. After my
approximately two-week training, | and the entire Kay’s staff at the Bay Brook Mall store
were transterred to a new Kay Jewelers, Store #1674, in Lake Jackson, Texas and I was
promoted to Third Key. Iremained in this position and at this store for the duration of
my employment with Sterling which ended when I resigned in September, 2006.
3. I had extensive experience in the jewelry industry and an impressive track record
prior to my employment with Sterling. I had worked in the jewelry industry in sales
and/or management for approximately 20 years at large jewelry retailers comparable to
Sterling where I was a top sales performer, had received numerous sales performance
awards and recognitions, and had substantial experience working as a store manager. My
performance record continued at Sterling where, every year, I ranked as one of Sterling’s
top 20 to 25 sales associates nationwide and was also a President’s Club winner.
4, During my employment at Sterling, I was aware that Sterling had a policy
prohibiting its employees {rom discussing their rate of pay with other employees.
Because of that policy, it was generally difficult for women to identify instances where

they were paid less than male employees performing the same job. However, based on
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brought and the fact that no action had been taken, and of the continning hostile work
environment, she told me “this is over — we are moving forward.” When I tried o advise
her about what was happening, she scolded, “we are done with this.” I resigned from
Sterling in September 2006 because I could no fonger work in such a hostile work
environment, and it was clear that it was not going to change.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing Supplemental Declaration is

true and correct. Signed this f5 ’ Elay of U:“l ¢ 2012,

07 Yo L

~Sadie Cisneros-McMillan
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During my employment at Sterling, 1 cbhserved that women also suffered discrimination
because of the manner by which promotions were made. Job openings and promotional
opportunities are not posted via a formal job posting system, Promotion decisions are
insfead made by Sterling’s District Managers via a subjective “fap on the shoulder™
systent, in which Sterting notifies only tlmée employees it is already inferested in
pramoting about specific management openings. I 'was never informed about any online
systein for registering my interest in promotional or management opportunities. During
my eniployment with Sterling, T was never aware of any way {o register my interest-in
promotional opportunities, other than fo inform my Store Manager and/or District
Manager,

During my eittire period of employment with Sterling, I was interested in and expressed
my inferest in promotions, When Iwaé rehired in approximately 2004, I told the Disirict
Manager, Jang Burke, that I was fnterested in promotional opportanities, Ms, Burke
indicated that pron’toﬁoné to management would certainly be a possibility, and that there
may be séveml Opl)Dth_llﬁﬁeS for me. However, | was never informed of a single opening
or opportimity for promotion,

When I refurned to Sterling in 2008, T had gained approximately two years of jewelry
manageiment experience at another retail store in the mall, Upoen my rehire, T mentioned
fhis expeﬁeaace {o Store Manager Nancy Young and again expressed my interest in being
promoted to a nanagement position; however, I was never informed of any op‘exﬁ.ng or
what T would need ‘t(.) do i order to be promoted.

In fact, wﬁen I roturned to Sterling after having worked in management in a jewelry siore,

my rate of pay was exactly the same as it had boen prior to gaining the management
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10. During my employment at Sterting, I observed that job openings and promotional

opportunities were not posted via a formal jobs posting system.

I declare, under penalty of pezjury that the foregoing is frue and correct, Signed this

/2 dayof é,ﬁﬁ . 2009,

Qceie %5

Bérmice Claybon -
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DECLARATION OF J ENNIFER CLEMENS

1. My name is J ennifer Cleméﬁé, .'I am a female, over tirlle‘arge of 21, who resides in
York, Pennsylvania. I make lh!S deciar‘athn on pérsonal knowiedge.. If calied to
testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.

2. In approximately August, 1993, I began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc,
(“Sterling”} as a part-time Office Associate at Kay’s store number 1134 in York,
Pennsylvania. [ remained in that position at thét store until approximately
November, 1997, although I did obtain full-time status during that time, In
approximately November 1997, I stopped working for Sterling. 1returned fo the
same store in November, 1998 as a full-time Sales Associate. I remained in that
store until approximately 1999, when I was promoted to store nun;ber 1101 in
Hanover, Pennsylvania, as an Assistailt M%mager. In Iapproxime;tel_y 2000, I was
promoted to a higher volume Kaf’s; ét'()l;c numbel .l IO;f‘ i;l York, Pemlsylvmﬁa, as
an Assistant Manager. In approximatéiy 20011, iwas promoted to another higher
volume Kay’s, store number 1131 in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania. [ remained in that
store until approximately 2002, when I was promoted to Store Manager and
transferred to Belden’s, store number 352 in Hairisburg, Pennsylvauié. I
remained at that store for approximately six months and was promoted to a higher
volume Belden’s, store number 355 in Lancaster, Pennsylvania, Tu approximately
2004, I was promoted to a higher volume store, Kay’s store number 1101 in
Hanover, Pennsylvania. In approximately 2006, I was promoted to Kay’s store

number 1108 in Lancaster, Pennsylvania, where I remained until February, 2010,

Pagelof 6
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16. On another occasion, I recall an incident at one meeting where an inebriated male
District Manager was overtly kissing (inaking out with) a female Store Manager
ofl a bus in which several of us were riding. On other occasions, I recall seeing
male District Managers and female Store Managers going fo metel rooms
together. This type of overtly sexual activity was widespread and knowledge of it

was common in the mapagement ranks of the Company.

1 declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

"] day of__dh)[},‘ b 2012 7
riQ/W// Qﬁif//\

&
Znnifer\fi!Zmens
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DECLARATION OF ANGELA BROWN COLEMAN
My name is Angela Brown Coleman, 1am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Little Rock, Arkansas. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to
testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
In approximately December 1999 I was hired by Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling™) to
work for Kay Jewelers (“Kay”), store 287, located in Pines Mall in Pinesbiuff, Arkansas
as a Sales Associate, A few mounths later T was given the responsibility of Third Key and
then promoted to Assistant Manager shortly thereafter. In December 2001, store 287
closed and T was terminated by Sterling. In approximately April 2002, I was contacted
by District Manager Grace Anne Nicholson and rehired by Sterling as a Store Manager of
Kay store 1873, located in McCain Mall in North Little Rock, Arkansas.r in
approximately October 2003, [ was transferred to Kay store 1874, located in Park Plaza
Maill in Little Rock, Arkansas and was demoted to a Sales Associate position by District
Manager Michael Stevens. T was terminated by Sterling in approximately September
2007.
I was informed by both my District Manger, Grace Anne Nicholson, and Store Manager,
Tammy [LNU], when [ started at Sterling, that employees were not permitted to discuss
their pay and could be terminated for violating this policy. As a Store Manager, I also
instructed my employees to not discussing their pay. As a result, it was difficult for
female employees to identify instances where they were paid less than male employees
performing the same job.
I believe male employees at Sterling were paid more than female employees to perform

the same job duties. For example, in approximately 2004, while working as a Sales
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Claybon’s advice and believe she was refetring to the unprofessional levels of drinking

and flirting that was occurring at the meeting.

I declare, under penalty of petjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this Q;S‘%dy of

Sopfenbac; 2012,

P1Gl& Rrpin,  plomon,

Aﬂgelé Brown Coleman
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DECLARATION OF CYNTHIA COLSTON
My name is Cynthia Colsion. Iam 2 ferrale, over the age of 21, who resides-in

Rouneke, Virginia. Tinake this de‘n“‘iaraﬁ on on persanal knowledge, If galled to

testify, [ would provide tlie same testimony as sfated herein.

1 began woikidg for Sterling JewelersTne. (“Sterling”) T February or March
2008; as a Sales Associate gt the Kay store:in the Valley View Mall, in Roanoke,

Virginia. T continved ini that posifion uritil uly 2008, when I feft the company:

. Tidbserved that Sterling had a polcy prohibiting its employees ffom d_iscﬁss‘iﬁ‘g

their pay. For example, [ was told by Store Managet Alisoit Payne when I fivst
started Weﬂci’ng for Sterling that employees are not to diseuss their pay with other -
émp]oyees, and that it-was grounds for discipline. Because of that policy, it is
diffieult for women fo identify instatices where they were paid less'than mle
einpioyees perforining the 'same job.

I als6 observed that women sufféred discrimination at 'Sterling'becauseyof the
mautier by which promotions were made. Job openings and promotional
opportunities were not posted via a formal job posting system.

I was interested in promotions at'Sterling froih the beginning of niy employinent
with Sterlitty and [ expresséd this interest to Store Manager Alison Payne.

I was rot told about an online system in which employets interested in

promotions could er kad to post their mterest, despite expressing such' fiterest 16

“my Store Manager.

Page 1 of 2 | | CL-STRO08634



I declare, unider penalty of perjury thit the foregoing is true d correct. Signed this
A Ty or A kil 2008,

Cyntlia Colston
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DECLARATION OF DUANA CONGIN

1. My name is Duana Congin. I am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Kirtland, Obio. I make this declaration upon personal knowledge. If called to
testify, [ would provide the same testimony as stat;:d herein.

2, I wo'rked for Sterling Jewelers Ine. (“Sterling™) for approximately ten yests. 1
began wofldng for_ Sterling as a Store Manager at the Rogers Jewelers (“Rogers™)
store in the Richmond Mall in Richmond Heights, Ohio, in Septemﬁ of 1996
and held that positicn unﬁi approximately 2001, In 2001, I became the Store
Manager at the Rogers store in the Great Lakes Mall in Metitor, Ohio and
managed that store for approximately 6 moﬁths. In approximately 2001, T became
the Store Manager at the Rogers store in tas Richmond Mall in Richmond
Heights, Ohio and managed that store until approxinately 2002, Tn 2002, I
became the Store Manager of the JB Robinson Jewelers (“JB Robinson”) sture at
he Randail Park Mall in North Randall, Ohio. Tn 2002 or 2003, T was demoted to
Assistant Manager at the Rogers store at the Great Lakes Mall in Mentor, Ohlo, 1
warked as an Assistant Manager at the Rogers store in the Great Lakes Mall for
approximately & months in approximately 2002 fo 2003, After that I transferred
to the JB Robinson store in the Great Lakes Mall, and worked there as Assistaﬂt
Manager for approximetely 6 months, At that fime, in 2003, I 1esigned from the
coﬁlpany for approximately 3 months. I resumed my employment with Stetling
as a Sales Associate at the Kay Jewelers (*Kay™) store in the Great Northern Mall -
in North Olmstead, Ohio, in approximately 2003 or 2004, I was promoted o

Agsistant Manager at this Kay store approximately 3 months fater. In
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approximately 2004, I fransferred to the Ropers store at the Great Northern Mall
a5 Assistant Manager. T worked as an Assistant Manager at this Rogers store for
approximately 5 months; at that ﬁme, in 2004 or 2005, I was promoted to Store
Manager of the B Robinson store at the Great Northern Mall, was the Store
Manager of this siore until 2006, when T left the cornpany.

. Prior to my employment with Sterling I had about 3 years’ experience in the retail
jewelry business at an Alvin's jewelry store. At Alvin's T worked as a sales
associate for a yedr, as an assistant manager for a year, and as a store manager for
a year,

. Duting my employment with Sterling I won a murnber of awards based on my
performance. For example,ll won two incentive trips as a Store Manager based
on my store’s performance. Iwon a Special Events award as Storc Manaper for
how well my store performed at special sales events. In 2000, I won an award for
my 'store beihg 150% over the company’s sales. goal, In 2001, Iwona
Consistency Award as Store Manager because my store met every standard and
the employees at the store met their individual performance standards.

. When I becamie Store Manager at the Rogers sicre in the Richmond Mall in
September 1996, the store sold approximately $400,000 worth of merchandise’
that year. The next year the sales doubled under my management; after four years
as Store Manager the store soid apprdxim‘aiely $1.6 million worth of rnerc]'aandise,
. I'believe Sterling discriminated against me and other female employees in pay. It
is difficalt for women to identify instances where they were paid less than male -

employees doing similar work because Sterling bad a policy prohibiting its
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the shouldes™ system in which only particular employees are notified of
promotional opportunities, |

13. I was interested in becoming a District Manager and expressed this interest in my
initial interview with District Manager Tammy Almond and Regional Vice
President Robert Glazer. I continued to express my intetest in promotion to them

" and other Sterling executives throughout my employment with the company.
Despite my qualifications and performance, I was never promoted fo District
Masager and was passed over for less qualified male employees.

14. Ttold Regjon:il Vice President Robext Glazer that I wanted to move up in the

o company and did not want to be a Store Manager for my entire career. He did not
provide me any objective critetia to meet or directions on how to obfain this
promotion. Rather he told me that I should work hard, bring the store sales
volume up, and that “this is what the company is based on.” I did these things but
was not informed of any opening for a District Manager position.

15. I also expressed interest in becoming a District Manager at the regional store
managers’ meetings. My District Managers over the years, including Dawn
Hause and Charlene Morris, never said much to me except “OK” when [
expressed interest to therr; in being promoted to District Manager.

16. About twice a year, from the time I started with Sterling in 1996 until
approximately 2001, Haman Resources sent a company-wide email to stores
inquiring about people’s interest in management and whether they were willing to .
relocate. I replied “yes” to both questions when these emails circulated, tut did

not receive any response,
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20, While at Sterling T noticed that women were trested differently than men in other A
ways. For example, I attended a high volume store managers’ training meeting at
Stesting headquarters in Akron, Ohio in approximately 2000 or 2001. 1was there
with two other female Store Managers. At one of the Breaks, some of the male
District Managers, including John érandee, Todd Kidman, and another whose
name | cannot remember, m;'zde a point to take a number of male Store Managers
to a special District Manager-only section for what appeared to be conversation. '
The female Store Managers, including myself, were not invited or otherwise
inciuded. Such informal conversations and networking occurred at company
training events, and were an important part of how relaﬁons;hips in the company
were made and strengthened. This was especially important in the promotion
process as that entire system appeared to be very infortnal.

21, After the male Store Managers had congregated with the male District Managérs, -
I was overheard commenting about this informal gathering and saying to one of
the female Store Managers that, “In my next life am conting back with a 10-inch
penis” because that was what was needed to succeed in the company. The head of
tratning heard my comments. When the session reconvened, 2 Regional Vice
President told the assembled group thai if they were having people go ountside that
“everyone had to go, or no one.” Several of the male District Managers who had
taken the men outside gave me dirly looks. |

22. During my employment at Sterling it was commonplace 1o hear male employees
and managers make sexual comments about women’s bodies, ﬁese comments

were made by managers or tolerated by fhem, and were made about both female
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employees and female customers. For example, I heard a male Store Manager
point to 2 fernale and state o other male Store Managers, “See that ghl with the
big boohs? She starts on Wednesday.” This oceurred at one of the annuaj -

Manager’s Mestings held in Flordda.

I dectare, under ilahy of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

|| dayof

N k A . 2008.
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Before my employment began at Sterling, [ worked at Karten Jewelry stove for
approximately six years, with about two of those years spent as an Assistant
Manager.

Throughout my tenure at Sterling, T was rewarded with approximately four
incentive trips because of my excellent work performance.

Distriet Manager Bill Mooney informed me of Sterling’s policy which prohihited
employees from discussing théir pay with other emiployees, and as Store Manager
I had to inform my employees of the policy as well.

I believe women were paid less than men for doing the same or similar work at
Sterling, In fact, in 2608 Store Manager Chris Newton fold me how much he was
paid when he repiaced me as Store Manager at store number 1283, Mr. Newton
was paid more than me even though we held the same position at the same store,
At Sterling, promotion opportunities were not posted at my stere or anywhere
else, In approximately 2008 Sterling began allowing employees to repister their
interest in jobs to which they might be interested in being promoted on the Career
Advancement Register (“CAR™). I did not register on CAR because I was not
trained or told how to register, and 1 did not know how the system operated.
Employees typically found out about promotion opportunities at Sterling through
word-of-mouth. Advancement at Sterling was very dependent on who you were
connected to at the Company. If you were connected {o, meaning you had a
relationship with, someone in upper management you were more likely to
advance into management and receive perks. At Sterling it was common for

female employees to exchange sexual favors for non-sexual favors with their maie
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my Store Manager if I could log on to look and he would say no. Sometimes he
would tell me he would do it at another time, or he would say he was just too busy
to do it then, Icould not use the system if he was in a bad mood or if he was
busy. I do not know of anyone receiving any promotions through that system.

I was interested in making a career with Sterling and moving up with the
company. 1 was able to gain the trust and responsibility of management so that [
became the Third-Key holder, which meant that 1 was responsible for opening and
closing the store, preparing deposits, and checking in merchandise and repairs. |
frequently ran the store and was responsible for employee training. As I continued
to perform these responsibilities, I believed that T was positioning myself for
promotion to the next available management position.

In approximately the middle of 2010, there was a Store Manager position
available in Esplanade, Louisiana that 1 was interested in and qualified for, I
registered my inferest for that position online and also informed my Distriet
Manager and Regional Vice President that 1 was interested in the position.
However, | was never given an interview or even considered for the position as
far as I am aware. Instead, a male, who had just been hired by Stexling and had
no jewelry experience as far as I was aware, was brought in from outside the
company. By this time, I had been with Sterling for a year and a half, and prior to
that had three years jewelry management experience. Not surprisingly, that store
became a disaster, mployees from other stores had to go in twice a year to redo
the displays because they were not up to company standards, fix the inventory and

re-train all the employees.
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DECLARATION OF SARAH CONVERSE
My name is Sarih Chnvetse. § ami.a female, over the age ‘031“21, who resides in
Glens Falls, New York, I riake thiis declaration on personal knowledge. Tfealled
to-testify, I would provide the same-testimony as stated herein.
I began working for Sterling Jewelers fic. (“Sterling”) in approximately

Novernber 2001, as a.Sales Associate af the Kay store in the Aviation Mall, in

- Queenshiury, New York, T conthinéd in that position until approsimately Jamiary

2002, when I tfans‘f'én‘ed'as a Sales Associate to the Kay store in the Wilion Mall,
in Saratoga, New York. I continued ii that position until appr‘oxﬁﬁ:ife‘ly Aprit
2002, when 1was pmmo,téd to Assistant Manager at that fs'am;s store., I“co:‘ltinued
1y 'that position uniil approximately February 2003, whon 1 iransferred as
Assistant Managerio the Belden store in the Wilton. Mall. 1 continuéd. in that |
pesifian nwntil appreximatsly August 2003, when I was promoted to Store
Manager of the Belden store in the Colonie Center Mall, in Albany, Néw York. I
cantinued in ihat position until approximately October 2003, wheri I'became e
Assistasit Manager at the Kay store in the Wilten Mall. I continued.in that.
position until approximatsly March 2004, wher I iransferred as Assistant
Manager to the Kay store i1 the Aviation Mall. Icontinued.in that positi-an until
approximatsly May 2004, when | became a Sales Associate at that same Kay
store. I continied in that position bntil appraximatély‘jﬁiymm& whenT
transfem’-:d“td the Kay store i the Colonie Centsr Mall as a part-time Saley

Aszociate. Toontinmed in that position nitil May or June 2003, when I becaine.a

full-tfma Sales Associate at the Kay store in the Wilton Matl. I continaed in tat
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where such sexual havassment conld oceur, That included avoiding “after parties”

that were held after the formal evening social event,

I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregeing is true and correct. Signed this

_ AL dayof Mol 2012,
\ )
Sanah Conuerse
SargConverse
Page 2 of 2

CL-STR009350



A60









A6l



DECLARATION OF MELISSA COREY

1. My name is Melissa Corey. I am 2 female, over fhe age of 21, who resides in
Miibury, Massachusetis. I make this declaration on personal knowledge, If
calied to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.

2 I began working for Sterling Jewelers Ine. (FSterling™) in March 2002, as a
Manager In Waiting at the Kay store in the Avburn Mall, m Auburn,
Massachuseits. [ continued in that position untii May 2002, when [ was promoted
to Store Manager of the Kay stors in the Natick Mall, in Naficle, MQ.SSECIIUSBAH“S.- 1

_continued 4s Store Manager of that Kay store until August 2003, From August
2603 until Ni ovemiber 2003, I worked as Store Manager in various stoves i the
district, either helping frain new managers, or filling in for managers that were out
on vacation. typicaily worked at a single store for a week o two weeks at a
time. n November 2003, I became the Store Manager of the Ba‘i‘,dcn Store i the
South Shors Plaza, in Braintiee, Massaehusei.t.s. 1 workr_:d as Store Manager thers
until August 2004, when 1 lefi the cmn'pal‘}y.

3. Ireturned o Sterling in Jaimary 2003, as a Manag‘e;' In Waiting, at the Marks &
Morgan store in ‘13:{1111:1:‘3,B Florida, T contimed in that posifioly unti] [ was promoted.
to Store Manager of the Kay store in the Intemational Pla:r:a,‘ in Tamypa, Fiorida, in
February 2003, I comtinued in that pesition until the end of Octeber 2007, when I
went on medical Igave due to pregnancy difficulties.

4. 1resumed work as the Acting Store Manager of the Kay store in the M&il at
Whilney Field, in Leominster, Massachusetts, in mid-March 2008, 1 continued iz

that position for approximately | week, when I wes deinoted to Sales Associate at
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DECLARATION OF MELISSA CORBY

. My name is Melissa Corey. Lam a fomale, over the age of 21, who-resides in

Millbury, Massachusetts. I make this declaration oii personil knowledge. If

called to testify, I would provide the'same testimony as stated herein.

2. 1 have been employed by Sterling Jewslers Tne. (“Sterting’) since March 2002. 1

have worked for Sterting as a Manager-In-Waiting and a$ a Store Manager, [am
curtently the Assistant Manager for a Kay store in the Aitbura Mall in Auburn,.

Massachusetts,

+ Duringthe month of April each year storé managess are paid their antiual bonus.

Foilowing thé fssuance of the ansiual bois in April, Sterling sends to gach store
mariager the manager’s bonus-plan for the new-year. The.borius plans are called
“MBOs”. The MBO describes the code of condutt and benchmarks store

mianagers must meet.to obtain a year-end bonus.

. In approximately May ot June 2008 riay store manager Scott Palotier received

Sterling’s 2008-2009 MBOQ in the store mail. He opened the-enivelope with the
st&nﬁi-ng beside him snd read the plan out -],aud jo me. After reading the MBO,

Peletier sitid to me, “Well, I guess you shouldn't sue tﬁe.Company because you
won’t.get your bonus.” It-was my understanding, and Peletier’s undérstanding,

thatifa managar nrakes any clajm awa“mst Sterling they would fi orfcezt théir bonus.

5. Sterling’s MBO discourages managers from making a ¢laim agamst the Comparny
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in fear of losing their yeat-erd borus:

- Idedlare, tnder périalty of péjury that the foregoiiig s true and correct.

Signed this _[Z day of (Cj%f(yﬂ_, , 2008.

Melissa Corey
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Supplemental Declaration of Melissa Corey
My name is Melissa Corey. Iam a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Millbury, Massachusetts. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If
called to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein,
I previously executed a Declaration in this matter on July 10, 2008,
As stated in my July 10, 2008 Declaration, I worked as 2 Store Manager for
Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) for approximately five years, and an Assistant
Manager for approximately two years.
As Stofc Manager for Sterling I did not have the authority to hire or promote
employees. While | sometimes gave the District Manager my opinion on
applicants, 1 did not have the authority to hire them. Instead, the District Manager
would telf me who was being hired into my store, and also who in the store was
being promoted by Sterling.
In paragraph 1 of my previous Declaration, when I stated 1 hired two applicants,
[ meant that I participated in the hiring process by interviewing the applicants but
that the actua! final decision was made at the District Manager level or above,
It appeared to me that the final decisions on hiring, pay, and promotion were
made at the Vice President level. For example, when [ was hired as a Manager [n
Waiting in 2002, I was interviewed by District Manager Mark Person, and then by
Regional Vice President John Liebler. After my interviews, Person told me that
Regional Vice President Liebler made the decision on whether I would be hired

and at what pay rate,
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Declaration of Bcvcrly Cotton
I My namie is Bevexly Cotton I am a female over the age of 21 wﬁo reSIdes in
beﬁﬁat Mlchlgan Imake thlé dcclaranon on. personai know!edge If ca[Eed to téstlfy I
would prowde the samc testimony as stated herem.
2. I was employed by Sterling Jewelcrs Inc. (“Sterling™) from approximately 2000 to
2005. Ibegan my employment with Sterling in approximately November 2000 as a Sales
Associate at the Kay store in the Fairlane Town Center mall, in Dearborn, Michigan. 1
continued in that position for some time, untit I was promoted to Third Key at that same
Kay store. I continucd as Third Key, until sometime in approximately 2001 or 2002, 1
became a Sales Associate at the J.B. Robinson store in the Eastland Mall, in Detroit,
Michigan. At some point I was promoted to Assistant Manager at this J.B. Robinson
sto1e dnd lhen was stepped down to Sa!es Assocxale sholﬂy afte1 I wmked as 4 Sdics
Associatc at th_lS ] B Robmson st01e fo; about ayear. At some pomt in 2003 or 2004 I
taansfened as a Sales Assocmte to the Kay store in the Northland Mali in SouthﬁeId
Michigan. I worked there until I left employment with Sterling in approximately 2005,
3. While I was employed by Sterling, I became a Certificd Diamontologist, in
approximately 2001.
4. While I was employed by Sterling, T observed that Sterling had 2 policy
prohibiting empioyees from discussing their pay with each other. I believe that this
policy made it difficult for women to identify instances where they were paid less than

male employees performing the same job,
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4.

Iwon bonus irips in 2002 and 2004, as Store Manaéer, based on the performance
of the stores I managed.

During my employment with Sterling, T observed that Sterling had a policy
prohibiting its employees from ;iiscussing their pay. ¥or example, [ was told by
District Manager Tim Chmiel that employees are not fo discuss their pay with
other employees, and that it was grounds for discipling. As Store Manager, [
instructed my employees that they should not discuss their pay with each ofher.
Beoause of that policy, it is difficult for women to identify_ instanoes where they
were paid less than male employees performing the same job.

Female employees suffored diserimination af Sterling because of the manner hy
which promotions were made, Job openings and promotional apportunities were
not posted via a formal job posting system. Promotion decisions were instead
made by Sterling’s District Mansgers via a subjective “tap on the shoulder”
system, in which only those employses that Sterling was interested in promofing
were notified of pariicuiar management openiags,

I was inferested in promotions into management, including Store Manager ami
District Manager, from the beginning of my employment with Sterling in 2001,
By the time I worked for Sterling, I had about seven years of experience working
for Alvin’s Jewelers, with most of that thpe 25 a Store Manager. Prior to Alvin’s,
Ihad about three years’ experience as a manager of the jewelry department for

Wal Mart.

During my initial inferview in 2001 with District Manager Tom Kryzok, I

expressed inferest in managemont positions with Sterling. I was promoted to
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DECLARATION OF BONILYN CRAVEN

. My name is Bonilyn Craven. [ am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Traverse City, Mickigan, I make this declaration on personal knowiledge, I
called to testif};, T 'would provide the séme testimony as stated herein.

. I'began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc, (“Sterling™) in October 1999, as an
office worler at the Osterman store in the Grand Traverse Mall, in Traverse City,
Michigan, In that position I worked in the office and provided sales help as
ﬁeeded- I c;)ntinned in that position for about 4.5 years, until I became a Sales
Associate in approximately 2003 or 2004. I continued in that position until July
18, 2008, when Sterling terminated my efnpioyment.

. During my employment with Steﬂing, 1 won awards for my performance, For
example, in 2005 T won disﬁict—wide awards for obtaiming cradit applications, a:tid
for having the most add-ons in my sales. “Add ons” arc when another piece of
jewelry iz sold in addition to the on'e the customer originally wantéd to purchase;
. During ny employment with Sterting, I observed that Sterling had a policy
prohibiting its employees ffom discussing their pay. For example, Store
Managers told me throughout my career that employees should not to discuss
their pay %ith other employees, and that it was grounds for discipline. Because of-
that policy, it is difficult for women to identify instances where they were paid
less than male employees performing the same job, Nevertheless, I am aware of
men being paid more than women doing the game job because I leérned their pay

during conversation.
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he was demoted instead of fired. Ilearned this from another employee at the

beginning of August 2008.

I déclare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

l t dayof Q‘&%ﬁ_{:_‘ 2008.
. i A NN AN
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11, Overall, T felt like it was much harder for females to get promoted to
management positions than males. In the Houston area women were hardly
represented in management. At one point, I was one of the only female employees

in management in the Houston stores. .

I decl*ne under penalty-of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct, Signed this

ﬁr\b day of (DXQ\\M 2012, o

Annette Crenshaw
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SUPPLEMENTAL DECLARATION OF SUSAN E. CRUMP
i. My name is Susan E. Crump. I am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Valrico, Florida. T make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called (o testify, |
would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
2. I have been a client of counsel for Claimants since 2008, and remain so to date. [
filed a Consent to Join form to be part of a Iair Labor Standards Act and Equal Pay Act
lawsuit against Sterling on May 16, 2008, and was represented by Counsel for Claimants
in Sterling’s RESOLVE program in 2008-2010, including at a mediation with Sterling in
January 2009. In June, 2012, I received the attached letter from Sterling, dated June 5,
2012. The letter was addressed to me and sent to my home address, although the zip
code and first name were incorrect. Sterling attached to the letter a declaration that I had
signed on October 10, 2005 with my correct name.
3. In the letter, Sterling discussed the Jock, et al. v. Sterling Jewelers Inc. case,
reminded me that I had “signed a declaration under oath,” and notified me that it had
“attach|ed] a copy of [my] declaration for [my] convenience.” Sterling then alerted ine
that attorneys for the women who filed the arbitration complaint (i.e. the attorneys who
currently represent me and have represented me since 2008) might contact me to discuss
my declaration, and advised me that 1 was not required to speak to counsel for either
Sterling or the arbitration claimants and that I could end discussions at any time. Sterling
also advised me to contact a “Christina Janice at (303) 665-6168” if I had any
“concernfs] about how [I was] being treated by either [Sterling] or attorneys representing
individuals suing [Sterling] in relation to this matter.” Sterling did not inform me that

Ms. Janice is an attorney or that she had represented Sterling in this case.
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one-half hour or so each. Mennett and Kalk decided who they were going to interview
and when. In the afternoon, one of my co-workers, Afan Mong, was called into the office
to be interviewed by Mennett and Kalk, and was fired during his interview and
immediately made to leave the pfemises.

7. [ was the last one Mennett and Kalk interviewed that day. Mennett called me into
Woliff’s office at toward the end of my shift, around 8:30 p.m. I had been working since
approximately noon. I did not ask to be interviewed and felt compelled to participate
despite the fact that I was tired after having worked all day. When | entered Wolff’s
office, Mennett and Kalk were the only other ones Ain the room. Kalk was sitting behind
a desk and Mennett was sitting in a chair. Upon entering the interview room (Wolff’s
office), I was advised that they were conducting interviews. Mennett then told me, *“if
you do not cooperate, you will be terminated.” I did not say anything in response. [t was
very intimidating and scary to have my job threatened like this. 1t was my only means of
income - my livelihood, and I also had aspirations to be promoted to Assistant Manager
and then Store Manager. [ was not offered to have a lawyer of my own present, nor was |
told that I did not have to speak with Sterling’s HR manager or its outside attorney. T felt
very scared, intimidated, and threatened.

8. During the mterview, | was never asked about Sterling’s policy prohibiting us
from discussing our pay, nor was | asked whether Sterling posted open management
positions. The answers to those questions, had they been asked, would have been yes,
Sterling has a policy prohibiting its employees from discussing their pay, and Sterling did
not post open management positions. Because I was not asked about these issues; this

information was not in the declaration Sterling gave to me to sign. Also absent from the
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document then and there. [ felt | should have been able to take it home and to have time
to study it carefully, word by word. [ was also never advised that I could have an
attorney look it over first before signing. After working all day, and feeling the time
constraints and pressure of everyone waiting on me, my bosses pacing outside the door
wanting to go home, and having been threatened by Mennett with termination if I did not
cooperate, I felt my only choice was to sign the document. Because of what Mennett told
me, | understood that 1f | did not cooperate in the interview and sign the declaration at the
end of the “Interview,” that 1 would be terminated.

10.  Isigned the statement and was not given a copy. 1 felt so pressured to keep my
job that 1 did not even feel comfortable asking for a copy. This was one of the most
emotionally and psychologically grueling hours of my life.

11. Given Mennett’s threat made at the outset of my interview, and the circumstances
surrountding the signing of my October 10, 2005 declaration, paragraphs 1, 16, and 17 of
the October 10, 2005 declaration are incorrect. The statement was not given voluntarily,
but rather under threat of termination. In addition, as explained above, I was not
provided a full opportunity to carefully review this declaration.

12.  Further, since signing the October 2005 declaration, 1 had experiences working at
Sterfing that I would want included in any statement made about Sterling’s pay and
promotion practices toward and treatment of its female employees, most of which are
included in my July 28, 2008 declaration.

13.  Finally, in Sterling’s June 2012 letter, it states that, “[r]egardless of whether you
choose to speak with the attorneys wheo are litigating against the company or not, Sterling

has a policy prohibiting retaliation against any employee simply because that employee
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chooses to participate in a lawsuit or investigation,..” Had I still been employed with
Sterling when [ received this letter, I would not have found this staterment reassuring
coming from Sterling since the Company had a reputation of retaliating against people
who complained about misbehavior by management or other employees. In fact, when [
worked for Sterling, I was retaliated against for participating in this case. Prior to
becoming involved in this case against Sterling, I always had Thursday evenings off
because that is when I race sailboats, a real passion of mine and an important part of my
life. However, once I became involved in this case, my manager made it a point to start
scheduling me to work every Thursday evening against my longtime-honored request
{(had been honored for approximately 5 years) that T have that evening off, and despite the
fact that I was the best performer in the store.
I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing Deelaration is true and correct,
Signed this | day of ’.‘Sfﬂ% !Aeff\-, 2012,
gn i day _4,_%_ ; /:::_,_\
o, A AT - | S‘/

Susan E. Crump \
S
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June §, 2012

s, Sandra T, Cromp
3032 AVALON TERR DR.
YALRICO, FL 33594

Dear Ms, Criamp

As you iy remember, some current and former velail sales cmployees of Sterling Yewelers nc, have nsserted 1hat the
company diserimionied ngaiist fesmnle cmployees i promation declsions and compensation. ‘The wonen who initinted
this claim purport to act for themselves and cerlain other famale retall sales employees of Sterling. The case, which is
being arhitealed, Is called Jock, ef al. v Srerding Javwolars Inc. The women who filed this eomplaint seck money and olhey-
forms of reliel. Sierting believes that it has ol ofl Umtes abided by federal mitd state Inw and that the allepations by {he
Individuals are unfounded, At the same tine, the company takes these matters very serjousfy mnd hus investipoted ilie
focts and is evalunting the clufms,

As paet of the huvestipation and evalurion prooess, company represenialives contasted you fa the Rall of 2005 or Spring
of 2006 1o ask you quostions about your expericices at Stesling and {o gain knowledge about these issues that you
posscss. Following ihose discussions, you signed a declaration wder onth, You should bave received a copy of {his
declaration afier you sigued i, but in case yow did not or kave misplaced H, we are altaching & copy of your declrration for
your convenience,

Recently, counsel for the women who fited {he arbliration complaint formaily requested that Sterling provide them wiih
your coninet information. Sterling is vequired to provide this Information to those atfonieys, As a resull, those attonicys
may contaet you lo disevss your dectaralion, As was explained 1o you before you spoke (o Sterling’s counsel, you are not
vequired lo speak 1o counsel for eliher Sterling or the arbitration elaimants, and you have the vight o hire a lawyer to
yepresen you during auy discussions willy either side, if yon choose. Even if you deside to spenk with gilorneys for eifher
‘side, you may choose o end your diseussions at iy lime, Regardless of wheiher you choose to spenk with the attorneys
who are Itigating agninst the company ot nol, Sterling hos a policy prohibiting retalintion against any emplayco simply
beemse thai employee chodses to participate i a1 tawsull or nvestigation conceming aileged violations of federal or state
Lo,

If at any line you become concemed aboul liow you are being iveated by cither the cotpany or at{ormeys represemting the
individuals sying {he coiupany in vefation (o this malter, please do ot heslinls (o contact Chyisting Janice st (330) 665-
4168, so that we can atienpt to address your coneerns, We appreciale your thme and atiention lo {his malter,

Very liuly yours,

Watdaged B \&(wdf‘»

Michael D. Lynch
Y Bmployce Relalions

Biel. Deelnintion

375 GHENT ROAD  AKRON, OH 443334600
(330) 668-5000
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the Gemologlea! Insiitale of America (“GIA"} In dinmaends and ans working to complote GIA's
greduate gemolopy program.

7 When 1 begmn at Jared, vy starting pay rate was $12,00 per hove, | havo reecived
regulns rafses ansl bostusos sines diaf dale and my curr;em rate of pay Is $13.45 per kour.

3 1 havo received performance roviows singe beginndig my exploy Jared, 1 belleve
thal the roviews that T have reesived fitly pud accuralely assess my performonce.

9, When | was Hieed by Jared, T received an employee handbook and compleied (e
Assoclnlo Tralning System ("ATSY). ATS included tratning on Jared’s pryroll pmoilcss.

it Solos empleyees me plso compensated fhwough Jared's Incentive progenny, This
program {s admintstered the srang, mid provides the sume pescentage of Jucenlive payments o ail
shlos employces,

11, When) was hired, Jared afso provided ma with tralulng on {(s payroll systew and
the proper nielhiod for reporiing my worklig lime,

12, While employed wiil Jared , 1 havo understood that I, end al} other hourly
employees, are required to dfoek-in beloro beginnlng working for the day and to olock-out only
ulter we have stopped worklog for the day. Ihave also undersiood that no employees, ncludlng
mysolf, should work Yoff'the elook™ (i.e., work without reporting any tine) nxd that It would be
a violatlon of Company policy for anyone to fustruot or enconraps any oflier employes (o work
off the clook ot to viherwise Falsify payroll records,

13, Whileemployed with Jored, ! biave urdderstood that T mn required fo olock-ou If1
tnke o meal break, and clock back haRer Teomplote my weal brenk,

14, While cmployed with Jored, it hns been my practles to review wy payeheoks to

make sire I irayo been properly patd, bolh for hovrs werked and {neentive. Ido go by keeping

CONFIDEWTIAL
g8Jx 00011622

8J1 00011622
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track of Ty ovts on A doily basts mid comparlng the hours T worked to the howrs and sales
completed with nry pay stub. T have novor lied miy questions or concems uband is¢roa related {0
my pay and/or incentive elicoks al Jared.

15, Bpsed upon my porsonal kaowledge af the time T have worked, the sales thal X
hinve eomploled, ilio store’s overol! sales, and wy raviow of my puycheeks, 1 beliovo 1 have been
corrco(ty pald for al} of the time | have worked and sales that 1 havo node, No cinployes has
ever complained to we, nor jon I awore of any employeo; complaining that ha or she was not
propetly paid Loz oll ihno worked ond sates compleded.

16, Yandeestand ot 1am nol required to provide the tesilimony In tus dectrmntion, |
farihor understand at i would be a violadlon of Jared’s ]:-Iolicy for ayone to refoliate agalnst
me for providing or refisshig Lo provide Uis testimony i this dechaation. T hnve agreed to notify
o Company lmedialely IfI over befieve I am being subject to any reteiisiton In viofation of il
pofloles,

17, 1hpve provided s declnmtlon voluntarily without any promise efbenefit or
threat of any kind, Prior to signing this declaration, 1 was provided with a full opportunity to
carafully review ills declarallon and freely make any correolions and ndditions of euy klnd, 1
vorify (hat the Infominiion T hove provided n this dectaration {5 inve nod correol,

PURSUANT TO 28 UB.C. § 1746, I DECLARE UNDER PENALTY OF PERJURY
UNDER‘THE LAWS OF TIHE UNITED STATES OF AMORICA THAT THE
FOREGOING IS TRUE AND CORRECT.

Extented on October _{ D , 2005

Sugan Crump

CONRIDENTIAL
8JL 00011623

84100011623
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DECLARATION OF DONNA CUNNINGHAM
My narpe is Domia Cumningham, 1 am a fetnale, over the age of 21, who resides in
Odessa, Flovida. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to festify, I
would provide the same testimoty as stated herein.
} began working for Sterling Jewelers Ine. (“Sterling”) in October‘ or Novembéri(}ﬂo, at
the Jared store in Citrus Park, Florida, Tworked in the office, and provided sales help as
needed. T contimed in that position uniil some time in 2002, when 1 became the Repair
Liason at that store. I continued in that posi:tion for approximately si;c months, when I
went back to wofking in the office and providing salea help as needed. I continued in that
position watil eaﬂy 20603, when I bacame ﬂ'lf; Office Manager at that store. I‘caniinned in
that position for aﬁout fhree months, when I went back to working in the office and
providing sales Bélp as needed. I continued in that position uniil the summer of 2007,
when I left the coﬁlpany.,-;:n ‘;i!‘h" ot SoanDEIh et e e
When I‘ﬁr_s’tvstartéd warlﬁn g for Sterling, my Assistant Manager, Dave Dion, discouraged
me fror discussing my iaay with other emiployees, Nevertheless, T am aware of a male
employee being paid more thf_an females doing the same job becavse [ learned their pay in
convers’étinn. |
There was a mals éa&es Associats, whose name T cannot recell, who was hired by Genera}
Manager Avind Mohip fn 2006 or 2007. He had no experience m the jewe'hy busiﬁess, :
and had heen pecruited ﬁ:'om his bartending job by Mohip. [learned in conversation with
other employees aé,tbat éime that he was paid $14 an hour, bul the fermnale Sales ,
Associates at\tbeestoreswﬁo had worked for the company for several years, Wex.‘e paid

1
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DECLARATION OF MARSHA DAVIS

My name is Marsha Davis. I am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Mesquite, Texas. [ make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to
testify, [ would provide the same testimony as stated herein.

I began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling™) in approximately 1994 ag
an Office/Sales Associate at the Kay store in the Collin Creek Mall in Plano,
Texas. | stayed in that position for approximately one and a half years, until I was
promoted to Assistant Manager of the Kay store in the Richardson Square Mall, in
Richardson, Texas, in approximately 1996. I worked as Assistant Manager there
untif July 1999, when | was promoted to Store Manager of the Kay store in the
Mall St. Vincent, in Shreveport, Louisiana. [ worked as Store Manager there until
February 2000, when [ was demoted to Assistant Manager. I worked as Assistant
Manager at that Kay store until July 2000, when [ was transferred to Sales
Associate at the Kay store in the Town East Mall in Mesquite, Texas. 1 worked as
a Sales Associate at that store for approximately one month. | was next promoted
to Assistant Manager of the Kay store in the Valley View Mall in Dallas, Texas,
in August 2000, and worked in that position until T left the company in early
2002.

I returned to employment at Sterling in approximately October 2003, as a Third
Key in the Jared store outside the Valley View Mall in Dallas, Texas. I remained

in that position until I was promoted to Timepiece Department Manager in

Page 1 of 6
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October 2004. I remained in that position until I left the company in January
2006.

In 1996, while I was an Assistant Manager of the Kay store in Richardson, Texas,
I won an award and bonus trip for my sales performance.

. During my employment at Sterling, | was aware that Sterling had a policy
prohibiting its employees from discussing their pay with one another. Throughout
the course of iny employment with Sterling, T was told by my Store Managers that
employees should not discuss how much they were paid with other employees.

. Because of Sterling’s policy prohibiting its employees from discussing their pay,
it was difficult for women to identify instances where they were paid less than
males doing the same job. Nevertheless, | was aware of men being paid more
than women doing the same job because I fearned of their pay during
conversation and through other means. For instance, when [ was Store Manager |
became aware of the pay of the employees in the store I managed. Also, when I
was the Timepiece Department Manager at the Jared store in Dallas, I sometimes
sat in on interviews in which the Store Manager discussed pay with prospective
employees and new hires.

. Around July 1999, I was the Store Manager of the new Kay store opening in
Shreveport, Louisiana, and I was involved in the hiring process of the employees
for the store. My male District Manager, Chris Segull, told me I needed to hire a
male Sales Associafe. Segull told me, “You need to have a man in your store. T
don’t care how much you have to pay him.” As District Manager, Segull (or his

supervisor, a Regional Vice President) set the pay rates for the employees in the
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1.

DECLARATION OF DONALD DAVISGN
My wame is Donald Davistiil. I am & male; over the age of 21, who resides m
Parima, Ohio. Imake this declaration oa personal knowledge. If calied to testify,

I wonld provide the testimony as stated herein,’

1 began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc, (“Sterling”) in approximiately 1994,

when I was hired as 2 Sales AsSociate at the Leroy’s stofe in the Parmatown Mall
in Parma, Ohio. ] became Assistant Manager at that Leroy’s store approximatély

9 months later, fu 1995, and worked &5 Assistast Manager until the store closed

sornetime izt 1995 or 1996, Atthat time I was promoted to Store Manager at the

IB Rotinsoit Jewelers store in the Parmatown Mall. I worked as Store Manager
there for approximately 4 motiths, uritil I left the company i’n 1996.

I was empiayed agam by Sterhng as an Assustant Manager at the JB Robmson
stm ¢ at the Panna‘mwn Mal} in Parma, Ohlo, from approximately September
19986, untit Marcly or April 1997, 1then worked as a Third Key at thie Jared store
in Akron, Ohie (this store is known as the Montrose Jaréd) In spprokimately
March of 1998. T wqued in that pesition for two to. three years, until I was
promoted to Assistant Manager at another Jared store in Alron, Chio (known as
the Chapel Hill Jared) in approximately 2001, Iworked as an Assistant Majiager
there until 1 was pl.tomofed to Store Manager at the JB Robinson store in the
Ranidall Park Malt in North Ranidall, Qhio, in approximately 2003. 1 W()i'ked as
Store Manager thers for. apprommdtcﬂy one:and a haif years, unhl approxxmateiy
2005 A’r that tlme Ibeca:me a Tlurd Key at the Rogers store in the Parmatown

Mali in Parma, Oblo Iworked S the Thn-d Key at that Rogers store unt:l I was
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* DECLARATION OF VERONICA DEMARCO

i. My name is Veronica DeMarco. 1am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Concord Township, Ohio. I'make this declaration on personal knowledge. I
called to testify, I would provide the same tesﬁmm}y as_.stated herein.

2. Ibegan working for Stetling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) in August 1993, at the JB
Robinson store in the Great Lakes Mall in Mentor, Ohio, as an office worker. In
that position I provided sales support as needed. I worked in that position for
approximately two and a half years, and then lefi the company in 1995 to attend
school. I rejoined Sterling in June 1996, as a Sales Associ'ate at the Rogers store
in the Great Lakes Mall in Mentor, Ohic. I worked in that position until February
1997, when I was promoted to Assistant Manager of the JB Robinson store in the
Rarndall Park Mall in North Randall, Ohic. T was Assistant Manager at that store
until September 1997, when I was promoted to Assistant Manager of the Kay
store at the Great Lakes Mall. I stayed in that position unﬁl February 1998, when

| I was promoted to Store Manager of the JB Robinson store in the Eastwood Mall
in Niles, Ohio, Iwas Store Manager of that JB Robinson store until June 1999,

_when I was promoted to Store Manager of the Kay store in the Richmond Mall in

_ P;ichmond Heigﬂts, Ohio. I managed that store until approximately Qctober or
November 1999, when I was promoted to Store Manager of the Kay store in the
Great Lakes Mall, 1managed that Kay store for apprc;xjmaiely 6 months, until
some time in 2000, when I was promoted to Store Manager of the Rogers store in
at the Panmatown Mall in Parr:na, OHhio. I managed that Rogers store for

approximately 1 year, when I was demoted to Store Manager of the Rogers store
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1.

SUPPLEMENTAL DECLARATION OF VERONICA DeMARCO
My name is Veronica DeMarco. 1 am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Concord Township, Ohio. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If
called to testify, 1 would provide the same testimony as stated herein. This
declaration supplements the previous declaration | executed on June 10, 2008.
I began working for Sterling Jewelers, Inc. (“Sterling” or “Company™) in August,
1993 as a Sales Associate, left the Company in 1995 and returned in June 1996, as
a Sales Associate. Shortly thereafter, I was promoted to Assistant Manager and
then to Store Manager, a position which I held until 1 left Sterling in May of 2007.
Throughout my tenure with Sterling, 1 worked at Rogers Jewelers, JB Robinson,
and Kay Jewelers stores in Ohio. In addition, during my employment with
Sterling, I was repeatedly recognized for my excellent performance, winning

several awards and manager’s trips, and was a member of the $2 Million Club.

. During my employment at Sterling, [ was aware that Sterling had a policy

prohibiting its employees from discussing their rate of pay with other employees.
Because of that policy, it was generally difficult for women to identify instances
where they were paid less than male employees performing the same job.
However, based on information 1 obtained while working at Sterling and after, I
have observed that female employees were paid less than their male counterparts
performing the same or similar jobs at Sterling. For example, as a Store Manager,
1 was aware of the pay rates of the employees that 1 managed, and observed an

instance, as described in my previous declaration (paragraph 5} in which a female
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DECLARATION OF JEANETTE DIGENNARO

My name is Jeanette Digennaro. Iam a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Baltimore, Maryland. 1 make this declaration ott personal knowledge. If called to
testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.

In approximately November 2008, I began working at Sterling Jewelers, Inc.
(“Sterling”™) as a Sales Associate at Shaw’s, store number 2119, located in
Towson Town Mall in Baltimore, Maryland. In approximately July 2009, I was
promoted to Assistant Manager at Kay, store number 1167, located in Towson
Town Mall in Baltimore, Maryland. In approximately December 2009, I was
promoted to Store Manager at Kay, store number 1190, located in Eastpointe Mall
in Baltimore, Maryland. I remained at this location until T was terminated in
approximately January 201 1.

When I was hired as a Sales Associate in November 2008, District Manager Kane
Jowers (male) told me that Sterling had a policy which prohibited employees from
discussing pay.

As Store Manager, 1 did not have the authority to set pay or make promotion
decisions, and I was unaware of what Sales Associates and Assistant‘Managers in
my store were paid.

At Sterling, promotion opportunities and openings for management positions werc
not posted in the store. Employees found out about promotion opportunities
through word-of-mouth from Store Managers and Sales Associates, T was told
about the Career Advancement Registry (“CAR™) in approximately December
2009 by District Manager Kane Jowers. 1 am unaware of anyone who was

Page 1 of 5
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promoted after registering onto CAR. In fact, T was promoted to Assistant
Manager and Store Manager without registering onto CAR. The first time I was
ever told to register onto CAR was in approximately Januvary 2010, a month after
my promotion to Store Manager at store number 1190,

In approximately December 2009, District Manager Kane Jowers called me while
I was working at Kay, store number 1167, and asked if T was interested in the
Store Manager position at Kay, store number 1190, At the time, I was not
registered on CAR. Mr. Jowers told me that the Store Manager position had been
vacant for about six mounths, but I was not aware of any vacancy postings in stores
or anywhere else for the position. Iaccepted the offexr and was promoted to Store
Manager at Kay, store number 1190,

When Mr. Jowers offered the Store Manager position to me in approximately
December 2009, he told me that T would receive a bonus along with my
promolion, In approximately January 2010, after I started working as Store
Manager, my pay increased to reflect the promotion but I had not received the
bonus that Mr. Jowers told me 1 was entitled to receive. When T questioned Mr.
Jowers about the bonus, he told me that I did not receive it because I had not
registered on the Career Advancement Registry (“CAR”) for the Store Manager
position. T'was unfamiliar with CAR and had never been trained on how to use it.
In fact, this was the first time I was told about CAR and that I had to register on it.
I was upset that Mr, Jowers waited so long to tell me about CAR. Mr. Jowers
agreed fo register me onto CAR, even though I had already received the

promotion and had started working as Store Manager. Mr, Jowers never
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I decldre, under p‘énﬁltﬁf of perjury that the foregoing is trie and correct. Si"guéd-filis

55 day of 7 Aowmbie s, 2008,
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DECLARATION OF DENISE DIXON

. My name is Denise Dixon, Iam a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Gary, Indiana. I make this declaration on personal kuowh;dge. If called to testify,
I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.

. I'began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling™) at the Kay store-in the
South Lake Mali in Merrillville, Indiana, in 1987, as an Office Manager. [
worked in that position ‘aﬁproximateiy one year, uﬁtil II was promoted to Assistant
Manager in approximately 1988. Iworked as Assistani Manager at that store until
1996, when [ was promoted fo Store Manager. 1 continued as Store Manager at
that same store undil some ﬁnie in 1998, when I left the company. Iwas r_ehire‘d
by Sterling approximately two weeks later as Assistant Manager at the Kay store
in the South Lake Mall. T continued working as Assistant Manager il I left the
company in Augnst 2003,

I observed ihat Sterling had a policy prohibiting its employees from discussing
their pay with-other employees. For example, I was told by mxy Store Manager,
Melame (whose last name I cannot remember), whez; I was first hired, that I
should not talk about how muoﬁl made with other employees. I was aiso foId
this by varjous Store Managers and District Managers throughout my employment
with Steﬁing.

. Because of this policy, it is difficult for women to identify instances where they

were paid less than males doing the same job. However, | sometimes learned

what male employees taades,
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I declare, under penalty of pegury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this.

day of 7"2 W%OO&
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certain that if their Store Manager found out that they had filed a complaint, they would

be fired.

I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

D

Mardi Donsky-Foster

/D) dayofkj)q/!(} 9\,(1/3‘ ,2012,
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DECLARATION OF JULIA DORNAN
1. My name is Julia Domman. 1am a female, over the age of 21, who cesides in
Intetiochen, Michigan. 1 make ihis declaration on pérsonai knowledge, If called
to testify, I would provide the same testiroony as stated herein.
2. I'began working for Steifing Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) in approximately May

2000, as an Assistant Manager at the Osterman store in the Grand Traverse Mall,.

i Trgvetse City; MichigansI-continued-in that position for-approximately-ongs . v v

year, when I transferred ag Assistant Manager fo the Kay store in that same matl
I continued it that positicn for approximately four to six months, uniil some time
in approximately 'September to November 2001, when I became a Sales Associate
at the Osterman store in that same mall, I continued working as 4 Sales Assoclate
unifl approximately December 2001 or January 2002, when I became the
Assistant Manager at the Kay store at that same mail, I continued as Assistant
Manager for approximately one year, until approximately December 2002 ot
Jatwary 2003. At that time I transferred as Assistant Manager to the Osterman
store in the Grand Traverse Mall. T continued in thai position until approximately
J ﬁne 2005, when I left the company.,

3. During my employment at Sterling, I observed that Stexling had a policy
prohiblting its employces from discussing their pay. For exatple, [ was told by
District Manager Tom Krawcezak when § was first hired that employees are nof {o
discuss their pay with other employees, and that it was grounds for discipline,
including ferntination. 1 was told about this policy by Store Managers and

District Managers throughowut my career at Sterling, As Assistant Manager, [
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Steﬂmglexpressed this interest to District Manager Tom Krawezak during my

10.

Women also suffered discrimination at Sterling because of the manner by which
promotions were made. Job openings and promotional opportunities were not
posted via a formal job posting system. Promotion decisions were instead made
by Sterling’s District Managers via a subjective “tap on the shoulder” systern, in
which only those employeey that Sterling was already interested in promoting
were notified of speeific management openings.

I was interested in promotions from the beginning of my employment with

initial inferview. I told Krawczak that I was interested in working my way up in
the company, and that I wanted to ultimately advance to a Districi Manager
position.

I also expressed my interest in working my up in the company to my first Store
Manager, Barb Orth. T continued to express this interest fo Krawezak thmughou:‘,
my employment with Stexling, He advised me that T should learn to do all the
tasks that a Store Manager had to perform. Orth trained me on these tazks and [
was able to complete them. N

When I transferred as Assistant Manager fo the Kay store in the Grand Traverse
Mall, in approximateiy May 2001, I also expressed interest in beeoming a Store
Manager to Store Manager Pat Davis. He told me that I should learn how to work
in the office and do the paperwork, and so I did. |

Soon after May 2002, I informed Krawezak that [ was willing to relocate for a

Store Manager position since my daughter had graduvated from high school at that

Pape3of 4

CL-STRO08708






A83



Supplemental Declaration of Denise Dotson
My name is Denise Dotson. [am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Cleveland, Ohio. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to
testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
[ previously executed a Declaration in this maiter on March 17, 2009,
As stated in my March 17, 2009 Declaration, I worked at Sterling Jewelers Inc.
{(“Sterling’) as a Sales Associate for approximately four years, an Assistant
Manager for approximately two years, and as a Store Manager for approximately
six years, between 1988-2000. I also worked for Sterling for a short time in 2003.
As Store Manager for Sterling for approximately six years,  did not have the
authority to hire or promote employees in my store. I observed that such
decisions were made b}; the Vice President for that district.
For example, my District Managers told me they had to seck approval from the
Vice President about who within my store could be promoted to full-time status,
or from Sales Associate to Assistant Manager, If' T had an employee who I
thought should be promoted, [ was unable to promote him or her. Instead, I had
to tell my District Manager, and they then had to obtain approval from the Vice
Presidenit.
Similarly, as Store Manager, I did not have the authority to set the pay rate or give
raises to employees in my stores, Based on my interactions with my District
Managers, I observed that the Vice President for the district made the decisions on

pay. My District Managers told me during discussions with me on pay that the
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DECLARATION OF SAN YA DOUGLAS

. My name is Sanya Douglas. Iam a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Selkirk, New York. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to
testify, I would provide the sarne testimony as stated herein,

- I'began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) in approximately May
2003, as a Sales Assosiate at the Kay store in the Hudson Valley Mall in
Kingstoh! New York. Icontinued in that position until approxix;nately October
2003', when [ was promoted to Assistant Manager at the Kay store in the
Poughkeepsie Galleria Mall in Poughkeepsie, New York. I confinved in that
position unti! approximately February 2004, when I became a Sales Associate at
the Kay store in the Hudson Valley Mall. In approximately July 2004, I became a
Manager In Waiting at the same Kay store, Ithen transferred to the Kay store in
the Poughkeepsie Galleria Mall, in approximately November 2004, as a Manager
In Waiting. I continued working as a Manager In Waiting at that store until
approximately February 2005, when [ was promoted fo Store Manager of the JB
Robinson store in the Poughkeepsic Galleria Mall. I continued in that position
vntil November 2006, when  left the COmIpany.

. Tbegan working for Sterling apain in late Tune 2007, as a Sales Associate at the
Kay store in the Wilton Mall in Saratoga Springs, New York. I continued in that
position for approximately a month, until 1 transferred to the Kay stote in the
Crossgates Mall in Albany, New York, in July 2007. I continued in that position
nnfil August 2007, when I became the Office M:magel" at the same sfore, [

continued in that position wntil approximately October 2007, when I became a
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leamed from conversation with a male Sales Associate at the store, whose narne I
cannot temember, that he was paid $18.00 an hour. This upset me because he
earned $3.00 an hour more than me, despite the fact that I was an Assistant
Manager and he was only a Sales Associate. 1asked District Manager Aluk
Kumar why this male Sales Associate was paid so much more than me, and he
gave e 1o crgdible explanation for the pay difference. Instead, he told me not to
worry, that I was doing a good job, and that I wouid be getting a raise. Idid not
receive a raise in this position, and wltmately sfepped down from the Assistaut
Manager position at that store because of this pay discrimination.

12, During oy exnpln;;yment at Sterling, I observed thet job openings and promotional
opportunities were not posted via a formal job posting system. Rather, Sterling
District Managers notified individual employees of promotiopal openings only if
they were aiready interested in promoting that peréon, I foumd out about
promotional opportunities throngh word of mouth or after the position was filled,

13, ¥ was interested in working as a mznager from the bepinning of my employmert
with Steding in May 2003, 1had four years” experience as a Store Manager at
Zales when ¥ was recruited by Store Manager Dcnh‘is Pergola and Digtrot
Manager Kumar. Iexpressed interest in becoming a Store Manager to Kumar
during my initial interview with him. Itold Kumar that I knew management and
Jewelry sales, and wanted about 90 days to learn the Sterling systemn. Kumar
agreed. However, | was promoted fo only Assistant Manager, and that was not
until I had been with the company for 6 months. I was not promoted to Store

Manager wntil February 2005,
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14. ] also expressed interest in promotion to Store Manager when I was working as an
Assistant Manager at the Kay store in the Poughkeepsie Galleria Mall in 2003 and
é004. I told Store Manager Barbara Diaz that I wanted to become a Store
Manager.

15, Soon after I became a Store Manager in February 2005, I expressed interest in -
becéming a Diéirict Manager to my Distriet Manager, Aluk Kumar, 1 also
expressed interest in promoticn to District Manager to Regional Vice President
Perry Bignotti.

16. In mid-2008, at a meeting of Stére Managers in his district, Kumar told us that he
was supposed 1o list all open positions in the district 7011 TNOnSIer.coMm, an
employment web site. Kumar had just returned from a District Managers’
meeting at Sterlmg headquarters in Ohio. During the tims he was iy District
Manager, I observed that it was Kumar’s practice to convey to us Store Managers
the néw policies and practices that he learned about during these District Manager
meétings.

17. When I began my second period of employment with Sterling in late June 2007, 1
was still interested in promotions to management. 1 expressed this interest to
District Manager Joanne Falta in-my initial interview with her. I told Falta that I
weanted a month or two to become reacquainted with Sterling, and that [ would be
ready to be a Siore Manager in September 2007,

18. In August 2007, a mumber of Store Managers and Assistant Managers in the
district quit around the same fime. Af that time I was a Sales Associate at the Kay

store in the Crossgates Mall in Albany, New York. 1did not hear of these
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I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is frue and correct. Signed this / év

day ofi_ JU,/ L/ 2008

Sanyy Donglas
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DECLARATION OF GERALD EAGLE

. My name is Gerald Eagle. I am a male, over the age of 21, who resides in
Fairmont, West Virginia. [ make this declaration on personal knowledge. If
called to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.

. I worked for Sterling Jewelers, Inc. (*“Sterling” or “the Company”) from 2003-
2009. 1 began as a Manager-in-Waiting at the Osterman store 179, in the Dayton
Mall in the Dayton, Ohio area in 2003. I next worked as an Assistant Manager at
a Kay store in the Fairfield Commons Mall, also in the Dayton area. In
approximately 2004, I became a Store Manager at J.B. Robinson store 1721, also
located in the Fairfield Commons Mall. During the period frem approximately
2005 until approximately 2007, I worked as both Store Manager and Sales
Associate at the J.B. Robinson store 1722 in the Dayton Mall and intermittently at
the Osterman store 179 in the Dayton Mall. I spent the last couple years of my
employment at Sterling at the aforementioned Osterman store as a Sales
Associate, until I left the Company in 2009. I would estimate that my total time
working at Sterling as Store Manager was approximately two and one-half years.
. During my employment at Sterling, I was aware of Sterling’s policy that
employees were not allowed to discuss their pay with other Sterling employees. 1
was first told about this policy by either my District Manager or Store Manager
when I was initially hired. Once [ became a Store Manager, | was responsible for
telling my store employees about the policy. I was also responsible for enforcing

it. Violation ef the policy could result in termination.
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the salaries that Sterling paid its female Store Managers in her district in West
Virginia.

6. There was no formal application system for promotions at Sterfing while I was a
Store Manager there. Sterling upper management simply picked the employee
they wanted for the job vacancy involved. These decisions were made at the
District Manager level and above, This also was true for decisions involving
initial pay for new hires and salary raises for incumbent employees.

7. During my employment at Sterling, I do not ever recall observing an instance
where a female employee was treated more favorably than a similarly-situated
male employee. Nor do I ever recall an instance where a more qualified male
employee was passed over for promotion in favor of a less qualified female

employee,

I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregeing is frue and eorrect. Signed this

ﬂ/
; ™ dayof m , 2012,

?A,._—J Va)

"Geraid Eagle
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Declaration of Anna Ekman
My name is Anna Fkman, 1am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Bruin, Pennsylvania. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to
testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
I began employment with Sterling Jewelers Inc, (“Sterling”) in approximately
September 2006, as a part-time Sales Associate at the J.B. Robinson store in the
Clearview Mall in Butler, Pennsylvania. I continued in that position until
approximately November 2008, when I was promoted to full-time Salcs Associate
at that same store, I left employment with Sterling in approximately March 2009,
1 was next employed by Sterling in July 2012, as a part-time Sales Associate at
the Kay store in the Clearview Mall, in Butler, Pennsylvania. In October 20121
was detnoted to part-time office help and part-time Sales Associate. I continue in
that position to the present, + =117
I earned my Diamontology Certificate in 2007,
While I was employed by Sterling, I observed that Sterling had a policy
prohibiting employees from discussing their pay with each other, and violation of
the policy would result in termination, .When District Manager Carol Paul
interviewed me and offered me a job in 2006, she told me my starting pay. She
told me, “This is your pay—don’t discuss it with anyone.” At lcast one Sterling
manager, most likely Hall, said that violations of this policy are grounds for
termination.
I belicve this policy makes it difficult for women to identify instances where they

are paid less than male employees petforming the saifie job. Nevertheless, T'am
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have two kids.” Kieffer said, “You, too, Anna.” But Kieffer has not reached out
to me to provide extra coaching and support, as I have observed her do with male

employees,

{ declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

1Y dayofﬁ:gcf_.m':ii' ,2013.

pruk g iy
Anna Ekman
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DECLARATION OF CANDICE ELLIS

. My name is Candice Bilis. Tam a female, overthe age f 21, who resides in
Saiatogd Springs, New York. Imidkethis declaratioh ofi personalknowledge. It
['began working for Sterling Jewelers. Inc. (“Sterling®).in September 2003, at the
Belden store in the Wiltan Mall, in Satatoga Springs, New York. I was an office
worker and provided 'sales;ﬁeip'on an as-needed busis. I continugd in fhat position
vntil I left the company in February 2004

. Tbegan working for Steriiig again in June 2007, as a Sales Associate at the Kay
store in the Wilton M!alt, in Saratogn Springs, New York. 1worked atthat store
until April 2008, whea I transferred to tie Belden store in the seme mall a5 a
Sules Associate. ] continued workirig as a Sales Assoéiate at thal storeunti] the
end of August 2008,

. I observed that Sterling had a policy prohibiting its employees from disf:ﬁs}si'ng
their pay. District Manager Joanne Falta and Store Manager Marie Harrington
told mie that T shonld not discuss my pay with other employees when I was fist
hired by Sterling in 2003, Becduse of this poliéjg it was difficitdi for wonen 1o
identify instances'whare. they were paid less than similarly qualifisd male
@rﬁ,p'lqyees doing the same job.,

. Tob.openings and promotional epportunifies were riot posted via 1 forimil job
posting Syster. 1 only learned of prémotional 6pesiings through wotd of mouth,
In‘approXirhately Febiuaty or March:2008, Store Manager Weaiidy Avila (61d me

that Digirict Manager Joanne Falta told her fo get two femzle Sales Associates to
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post online for Assistant Manager positions. In conversation with Avila, T leamed
that Falta instroeted Jigk fo zet Salés Associates Hefdi Bull and Jéa Férrsrla'to' USE
the company’s. intrangt system to. pest for Assistaril Manager. Avila told me fhat
Ferrara did not want to be an Assistant Manager, but that Falta wanied Iiér to.get
Ferrarato post anyway for the position, It appeared that Falta was-trying to {ill
sonie kind of (:;;mta..

7. I conversation with Ferrard aroiiid the samsé time, she {old me #hat she did not
want 1o gost for the Agsistant Manager position but that she did se be'cauée; Avila
toid her 1o,

8. When 1 retumed to employment with Sterling in June 2007, I was.not told about
the intramet po‘sti?n.grsystem; One-day at wotk in June2007, 1 asked Assistant
Managet Sara Rion what I should do ¥ wés interesied in management. Rion
véplied that I should talk to Fdlfa, and that Falta.would tefl me whether to post.
Rion said that if I was interesied in management that I'.sinbuld have a eonvrcr’satioi)
with Falta; and that, “Joanne {Filta] decides who posts.”™ T asked what “posting”
wag, imd Rion explained it was th company’s intranet Systen that employees

were to use 1o apply for manageinent jobs.

I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregotng is frue and éoriect. Signed this

Q_S:_*—%‘mf
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| DECLARATION OF MEGAN EMERSON

[. My name is Megan Emersen. Tam a female, aver the age of 21, who resides in
Ward, Arkansas, 1 make this declavation on personal knowledge. If called to
testify, T would provide the same testimony as stated herein.

2. 1began working for Sterling Jewelers Tnc. (”—‘Sierli.ng”) in October 2605, Bs a Sales
Asgociate af the Kay store in the McCain Mall in North Liitle Roel;:, Arkansas. 1.
continued in that position unti! approximately August or September 2006, when T
was promoted fo Third Key af that same store. T continued in that position until
December 2006, when I became the acting Assistant Manager at that same store,
I céutinued in that position until February 2607, when 1 was promoted to
Assista.nt Manager at that same store. I eontinued in that position unfil June 2007,
when I!icft the cc;mpany.

3 Ia gail; worked at Sterﬁng.begimﬁng in September or OOED}]SIL 2007, as a Sales
Assoczis;;e at the Marks & Morgan store in Tampa, Florida. 1 continued in that
positim; until December 2007, when T lefi the company. |

4, During my employment at Sterling, I was aware that Ster_ling had a policy
prohibiting its employees from discussing their pay. For example, when I was
first hired, Assistant Manager Brittany Skidmore fold me not to tell others \;vhat' I
was paid, éecatwe of that policy, it is difficult for female employees to identify
instaﬂces where they were paid less than male employees performing the same
Jjob. .Naverihelcss-, T am aware of men being paid niore than women doing the

1 .
same job because I learned their pay during conversation.
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5. Tinitially applied at Sterling for a sales position in 2006. Prior to being hired at
Sterling, I had the following retail sales, retail management, or jewelry
expericnce: (1) A degree in jewelry design; (2) Approximately nine (9) months
employment at a retail store, six {6) of which was in management;

{3) Approximately six (6) months at AVF Production working with a master
jeweler specializing in making high-end jewelry; (4) Approximately one year with

QG(% R;'na S. Young Designs as a part-time jewelry maker and also assisted in setting
up wholesale trade show spaces; and (5) Additional jewelry industry experience
assisting in the set-up of a jewelry display at a trade show for Rapz Jewelers and
thirough selling two jewelry designs I had made to Tiffany & Co. fewelers.
Notwithstanding all this experience, when [ was hired at Sterling, I was assigned
to work in the office, not on the sales floor, Shortly after [ was hired, two males,
who had just graduated from high school and had little to no retail experience and
10 jewelry experience, were hired and immediately put on the sales floor. 1
wanted the Sales job, because sales people have a higher base hourly wage and,
because of commissions, have an opportunity to make more than office staff.
Given my better qualifications than both of these males, it appeared the only
reasons [ was denied the sales position was because 1 was female.

6. During my employment at Sterling, I also observed that women experienced
discrimination because of the manner by which promotions were made. Job
openings and promotional opportunities were not posted via a formal job posting

system, Promotion decisions were instead made by Sterling’s District Managers
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was very “hush hush.” Someone in our district had recently been fired and my co-
workers and I, havihg no other information or explanation from Sterling, assumed the
interviews were related to that incident. I was very concerned about my job security
when answering questions from Sterling’s attorney and felt compelled to participate in
the inferview. I was unsure if my job was in jeopardy. I was alone with the male
attorney in the vacant store front for the duration of the interview. At the end of the
interview, Sterling’s attorney handed me a statement to sign, Idid not feel like I had a
choice other than to sign the statement because I was concerned about losing my job if T
did nat.

9. A few months ago, [ received a letter from Sterling with my March 21, 2006
declaration attached. In the letter, Sterling discussed the Jock, ef al. v. Sterling Jewelers
Inc. case, reminded me that [ had “signed a declaration under oath,” and notified me that
it had “attach{ed] a copy of [iny] declaration for [my] convenience.” Sterling then alerted
me that attorneys for the women who filed the arbitration complaint might contact ine to
discuss my declaration, and advised me that ! was not required to speak to counsel for
cither Sterling or the arbitration claimants and that 1 could end discussions at any time.
Stexling also advised me to contact a “Christina Janice at (303) 665-6168” if I had any
“concern[s] about how [I was] being treated by either [Sterling] or attorneys representing
individuals suing [Sterling] in relation to this matter.” Sterling did not inform me that
Ms. Janice is an attorney or that she had represented Sterling in this case,

10, I found the language in Sterling’s letter telling me that I had signed the attached
declaration under oath somewhat intimidating because many provisions in the

declaration, which I signed while T was a Sales Representative and before being promoted
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via a subjective “tap on the shoulder” system, in which Stetling only told those
employees it was already interested in promoting about specific opsnings.

G. T was interested in promotions from the begioning of niy employment at Sterling,
1 expressed this interest fo my Store Manager Lilliana Ward during my initial
interview. Ward did not tell me that I needed io go online and post my interest in

promotions on the company’s intranet.

1 declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

\ day of Devemer 2008,

Arrione Foster
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DECLARATION OF PAULETTE FRAZIER-MATTHEWS

. My name is Paulette Frazier-Matthews. Iam a female, over the age of 21, who

resides in Sacramento, California. I make this declaration on personal knowledge.

If called fo testify, I woﬁld provide the same testimony as stated herein,

. I began working for Sterlingllewe’ters Inc. (%Sterling™) in approximately

November 2000, as a Sales Asgociate at the Jared store in Sacramento, California.

I worked in that position wntil approximately 2002 or 2003, when T was promoted

. to Diamond Department Manager. 1worked as Diamond Department Manager

until November 2007, when I was de',mcted to Sales Associate. I continued in that

position until Sterling terminated my employment in May 2008,

. While employed at Sterling, 1 observed that Sterking had a policy prohibiting its
employees from discuss'ing their pay. My first Store Manager, Raymond Brown,

. told me 1ot to discuss how much | was paid with other employees, and that T - ‘
could get fired for doing so. Becauss of this, it is difficulf to identify instances
where fe:;nale employees were paid less than male employees doing sinﬁlér work.

. T'was interested in promotions info manzgement from the beginning of my .

employment with Sterling. [ expressed this iﬁterest during my initial interview

with Store Manager Raymond Brown, [ also told Regional Vies President David

Everton that I was iriterested ip becoming & manager ‘If.fhen a number of store

employees atiended a training s_ession at Sterling headquarters in Chio in 2000;

soon after I was hired.

. Talso expressed interest iu premotions to Store Manager J. (;hn Reed, and 1o

District Manager John Masano, in approximately 2004,
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I declare, under peralty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this v

day of WM , 2008.
¢ J |

Paulette Frazier-Matfllews
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corrections or additions to it, My name and signature, which appear on page 5 of tiiis
declaration, were attached to it without my knowledge or consent.

I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this QJ_‘lzday

of 1) Rleaiay 2013 a
( ﬁ { v\d@w
' Jill ﬂdm {) !
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DECLARATION OF MAUREEN GIATNNI

. My pame is Maurcen Gianni. Tama fe'maie, over the ape of 21, who regides m
College Patk, Maryland. {make this declaration on personal knowledge. If
called to testify, 1 would provide the same testimony as stated herein.

' . I begant working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) in January 2006, at the
Kay store in the Beltway Plaza, in Greenbelt, Maryland, as an Assistant Manager.
I continued in that position until February or March 2006, when I transterred to
the Kay store in the Wheaton Plaza, in Wheaton, Maryland, as Assistanit Manager.
1 contimred working as Assistant Manager until July or August 20Q6, when [ was
ptomoted to Store Manager at that same store, I continued in that position until
Sterling tertninated my employment on February 28, 2007,

. In 2006, I won a bonus trip based on my store’s sales performance.

. 1 observed that Sterling had a policy prohibiting its employees from diSCussing.
their pay. During my initial interview at the Kay store in the Beltway Plaza, Store
Manager Dawn (LNU) toild me that there was ng tolerznee for employees talking
abourt their pay, ﬁommissibns, or raises. As Store Manager, | instructed
eniployees not to discuss their pay with other eoployees. Because of this policy,
it is difficult for women fo tdentify instances where they were paid less than males
performing the samne job, Nevertheless, I am aware of men being paid more than )
women doing the same job becz_mse I knew their pay in my capacity as Store
Manager,

. Wher; { became Store Manager of the Kay stare in the Wheaton Plaza, in J;uly or

Angust 2006, 1 Jearned that many of the female Sales Associates at the store were
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I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

Al dayof gm&g/ , 2008.

Mavureen Giatni
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ynder penalty of perjury that the foregoing Is true and cotrect. Signed this ! @"&‘—-

2008.

Jangne Glaude
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Supplemental Declaration of Jeanene Glaude
My naine is Jeanene Glaude. Iam a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Autioch, California, 1 make this declaration on personal knowledge, If called to
testify, T would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
1 previously executed 2 Declaration in this matter on June 10, 2008.
As stated in my June 10, 2008 Declaration, T worked for Sterling Jewelers Inc.

(“Sterling™) as a Sales Associate, Assistant Manager, and Store Manager from
approximaltely 1996 to 2002.

T worked as a Store Manager for approximately four years with Sterling, As
Store Manager, I did not have the authority to hire or promote employees within
the Sterling stores I managed. Rather, [ observed that these decisions were made
at the District Manager level or above. Sometimes | pro;vided input to my District
Manager on the decision to biré or promote, but it was clear to me from
conversations with my District Managers that the Vice President had to approve
such hires or promotions.

As a Store Manager, it was clear to me from conversations with the District
Managers [ had that I did not have the authority to set employees’ pay, or to grant
employee raises. Instead, my District Manager told me what pay a new hire
should be paid, after obtaining approval from the Vice President. During
employee evaluations, ] could recommend or offer input to my District Manager
on granting & raise to a particular employee, but my input was often disregarded.

No raise could be granted unless the Viee President approved if.
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and would have been imerested in this position hag I been inforied of it before it

was {ilfed. Insicad, T anly leatned of this oponing afler if was filled.

I"declare; nfidet pepaity of ﬁ‘eﬁu‘ry‘ thatthe foregoing is fraesand corréat. Sipnedthis .20

Dawha Gold
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position, or she would be fired. She took the demotion, because she needed the
job.

13. During my tenure at Sterling, I felt my supervisors showed a lack of professional
respect for female employees. Instead they displayed a tolerance for gender

discrimination and sexal harassment towards them,

I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correet. Signed this

2 !
D dayof 1 2012, )

/Stal:ey Goldbelg
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system, Promotion decisions were instead made by Sterling’s District Managers
via a suhjective “tap on the shoulder™ system, in whichk only those employees that
Sterling was interested in promoting were notified of specific management
openings,

7. I was interested in promotions info 1wanagement fom the beginning of my
employment with Sterling. I e}q:;resscd this interest during my iniiial interview
with District Manager Rhonda Russell.

8. Beginning in the fall of 2003, L also expressed inferest in management to Delxa
Johwson, my Store Manager at the Weisﬁeid store in the Everett Mall, in Everett,
Washington. Johnson told me that she knew X could do the job of Store Manager.
When I left her store in March 2004, Johnson said, “Some day | might be working
for you,” Itook Johnson’s comment as her opinion that I had the qualifieations
and ability to go far in the company.

9. Beginning in March 2004, when I became the T&d Key at the Kay store in the
Alderwood Mall, I expressed interest in managetient to Tonikay Cheney, my new
Store Manager. At this store [ learned how to do the paperwork that managers
need to complete as part of their duties, During this time, T continued to express
interest in management to District Manager Rlonda Russell when she visited our
store.

10. Cheney was replaced as Store Manager at the Xay store in the Alderwood Mall,
with Gloria Caulk ayound February 2005. I éxpressed. interest in being promoted
fo Assistant Manager to Caulk af that time, and throughout the time that she

supervised me.
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Declaration of John Hallum
My name is John Hallum. I am a male, over the age of 21, who resides in
Bakersfield, California. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called
to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
I began my employment with Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling™) in approximately
September 2006 as a Sales Associate at the Kay store in the Valley Plaza Mall in
Bakersfield, California. I continued in that position until approximately
November 2006, when [ was promoted to Assistant Manager. [ worked as
Assistant Manager at the Kay store in Bakersfield untii approximately July 2008,
when [ left employment with Sterling.
During my employment with Sterling, [ observed that Sterling did not post job
openings and promotion opportunities at the store or anywhere else where
employees could see such postings. Instead, Sterling selected an employee for
promotion and then a Sterling manager notified that employee of that opportunity.
Other employees found out about openings and opportunities for advancement
through word of mouth, such as when an employee was leaving a store or after
Sterling promoted someone else.
For example, in approximately November 2006, Store Manager Ben Fox
approached me and asked me if [ would like the Assistant Manager position at the
Kay store in which we worked. Ihad not expressed interest in this position to Fox
or any other Sterling manager prior to this. Although I had not expressed interest

to Sterlmg in being promoted into management, when it was offered to me |

CL-STR008837



accepted. Three weeks [ater I was promoted to Aésistant Manager at the Kay
store in Bakersfield, California.

5. At the time Sterling promoted me to Assistant Manager, Mary House was a
female Sales Associate in my stere who was weli qualified to be promoted to
Assistant Manager. 1 worked with Mary and observed she was well qualified to

be Assistant Manager.

[ declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correet. Signed this

3V dayor ey 2013,
0 M

Jo)ﬁ Hallum
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DECLARATION OF CHARLENE BARKNESS
My name is Charlene Harkness. [am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
College Park, Georgia. I make this declasation on personal knowledge. If called
to testify, [ would provide the same testimony as stated herein,
I began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling™) as part-time Sales
Associate in approximately 1995 when ihe jewelry store | was working for was
acquired by Sterling and became Marks & Morgan in the Milledgeville Mall in
Milledgeville, Georgia. I later became a full-time Sales Associate in the same
store and in approximately 1995 or 1996, moved to Kay store in the Centerville
Mall in Cenierville Georgia as an Assistant Manager, In approximately 1998, 1
became the Store Manager of Kay store number 667 in Dublin Georgia and
remained there until approximately 2000, when I moved to Auburn, Alabama, and
became the Store Manager of the Kay store at the Village Colonial Mall store. In
approximately 2001, I moved back to Georgia and became the Assistant Manager
of the Kay store mumber 675 in Valdosta at the Colonial Mall. 1 worked as
Assistant Manager at my last two stores as well, both at the Macon Mall in
Macon, Georgia. One was Kay’s, store 1404 and the other was Marks & Morgan,

store 1942, 1 left Sterling in approximately Janvary, 2008.

. I 'am a certified diamontologist. | was nominated for a Rookie of the Year award

during my first year as a Store Manager and to this day have a file full of
certificates I won for various sales goals | met during my tenure at Sterling, This
includes newspaper articles as well.

During my employment at Sterling, [ was aware that Sterling had a policy

prohibiting its employees from discussing their pay with other employees. 1 was
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informed of this policy from the beginning of my employnient by my first
Sterling Store Manager. While I was a Store Manager, I inforined employees in
my stores about this policy.

5. As Store Manager, I was not involved in decisions regarding the pay of
employees, even if' I participated in the hiring process for them. I was involved
in the interview process, and could have input regarding who 1 thought should be
hired, but I never made any judgnient regarding what rate of pay to offer any
applicant. Those decisions were atways up to the District Manager, as far as [
was aware.

6. During my employment at Sterling, | observed that job openings and promotional
opportunities were not posted via a formal job posting system. Promotion
decisions were made by Sterling via a “tap on the shoulder” system, in which
Sterling notified oniy those employees it was already interested in promoting
about specific openings.

7. In approximately 2007, Sterling started limplementing a new system, called the
Career Advancement Registry (“CAR”), in which employees enter information on
a computer if they want a promotion, Sometime after it started, I recall my
District Manager, Steve Martz telling me about a possible promotion/transfer for

me, and that I would need to register through CAR to “make it official.”

1 declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

_lp dayof  “Felpua,. 2013, .

Charlene Harkness
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18, When [retnined from vacation, I discoverad that while no official offer had been made,
-y male Assistant Manager wag under the belief that he would be taking over my storé.
Apparently, many people in the district were awate ‘thaf Thad beéli offered a transfer
before I had e\lren retrned home from vacatiqzl,
1 declare, nnder penally of perjury that the foregoing is troe and correct, Signed this Mday

of (g, itk 2000

&/J

Jodi-Lyan Harlyan
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DECLARATION OF ROBERT HEINLY

. My name is Robert Heinly. I am a male, over the age of 21, who resides in Santa
Ana, California. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to
testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.

. I'began work for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) in approximately September,
2007 as a Store Manager at a Kay Store in Orange, California. 1 stayed in that job
for about oﬁe year until I was terminated in approximately September, 2008.
Prior to Sterling, I had worked as a Store Manager at Daniels Jewelers in
California for about ten years.

. When [ was hired by Sterling, I was instructed by my District Manager on
Sterling’s policy that employees were not to discuss their pay with each other. As
a Store Manager, I was expected to inform my employees of the policy and told to
enforce it.

. As a Store Manager at Kay, I participated in the interviewing of se.veral applicants
for hourly positions such as Sales Associate. _That also included making
recommendations to my District Manager for which applicants should get a
second interview. However, I had no input into and did not participate in the
decision of how much money to offer to those applicants being offered a job.
Those pay decisions were made by my supervisor, either at the District Manager
level or above.

. While I was being recruited by Sterling to be a Store Manager at the Orange,
California, Kay Store, I became acquaiﬁted with the Assistant Manager of that

store, who was a female. She seemed extremely well-qualified and in light of that
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I asked the District Manager who was recruiting me, why Sterling hadn’t
promoted her to the Store Manager position instead of offering it to me. The
District Manager simply said -Sterling did not want to promote her because she
was not qualified to be Store Manager. |

. After I was hired as a Store Manager of that store, it became even more evident to
me that the female Assistant Manager was extremely well-qualified and in my
view, clearly capable of performing the Store Manager duties of a Kay store. In
fact, I felt she was more qualified than I was and should have been selected for
the Store Manager job, instead of me. This appeared to be gender discrimination
to me. My belief was confirmed by the fact that she was never promoted to Store
Manager during the time I worked for Sterling.

. The Third Key employee at my Kay Store was a male who was not a very good
employee. His sales were weak and his job commitment was unsatisfactory. At
some point, he came to me and asked for a ratse. I told him if he wanted a raise
he needed to work harder, sell more jewelry, and be a better employee in general.
He told me if I would not do what I could to g'et him a raise he would quit. Itold
him to go ahead and guit because I would not support giving him a raise. Shortly
after that, he talked to my District Manager to ask for a raise. The next thing I
knew he had received a significant raise. In fact, I recall that his raise made him a
higher paid employee that my female Assistant Manager. This was totally unfair
and again appeared to be a gender-based decision, i.e., a lesser qualified male

employee was given more money than a higher-qualified female employee.
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Manager roommate so that the roommate could meet a female Store Manager in

the room. [ was told this by another Store Manager who attended the Meeting.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing Declaration is true and

correct. Signed this S _day ot;@z’/“k, 2012.

Robert Heinly
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own a massage therapy school and also work as a Doctor of Acupuncture at a

wellness center in Glendale, Wisconsin.

I declare, under penalty of petjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

Q)ijh; day of &}MLL ,2012.

S
{ H§aifler Henf/y y
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cdsh, Ihad not stolen anything from the store and told him that. Heelajmmed that
there.was no record of a bank deposit on thetate be said I stolé the $100.00, bat T
found the banlc receipt and showed it to him.

22, Thenext day, T anuary 28, 2006, Ste_itiing'ﬁréd me. By firing me before February
1, Stetling avoided paying me my annual commission péymeﬁt‘ witicl fvas based
onmy stﬁre”s sales performance. This c‘:ommission paynient amotmnted to
approximatel_y‘SS 0,000. St’erfing t6ld me that their rules required that an
employée be employed on February 110 be éligible to receive the prior year’s

Bonus. I did not receive the $30,000 commission payment T had éamed.

I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Bigned this

iD‘L’“ dayof g@i}%{bﬁ. , 2008.

Kﬁi{ﬁix He.nr'w‘
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Declaration of Jerilyn Holdaway
My name is Jerilyn Holdaway. T am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Rosedale, Indiana. T make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to
testify, I would provide the same teslimony as slated herein.
I began iny employment with Sterling Je\velérs Inc. (“Sterling™) as a Sales
Assoclate at the Kay store (#1645) in the Honey Creek Mall, in Terre Haute,
Indiana in Getober 2003. 1 continued in this position until approximately June
2004, when [ became the Assistant Manager. I continued working as Assistant
Manager at this Kay store until July 2010, when 1 left cmployment with Sterling.
While I was employed by Sterling, | earned several awards from the company. 1
was a member of the President’s Club and won trips based on my sales in 2005,
2006, 2007, 2008, and 2009.
During my employment with Sterling, I was told by Store Managers that
employees were not supposed to talk about their pay with other employees, and
that we could get fired if we did so.
For example, Del Eikins, my first Store Manager at the Kay store in the Honey
Creek Mall in Terre Haute, Indiana, told me when I was hired that I should not
discuss my pay with other employecs. When Melinda Norton was my Store
Manager at that Kay store, in approximately 2004 or 2005, she learned that
employees Amy Akers, Susanne Avenetti, and myself were discussing our pay
with each other, Akers had told Norton that we had done this. Norton

reprimanded Akers, Avenetti, and me individually at the store, for discussing our
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16.  During my employment with Sterliné, it was Sterling’s policy not {o post job
openings and promotion opportumties at the store or atywhere else where
employees could see such postings. Instead, a Sterling manager then notified the
employee who was selected for promotion of that particular opportunity. Other
employees found out about openings and opportunities for advancement through
word of mouth, such as when an employee was leaving a store or after Sterling
promoted someone else.

11. For example, when I became Assistant Manager of the Kay store in the Honey
Creek Mall in Terre Haute, Indiana in 2004, [ did not sce the position posted
anywhere. [nstead, District Manager John Braunsdorf approached me about

taking the position, and I accepted it.

I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correet, Signed this

_,/5 day of Ijlm&l , 2013,

1 Holdaw
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DECLARATION OF DEAN M. HUFFMAN

1. My name is Dean M. Huffman. Iam a male, over the age of 21, who resides in
Marnon, Ohio. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to testify,
[ would provide the same testimony as stated herein.

2. I began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) in approximately 1988
when the Osterman Jewelers (“Osterman”) store I worked at in Lima, Ohio was
bought by Sterling. I worked at that Osterman store from June 1988 through
October 1988. Ileft the company for a year, and rejoined Sterling in October
1989 as a Store Manager of a new LeRoy’s Jewelers (“LeRoy’s™) store in Marion,
Ohio, that was set to open within a couple weeks. I was Store Manager of that
store until I left the company in April 1996. In approximately 1994, the LeRoy’s
store became a Kay Jewelers (“Kay”) store while | was manager.

3. 1observed that Sterling had a policy prohibiting its employees from discussing
their pay. For example, when 1 opened the new LeRoy’s store in Marion, Ohio in
October 1989, I participated in employee interviews with the District Manager,
Guy Caruso. He told new employees that they should not discuss how much they
were paid with other employees, and that to do so could lead to discipline,
including up to termination. When I was Store Manager I told my employees that
they should not discuss their pay among each other.

4. Because of Sterling’s policy, it was difficult for female employees to identify
instances in which they were paid less than similarly qualified male employees.

In 1992, in conversation with a female Store Manager, whose name [ cannot
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DECLARATION OF KATIE JENNINGS

» My name is Katie Jenmings. [ am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Spring, Texas. Imake this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to
testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.

. 1began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling™) in approxhnatel_y
Decernber 2000, when I was hired as a Sales Associate at the Osterman Jewelers
(“Osterman’™) store in the Northtown Mall in Toledo, Ohio. I worked as a Sales
Associate there until approximately November 2001, when I transferred to the 3
Robinson Jewelers (“JB Robinson™) store at the Seuthwyck Mall in Taledo, Ohia
as a Sales Associate. In approximately August 2003, I left that store and |
transferved to the Kay Jewelers f“Ka)P’) store in the Wéstgate Mall in Fairview

Park, Ohio. T remained at that store for approximately one week uniil I left the

_ company.

. T observed that Sterling has a policy prohibiting its employees from discussing
their pay, and heard managers tell employees that thronghout my employment
with Sterfing. For example, my Store Manager Rick, whose last name I cannot
remember, gathered all the employees together at the JB Robinson store in the
Southwyck Mall in Toiedo, Ohio afier he found out that one of the employees had
been discussing their pay. Rick (LNU) reminded alf the employees that we were
not to discuss our pay with each other.

- Because-of Sterling’s policy against discussing pay, it is difficult to identify

instances where ferale employees are paid less than similarly qualified male
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8. When I moved to the Cleveland area in August 2003, T transferred to the Kay
store in the Westgate Mall in Fairview Park, Ohio. By this time I had over two
years” experience as a Saleg Associate, had earned my degree in Business
Administration, performed well as a Sales Associate, and expressed interest
repeatedly about being promoted into management at Sterling. [ posted my
resume on monster.corn, and within a week Asheroft & Oak, a jewelry store in the
Great Northern Mall near Cleveland, Ohio, hired me as an Assistant Manager.
Within a month I was promoted to Store Manager at the Asheroft & Oak store in
the Beachwood Place Mall, in Beachwood, Olio, where successfully managed

that store until I left the cornpany in 2006,

I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this 3

dayof _ MAY , 2008,

WM

Katie Jennings
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DRCLARATION OF REBECCA JEWART
My name ris Rebecea Jewart, Iam a fernale, over the age of 21, who resides in Lancaster,
Penmsylvania, Imake this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to testify, T
wonld provide the same testimony as stated herein.
1 began working for Kay Jewelers at the Kay store in the Berkshire Mall, in Wyomissing,
Pennsylvania, in April 1984, as a Sales Associate. I continued in that position for a
couple months, when I was promoted to Assistant Store Manager at that same siore. 1
continued in that position vatil January 1985, when 1 \vaé promoted to Store Manaf:;,er of
the Kay store in the Fairgrounds Square Mall, Arcund November 1990, Sterling Jewelers
Tng. (Stérliug} acquired this store. T continued working as Store Manager at that store
untiihMarch 1997; then 1 stepped down to 2 Sales Associate position af the Kay store in
the Park éify Miil.lt,_ n faf;master,' :Pexmsylwiauia. T contimued in this position uiitil 1998,
wheh I xv;s pror;:rofed to Assistant Manager at that same store, Tworked as Assistant
Manager uﬁtil 2003. At that fime, I was promoted to Store Manager of the Kay store in
the York Gaiieria Mall, in York, Pennsylvania. I coﬁthmed as manager of that store untii
Qctober 2007, when I iransferred as Store Manager o 2 Kay store in the Tanger Outlet
Mali, in Lancaster, Pennsylvania. I continted in that position until June 2008, Af that
thme I transferred as Store Manager of the Kay store 1n the Berkshire Mall, in
Wyomissing, Pennsylvania. T continued in that position uniil August 1, 2009, when I Ief!
the company. |
During my employment at Sterling,  observed that Sterling had a policy prohibiting its
exﬁployeés‘ from discuséiug their pay. For example, T was told by District Manager Ron

Robinson that employees were not to discass their pay with other employess, and that it
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DECLARATION GF CHRIS JONES

. My name is Chris Jones. [am a male, over the age of 21, who resides in Tomball,
Texas. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to testify, I
would provide the same testimony as stated herein,

. I worked for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling™) from approximately August 2001
until approximately November, 2008,

. Twas initially hired by Sterling as a Sales Associaies at the Willow Brook, Kay
store in Houston, Texas. [ worked in that job for a few weeks when I was
promoted to Assistant Manager and transferted to the Woodlands Kay Store, also
in Houston. [ worked in that position until T was promoted to Store Manager of
that store in 2007. [ worked there as Store Manager until [ resigned in November,
2008.

. During my employment at Sterling, T was aware of Sterling’s policy that
employees were not allowed to discuss their pay with other employees. T was
made aware of this policy by Susan St. Raymond, the District Manager, when I
was first hired in 2001, When I became a Store Manager in 2007, part of my
duties inciqded informing new hires of this policy.

. When I was a Store Manager, my duties included participating in the hiring
process of new employees, assisting in setting their initial pay and raises,
evaluating them, and assisting in the process of promoting them. In none of these
decisions did I have final or ultimate authority. Instead, those final decisions
wele made above me, cither by the Home Office in Akron, Ohio, or at the District

Manager level,

Page [ of 5

CL-STRO09275









12

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

It was my experience as Store Manager in recommending initial pay setfing for
new hires, that the prior pay of the applicant was mostly irelevant, Instead, it
was my understanding that Sterling stressed prior work experience.

The initial pay setting and raise procedures described above were in effect the
entire time I worked for Sterling from 200[-2008. T was involved in scores of
decisions regarding initial pay and raises during this time period. The training
manuals set out these procedures, which were reinforced and enforced by mid-
level supervision and the Home Office,

As an Assistant Manager, I attended training sessions several times a year in the
Houston area, usually at the Houstonian Hotel. At these fraining sessions, -
Sterling’s policies and procedures regatding initial pay setting, raises, promotions,
and performance evaluations would be discussed.

These same issues were also discussed at the Annual Managess’ Meeting in
Orlando,

Sterling’s policy was to have very centralized control over these issues.

Compared to the other jewelry chains [ worked for, including Gordon’s and
Whitehalls, Sterling had much more centralized conﬁ‘ois than they had.
Evaluations were given each store-level employee annually. They were supposed
to be used to assist in making annual raise decisions. Again, as with initial pay
setting, Home Office would review the evaluations and detertnine what amount, if
any, raise could be made.

1 resigned from Sterling in November 2008. 1 was dating a female Sales

Associate nanted Brandie Bonner at the time. Once this situation was made
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David Johnston, informed me of the promotion. Along with the promotion, my pay was
increased to approximately $14 or $14.50 per hour,

5. In approximately 2006, my Store Manager, John Paul Murphy, asked me to share
my sales with him because he was trying to get promoted to a higher volume store and
wanted my help to increase his numbers, I felt compelled to do this since he was my
Store Manager. A few months later, Murphy was promoted to a Store Manager position
in a higher volume store in San Francisco, California and transferred fto that store. In
approximately November 2009, [ was promoted to Store Manager of Store 2107 and my
pay was increased fo appmxix.nately $17 or $17.50 per hour. [ remained in the Store
Manager position until approximately May 2011 when Sterling demoted me to Assistant
Manager and transferved me to a Kay Jewelers, Store 2358, in San Mateo, California,
Upon this demotion, Sterling reduced my pay to $16.50 per hour, 1 consistently mct or
exceeded my standards and goals at Sterling, and was a President’s Club rider from 2005
to 2009. Further, as a Store Manager (Store Managers do not get named President’s Club
riders, but rathcr are awarded incentive trips for meeting their goals), T was awarded an
incentive trip for meeting or exceeding my goals in 2010, the only full fiscal year I acted
as Store Manager,

6. During my employment at Sterling, I was aware that Sterling had a policy
prohibiting its employees from discussing their rate of pay with other employees. When T
was hired by Sterling, my Store Manager, John Paul Murphy, told me I was not allowed
to disclose my rate of pay with any of my co-workers — it was confidential, My District
Manager reiterated this policy to me when I was promoted to Store Manager in 2009.

Because of this policy, it was generally difficult for women to identify instances where
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consistently being treated less favorably than equally or ess qualified males, T chose to
leave Sterling in approximately June 2012,

11.  In 2006, I was interviewed by a male attorney who I believe represented Sterling.
I did not ask to be interviewed, rather my Store Manager at the time, John Paul Mutphy,
pulled me off the sales floor during work hours, and directed me to go to the back room
where he advised I was going to be asked some questions and cautioned me not to take
too long. Because my Store Manager directed me to be interviewed, I felt T had no
choice but to participate in the interview. The interview {ook place in the back room of
Store 2107, There was no one clse iﬁ the room aside from e and the male attorney. 1
felt intimicated in the interview, and believed that if T did not say the right thing, I could
be fired. The “interview” lasted approximately two to threc minutes, after which time the
atforney handed me a statement which had been prepared prior to my interview, told me
to look it over, sign it, and that after doing so T would be able to retwm to the sales floor,
I felt rushed because my Store Manager told me not to take oo long and because I was
missing potential sales by not being on the sales floor during my work hours, Ialso
feared for m.y job if I did not sign the statement, my Store Manager having directed me to
participate in this “interview.” For these reasons, I signed the statement without rcading
it and quickly returned to the sales floor. 1was never given a copy of the statement at the
time I signed it. During the short interview, the attorney never asked me if Sterling had a
policy prohibiting the diseussion of pay, nor did he ask me if I was aware that Sterling
did not post open management positions.

12, A few mounths ago, after [ had left Sterling, I received a letter from Sterling with

my May 22, 2006 declaration attached. In the letter, Sterting discussed the Jock, et al, v.
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Sterling Jewelers Inc. case, reminded me that { had “signed a declaration under cath,”
and notified me that it had “attach[ed] a copy of [my] declaration for [my] convenience.”
Sterling then aletted me that attorneys for the women who filed the arbitration complaint
might contact me to discuss my dectération, and advised me that I was not required to
speak to counsel for either Sterling or the arbitration claimants and that T could end
discussions at any time. Sictling also advised me to contact a “Christina Janice at (303)
665-6168” if | had any “concern[s] about how [I was] being treated by either [Sterling] or
attorneys representing individuals suing [Stetling] in relation to this matter,” Sterling did
not inform me that Ms, Janice is an attorney or that she had represented Ster]i;lg in this
case,

13. T found the language in Stering’s letter telling me that T had signed the attached
declaration under oath intimidati_ng because I had never read the declaration, Whet I was
interviewed, T did not understand what was going on or why [ was being interviewed, T
just knew that my Store Manager had directed me to do it and to not take too fong, I felt
compelled to sign or risk losing my job, which I had not had that long. Further, when I
interviewed and signed the declaration, I had not been working at Sterling very long, and
since signing the declaration, I have had experiences at Sterling which contradict some of
the statements in the declaration.

14,  For example, paragraph 8§ of the 2006 declgration is not accurate. Now that [ have
worked for Sterling for several years, I do not believe my pay rate and incentives were set
without regard to gender. For instance, in January 2012, even though T scored high on
my appraisal, when I asked my District Manager if I was eligible for an increase in pay,

the answer was “no.” 1 believe a male with a high appraisal score would have been given
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6. At the start of my employment with Sterling my supervisors told me that it was
against Sterling policy for employees to discuss their pay with one another and
that they could be disciplined for violéting that policy. I was told this by all my
District Managers at Sterling. As a Store Manager, [ was responsible for
enforcing this policy.

7. During my approxtmate 10 years of employment as a-Store Manager at Sterling, |
witnessed first-hand Sterling’s intentional discrimination against its female retail
level employees in both pay and promotion decisions. As a Store Manager, I was
privy to inside information regarding Sterling’s corporate intentions regarding
these matters. Part of my duties as a Store Manager included participating in the
recruiting and hiring of new employees. This included interviewing applicants
and assisting in determining how much salary to offer them. I also participated in
the similar process of determining employee raises, as well as in employee
evaluations and the selection process for all in-store promotions. The final
decisions on all these type employment actions were made above the Store
Manager level.

8. 1 can recall numerous occasions when my recommendations for what a female
applicant or employee should be paid were rejected by my supervisors at the
District Manager or Regional Vice President level, and 1 was instead instructed to
pay those female applicants or employees less.

9. Given my lengthy experience as a Store Manager or Regional Manager in the
jewelry industry, I had the opportunity over my 35 years of jewelry store

experience to participate in the hiring, supervising, evaluating, and terminating of
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DECLARATION OF ASHLEY KALEMBA

1. My.name is Ashley Kalemba. Lam 2 female, 19 years old, who resides ih Cedar

‘ Liake, Indizpa, [ make this-declaration on petsonal knowledge, Hcalled to testify,
" T'would provide the same testitony a5 stated herein.

. T Begian working for Sterling Jevelers luc. (“Sterling”) at the Osterman Jewelers
(‘:"bszennan"’) store in the Southlake Mailf in M;:rdllvill,é, Indiana, in August. 2007
as-a Sales Associate. I'warked at this store until Decema::er'ZE’, 2007, whan-my
employment was teminated by Sterfing,

T observed thai Sterting had & policy prohibiting s employees from discussing
their pay. When I first started woiking for Sterling, I was'teld by my Store
Manager, Donna Oroszo, that I should not discuss how much I made with other
employees. ‘When I reooived my first pavcheck, I asked whit theé Aotation

© “Commn™ dn my pay stub meant.. Oroseo overheard fny question-and said, “T tolc’f

you you can’f ask-dnyone about your ch¢§k butme.” Sterding’s policy mads it
difficult for women to identify nstances whére they are:paid less.than male

. ernployees doing similar work.

. Female emiployees at Sterling suffercd discrimination because of the matmer by
which ‘promcﬁi:'ins aré made. Job openings znd promotional dppoﬁu'xﬁﬁé"s re riof.

poested via'atorinal job posting sysierm.

: Twas ir‘iterés_tc:ﬂ, in being promoted into manzgement, had previous retail

expexigiice, and found that T enjoyed working i the jewelry busingss, In October

or November 2007, T asked Store Manager Douna Oroszo dbout 2pplying {o
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becoriis a manager via Steriing’s onlinesystern. Orosza discatiraged e ffom
applying and said that I had just started and, "they aren’t gding-to Togkatyou. 1
wounldnt waste your tithe going anline.” She told rie ’that Lhad to meet my five
perfonnarce standards in order to be promoted. Beyond that, Oroszo did riot give

me any information and she ended the tonyersation with me:

1 declare, under penaliy of perjury that he foregoing is trué and correct. Signed thig A0

* day of m.g,g { 2. 2088,

Ashley Kalordba
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Declarafion of Traey Kelly
My name is Tracy Kelly, Tam a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Pensacola, Florida, | make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to
testify, I would provide the same (estimony as stated herein.
I began my employment with Steiling Jewelers Tnc. (“Sterling”) in approximately
May 2006 as a Sales Associatc at the Kay store in the Wolfchase Galleria in
Memplis, Tennessee. 1 continued in that position until April 2007 when T was
terminated due to my child being ill,
1 was re-hired after Sterling fought my unemployment but {ost in approximately
August 2007, as a Sales Associate at the Kay store in the Southaven Town Centre
in Southaven, Mississippi. T continued in that position until approximately
Februaiy 2009, when I was promoted to Third Key at the Kay store in the Oak
Court Mali in Memphis, Tennessee. T woiked as Third Key until approximately
Tune 2009, when I was promoted to Assistant Manager at that same Kay store. I
continued working as Assistant Manager for one to two months at this Kay store
in the Oak Courtt Mall, Al that time I was demoted to Third Key at the same store.
I continued working as Third Key at the Kay store in the Oak Court Mall unti}
approximately November 2010, when I became the acting Store Manager at the
Kay store in the Carriage Crossing Mall, in Collierville, Tennessee. T worked as
acting manager at that store for approximately one week, and then returned as
Third Key at the Oak Court Mall in Memphis, Ternessee. I continued in that
position until approximately May 2011, when I was terminated by Sterling,

I was a member of Sterling’s President’s Chub in 2006, 2007, 2008, and 2009,
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While T was employed by Sterling, I observed that Sterling had a policy
prohibiting emplovees from discussing their pay with each other, I believe that
this policy made it difficult for women to identify instances where they were paid
less than male employees performing the same job,

During my employment with Sterling, Sterling-did not post job epenings and
promotion opportunities at the store. Instead, Sterling selected an emplovee for
promotion, and a Sterling manager then notified this employee of the patticular
opening. Other employees found ouf about openings and opportunities for
advancement through word of mouth, such as when an employee was leaving a
store or after Sterting promoted someone else.

T was fnterested in promotions into management from the beginning of my
employment with Sterling. I expressed this interest to District Manager Dan
Waltchack and Store Manager Diylan Flores during my initial interview. I
regularly expressed interest in promotions to management to my Store Managers
and District Managers throughout my émployment with Sterling,

Before beginning work with Sterting, 1 had over twenty years’ experience in the
jewelry business, including over ten years’ experience as a store manager,
Additionally, T had my Diamontology and Gemologist certifications,

Despite my qualifications, experience, and regularly expressing interest in
promotions to my Store Managers and District Managers, Stetling passed me over
for promotion in favor of less qualified males.

For example, in approximately 2007, there was an opening for Store Manager at

the Kay store in the Carriage Crossing Mall, in Collierville, Tennessee. [
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. Ideclare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

! aayof __A-lteomy 2008,

Tifn K‘é@ -
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DECLARATION OF LILIANA KING
My name is Liliana King. Iam a female, over the age of 21, who resides in Fort Riley,
Kansas. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to testify, I would
provide the same festimony as stated herein.
In approximately August 2001 I was hired by Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”} and
worked for Kay Jewelers (“Kay™), store 1468 located in Sarasota Square Mall in
Sarasota, Florida, as a Store Manager. [ left Sterling around April 2004,
When I took over as manager of store 1468, the store’s sales were down, Within a year [
met, and then surpassed, the store’s sales goals. As a result of my work the store qualified
for a remodel, In 2003, I won an incentive trip to Puerto Rico for my success in meeting
my sales goals during the holiday quarter.
Prior to working at Sterling, | worked for Zales for seven years, starting as an Associate
and then working for nearly 2 years as a Store Manager.
Shortly after starting at Kay in 2001, I was informed by other Store Managers that it was
the company’s policy that employees were not permitted to discuss pay. As a Store
Manager, I enforced this policy by instructing my employees to not discuss pay, and pay
adjustments were discussed privately with employees on a one-on-one basis. As a result,
it was difficult for female employees to identify instances where they were paid less than
male employees performing the same job.
Nevertheless, I believe male employees at Sterling were paid more than female
employees to perform the same job duties. For example, around 2001, Norman Martin, a
Sales Associate in my store, made statements that led me to believe that he was making

more than the female Sales Associates, Because Mr. Martin was already working at
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Sterling when I started as Store Manager, I did not have access to his pay records. When
Mr. Martin was promoted to Assistant Manager he made comments about his child
support payments that gave me the impression that he was earning a significant amount
of money from Sterling. Around 2003, Sterling hired a female Assistant Manager, Renee
Rios. As Store Manager, [ knew what Ms. Rios was earning, and I believe she was paid
significantly less than Mr. Martin even though, having interviewed her, I know that she
had more management expericnce than Mr, Martin and only slightly less jewelry
experience.

As Store Manager, I was not responsible for setting pay. I believe the final decision
reparding wage rates was made at or above the District Manager level. In fact, I
approached my District Manager about increasing Ms. Rios” pay, but Sterling failed to
pay her the same wage rate as Mr, Martin during the two years she held the position.

In addition, around 2002 I learned that Joe Barradas, a Store Manager at Kay store #639
in Bradenton, Florida, was making more than I was, even though I believe we were
equally experienced. I learned that he was earning more than me because he seemed to
lead a more extravagant, expensive lifestyle. For example, he purchased an expensive
truck that I would not have been able to afford based on what Sterling was paying me at
the time.

Sterling did not have a formal process for requesting and awarding promotions, and
promotional opporturnities were not posted in the stores. I recall that openings were

mosily ammounced by word of mouth,
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SUPPLEMENTAL DECLARATION OF GINA KOHR
My name is Gina Kohr, Tam a female, over the age of 21, who resides in Red
Lion, Pennsylvania. Tmake this declaration on persenal knowledge. If called to
testify, T would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
I previously executed a Declaration in this matter on October 30, 2009.
At this time, I am employed as a part-time Sales Associate at Kay store 1108
located at Park City Center in Lancaster, Pennsylvania,
From 1997 to 2006, I worked as Store Manager of store 277 at Sterling Jewelers
(“Sterling”, “the Company”) in Camip Hill, Pennsylvania. During this time, 1
believe I was paid less to start in the position than my male counterparts. For
example, T believe that Michael Shoster, who had recently been the Store
Manager at store 277, was paid more in the same position, even though he had
worked with the Company for a shotter period of time. Around 2000, I believe
that another male Store Manager, Brian Holste, who managed store 1856 in
Harrisburg, Pennsylvania was also earning more than [ was even though he was
managing a store around the same size as mine that was located in my District.
Around this time, I also leatned that Raymond Yen, Store Manager of store 1131
in Harrisburg, which was situated just across the river from my store and is in the
same District, was earning more than [ was. | heard this from a friend of mine,
Store Manager Melanie (Byers) Tirado.
Around 2003, during my performance review with my District Manager Jeff
Yoder, I complained that I was underpaid and that I knew men made nmiore than

me in the same position. Mr. Yoder responded that he agreed with me, but told me
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DECLARATION OF GINA A, KOHR

1. My name is Gina Kobr, [am a fomale, over the age of 21, who resides in Red Lion,
Pennsylvania. 1make this declaration on personal knowledge, Ifcalied to testify, I
would provide the same testimony as stated berein.

. Thepgan working for Sterling J éwelets Inc. (“Sterling™) as a part-time Office Associate at
a Shaw’s store number 323 in Christianburg, Virginia in.approﬁmately Mareh 1993, In
apptoximately August 1993, I became a full-time employee at the éame store and m the
same position. Approxinately a year later, I became the Office Manager at the same
store, 1remained as Office Manager in that store until approximately July 1995, Tn July
1993, I moved to another state and became the Assistant Store Manager at Kay’s slore
number 1121 i York, Penusylvama I remained in this position untll appmxnnately
Febmary 1997 although ldld tiansfer fo Kay s store numbel 1131 dunng that tlme In
F‘ebruary 199? I ir ansfeucd fo Kay s Sfole number 277 in Camp H:I] Pclmsylvama as an
Oﬁﬁce Manager. " Approximately a month later, I becamg Assistant Store Manager of that
stm.“é. In approximately November 1997, T was pronioted to Store Manager of that store.
I remaineci as Store Manager until approximately Apzil 2006, when I voluntarily stepped
down fo a;n Assistant Store Manager position at a Kay’s store number 1107 in York,
Pennsylvania, In approxinately September 2007, I transferred to Kay’s store mumber
1108 in L:anoaster, PA as a firll-time sales associate. In approximately May, 2008, I
becams dfﬁce Manager of the same store and rewmain there today.

. Du[mg my employment at Sterimg, T have ghserved that Sterling has a policy prohibltmg
1ts employecs from saymg anyﬂnng about their pay fo oﬁler empioyees and that 1t is

grounds fo1 termmatlon to do so. Bvery employee is told this npon their im'e I was
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informed of this policy when I was hired and was reminded of it each time I changed
stores. As Store Manager, ] was responsible for informing my employees about this
policy. |

. Becauss of that pelicy, it is difficult for women to identily instances where they were
paid less than male employees performing the same job, 1 do belisve however, that
women are paid less than male employees at Steriing, For example, although the Store
Managet at my current store is an.exceptional manager, 1 have heard that she is being
paid less than the male Store Manager who held the same position before her.

. When I became Store Manager in approximately November 1997, T was offered a starting
salary of $28,000. The store 1 was dssigned was number eight or nine in the district and
had anmmal sales of approximately $800,000. While T was Store Manager, wé had
doubie-di gif increases until app-roximately 2002, and by the time 1 left, the store had
annnal safes of approximately $2,500,000. Despite my achievements as a Store Manger,
by the tine I loft this position, almost eight a:id a half years later, muy salary had only
increased by four thousand dollars to $33,000. '

. While 1 w.as a Store Manager, I periodically asked my District Manager, ;Ieff Yoder about
recefving raises in recegnition of my success. He responded that “you make your own
raise by bonuses and commission.” Sterfing’s policy requires certain minimal raises for
Store Managers who are over plan for the year, and those are the only raises [ ever
received.

. In approximately 2004, although my store continued to increase in sales, I was under plan

by \5%. I met with District Manager Jeff Yoder and he told me that I would not be able
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to got a raise that year, Mr. Yoder literally began to ory and told me that I was grossly

underpaid for the job that T'was doing, but that he couldn’t do anything about it

I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Sigied this 2) O day

of { Do Yerkor” | 2009, %@//
(j)g‘r‘” /:/ \ A

Gina Kohr
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DECLARATION OF THERESA LAURIA
My pame is Theresa Lauria. 1am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Baliston Lake, New York, 1make this declaration on personal knowledge. If
called to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein,
I worked for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) beginning in approximately April
2003,' as 4 Sales Associate at the Kay store in the Aviation Mall, in Queensbury,
New York., Within a day, I was promoted to Assistant Manager at that same
store. I worked in that position until approximately May 2004, when [ was
transferred to the Belden store in the Wilton Mall, in Saratoga, New York., 1
worked as Assistant Manager there until approximately May 2005, when I was
promoted to Store Manager of the Belden Store in the Colonie Mall, in Colonie,
New York. I worked as Store Manager af that stote until approximately June
2006, when I became a Sales Agsociate at the Belden store in the Aviation Mall,
in Queensbury, New York, I continued in that position until September 2006,
when I left the company.
While employed by Sterling, I observed that Sterling had 2 policy prohibiting its
erﬁployees from discussing their pay with each other. When I was first hired,
Store Manager Larry Greismer told me not to discuss my pay with other
employees. District Manager Joanne Falta also told me, upor my hiring, that
shouid not talk about how much I made with other employees.
1 believe that Sterling discriminated against its female employees in pay. Because

of Sterling’s policy, however, it is difficult for female employees at Sterling fo
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11. 1 artended the Fiordds Menager's Meeting 1o 2003 Sterling provided fres alcohol

to ity smnployees, and 1 saw many attendzes

who wire deowing up fom drinking oo nud

.

I declare uhder penalty of perjury that the foregotnyg is true and sorrect. Signed this

_ZE__ day of . 2010, =
: e

Pagedef 4
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DECLARATION OF SHELLY LAWYER

. .My name is Shelly Lawyer, Iam.a fériale, over the ags of 21, who resia;as. n
Broken Arrow, Oklahoma. ] make this declaration on perconal knowledge.” If
called to testify, T would provide the same testimony as stated herein.

). I began working for Sterling Tewelers Inc. (“Sferling”) in October 2006, as 2 Sales
Assaciate at-the Kay store in the Promenade Mall, in Ttusa, Oklahoma. I
continued in that bosition unfil I Jeft the company in Ocfober 2007,

. Tobserved that Sterling had a policy prohibiting its employees ffom diséussing
theit pay. For example, Store Manager Yean Yeats told me whien T first staried
that employees are not to discuss their pay with othér employees, and that §t wes
grounds for discipling. Because of that policy, it is difficult for women to'idéntify =
inéthices where they wWere pard 1ess than tale‘eriplayecs performing the sanie
job.

. Female etmployees 2t Sterling also suffered diserimination becavse of the mannet
by which promotions were made. Job openings and promational opporinnities
were not posted via 2 formal job posting system. Promotion decisions were
instead made by Sterling’s Diatrict Managers and Vice Presidents via'a siibjective
“tap on the shoulder” system, in which only those employees that Sterling was
alréady interested in promoting were told about spegific management openings..

. In approximately Novermbet 201}6,_ Digtrict Manager Tim (LNU) a@pproaﬁhed Pt
about fhe open Assistant Mafidger position at our store. 1 was inféfested in the
position. Tim offered it to e b told me [ would geiie faise with the
pramotion. Atthat time I was making $11.00 an hout. ['tuméd the position down

., 2
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DECLARATION OF GEORGA LINKOUS-LONG
My name is Georga Linkous-Long, Tam a female, over the age of 21, who
resides in Clover, South Carolina. 1 make this declaration on personal knowledge.
If called to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
My employment at Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) began in approximately
November 2004 at Kay, storc number 688, located in Eastridge Mall in Gastonia,
North Carolina. Iwas promoted to Assistant Manager in approximately
September 2005 at Marks and Morgan, store number 1956, located in Wesigatc
Mall in Spartanburg, South Carolina. 1 remained at store number 1956 until I was
terminated in approximately January 2006, I returned to Sterling in
approximately April 2006 as a Sales Associate at Kay, store number 688, located
in Eastridge Mall in Gastonia, North Carolina, and remained at this location until
I left Sterling in December 2008 when my father was diagnosed with cancer and I
had to relocate closer to his home.
When [ was hired in November 2004, Store Manager Patricia “Pat” Sigmon told
me that Sterfing had a policy which prohibited employees from discussing their
pay with one another. In September 2005, this restriction on employees
discussing i)ay was reiterated to me by Store Manager Kay L.add when |
transferred to store number 1956, and again in 2008 when Store Maﬁager Aurness
Crocker acquired store number 688. T thought my pay should be based on my
experience ﬁnd it was unnecessary to conceal how much I was paid. T did not

complain about the policy to Sterfling management because 1 felt my complaint
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would have been pointless, given that the Store Managers fold me it was a policy
established by corporate and employees had to abide by if.

I believe Sterling’s policy which prohibited employees from discussing pay was
the company’s way of ensuring that female employees did not discover that our
pay was not based on owr experience and male employees were paid mote than
femalc employces with similar experience, I do not believe I was adequately
compensated, consideting my extensive jewelry sales experience. Prior to
Sterling, 1 had approximately 10 years of experience in jewelry sales as well as
previous management experience. In addition, I was Gemology Institute of
America (“GIA”) trained and Diamond Counsel of America ("DCA™)} certified.
Throughout my employment, I complained on almost a monthly basis to Store
Managers Pat Sigmon, Kay Ladd, and Aurness Crocker about my level of
compensation. [ also often complained to District Managers Sue Tagulli and Kim
Wheeler whenever they visited my store. T told them I should be compensated for
the extensive jewelry sales and management experience I acquired before working
at Sterling. The responses [ received were consistent from the Store Managers
and District Managers. They would say, “That is all we can offer.”

I believe male employees with less experience than I had, were paid more than I
was paid, In fact, when Aurness Crocker (m) was Assistant Manager at store
number 688 in 20006, he often bragged to me about how much he was paid at
Sterling. At the time, I was an Assistant Manager at store number 1956 and the
pay he bragged about was more than I received as Assistant Manager. I did not

think it was fair that Mr, Crocker was paid more than me because I had extensive
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jewelry sales and management experience, which he lacked. Mr. Cracker told me
he did not have previous jewelry sales and management experience, and he
worked at Lowes prior to Stetling.

In approximately 2008, District Manager Sue lagulli instructed Store Manager
Aurness Crocker at store number 688 to train me because she planned to promote
me to Store Manager when a store became available, As part of the training, |
shadowed Mr, Crocker on his daily tasks, and one such task was shredding
personnel files of former employees. I noticed that the personnel files contained
“interview sheets” which included employees’ starting pay. Iread some of the
interview sheets and compared the male employees’ with the female employees’
starting pay. After making the comparisons, I realized men were paid more than
women for the same positions in almost every comparison [ did. I asked Mr.
Crocker why the male employees were paid more than the female employees and
he told me, “This is the way Sterling sets pay rates, and I am not going to
challenge it.” His comment made me feel that any attempts to challenge the pay
disparitics would be futile because it is a common practice at Sterling to pay
female employees less than male employees. Mr. Crocker told me that if T
became Store Manager, I had to kecp employees® pay information confidential, 1
felt that he was telling me that even though I may uncover information that made
it clear an injustice existed in the way Sterling paid women less than men for
doing the same job, I could not say anything about it to anyone at Stetling,

I knew, from talking to other Sales Associates and Store Managers, we were able

to sign up on the Career Advancement Registry (“CAR”"} supposedly in order (o
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show what positions we were interested in. However, [ never knew of anyone
that was promoted after posting their interest in obtaining a promotion onto CAR.
When I posted my interest in obtaining a promotion onto CAR in 2006/2007 and
2007/2008, it seemed pointless because neither my Store Manager nor my District
Manager acknowledged the posting. Ifelt as if Sterling did not bother to look on
CAR to determine which employees were interested in advancing at the company.

8. From the time I was hired in November 2004, I expressed interest in obtaining a
promotion throughout my employment. When I was hired, T told my Store
Manager at store number 688 that [ wanted to move up the corporate ladder into
upper management. [ continued fo tell my Store Managers and District Managers
on a monthly basis that T was interested in obtaining a promotion to Store

Manager, but I never advanced beyond Assistant Manager,

I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct,

Signed this Z day of
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I declare, itnder penalty of perjury thaf the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

7 gﬁda}, of CITLEAEN 0 3o,

‘. KarenLapp / //
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DECLARATION OF STEFANIE LOEBERTMAN
My name is Stefanie Loebertman. Iam a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Leominster, Massachusetts, I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to
testify, T would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
In July 2010, I was hired by Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Stetling”) as a Sales Associate at
Kay Jewelers (“Kay™) store 1229, located at Solomon Pond Mall in Marlborough,
Massachusetts, About a year later, I was promoted to Third Key holder, though I was not
given a pay raise at that time. I left Sterling in mid-summer 2012. Prior to working at
Sterling, I had about 10 years of retail sales experience, and worked approximately 2 of
these years in jewehy sales.
During my time at Sterling, I was aware of the company’s policy that employees were not
permitted to discuss pay. Ilearned of this from my Distriet Manager Jennifer Mallonee,
As aresult, it was difficult for female employees to identify instances where they were
paid less than male employees. Nevertheless, I learned that male employees at Sterling
were paid more than female employees to perform the same job duties. For example,
then part-time Sales Associate Maft Kooyomjian told me he was earning more per hour
than what Sales Associate Erin Parmenter had told me she was earning, despite the fact
that she had been working in sales at Sterling for 5-6 years before he started, and he came
to Sterling without any prior jewelry sales experience,
In addition, I believe that female employees were asked to take over job duties for males
in their stores without being appropriately compensated for their work., For example,
around 2011 or early 2012 when Allison Morse was Assistant Manager at store 1229, 1

observed that she was doing much of the work assigned to our Store Manager Michael
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were only 1 out of 6, Not only had has he been retained by the Company, but he has

apparently been given a promotion.

I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this day of

APC'\\ 1< 20
Q ﬂpaf@ W

Stefanje Loebertman
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DECLARATION OF CATHY MALOCNE

1. My name js Cathy Malone. Iam a female, over the age of 21, whe resides in

Mohrsville, Pennsylvania. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If

called to testify, I weould provide the same testimony as stated herein,

. Tworked forat a Kay store from approxzimately 1972 to 1974, as a Part-time Sales

Associate, in the Logan Valley Mall, in Altoona, Pen.nsﬁvania,

. T again worked at a Kay store in 1976, as a Manager Trainee, at the Mall of New

Hampshire, in Mancbester, New Hampshire. In approximately three months I
was promoted to Assistaﬁt Moanager at that store. I comiinued in that position until
1978, when | was promoted to Store Manager of the Kay store in the Beltline
Mall, in Decatur, Alabama. I continved in that posltion unti} 1980, when ¥ was
promoted to Store Manager of the Kay store in the University Mall, in

Tusealoosa, Alabama. I contimied in that position until approximately 1981,
when T transferred as Storé Manager to the Kay store in the Berkshire Mall, in
Wyomissing, Permsylvania. 1 continued as Store Manager there until

approximately July 1989, when ] became a Sales Associaté af that same store.

. T began working for Sterling Jewelers Ine. (“Sterling™) when it acquired the Kay

store in the Berkshire Mall, some time in 1990, when 1 worked there as a Sales
Associate. I confinued working as a Sales Associate there unti} I was laid off in

approximately January 1992,

. Ibegan working again for Sterling in approximately April 1993, at the Kay store

in the Fairground Square Mall, in Reading, Pennsylvania, as a Sales Associate. I

held that position until approximately 1997, when I left the company.
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DECLARATION OF CATHY MALONE
My ndme is Cathy Malonie, 1ari a female, ovér the dge of 21, wha resides i
Mehrsville, Pennisylvania. 1 make this declaration on ]I;erSQnal ¥nowledge, If
catled to tesiify, I would provids the same testimony as stated herein.
T have worked for Sterling Jewelers Inc. for over 20 years, I currently work as a
Sales Astociate at the Kay storg in the Bétkshire Mall in WyoiﬁiSsing;
Pennsylvania,

During my employment with Steiting, I have observed that Sterling discriminates

- against women in pay and promotions. As aresult, {have joined the gender

g

discrimination class action lawsuit against Sterling.
I have observed that Becky Jewart, my éwrent Store Manager, .alsc; hasbeen |
discriminated against'by- Sterling. Jéwart and I have discussed. thaf we Imow that
Sterling had discriminated against both of us because of our gande,r-f

In September 2008, {1alked with Jewart about the: class action génder

* discrinination case arid asked if she kinew #hautit. She replied that she did kinow

aboigt it and wasintétested in joining it but that Steyling had I'il‘aderhc.r sign a,
document fiat says she would not get her amual Store Muanager bonus-if she joing
the case, Jewart said that shi was eftaid that if she joined the case then she would
not be:paid bér“S-tur‘a Manager’s bonus.

The miirial Store Mandger™s bonug, based on the stoie’g.saleg, can ‘:b,é as;gmﬁciant
amount of money for a Store Manager, It comprises  part of ‘the Store Manager's

amiual conpensatinn, and can be in the lens-of thousands of dollars.
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7. When I told Jewart fhat 3t Wes & shatne she would not bé able fo participate in the
case, she replied that she might do.so after. April, oncethe Store Manager banuses

vere puid.

I diénfére-- utider penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and comaet. Signed this

g A qageot. 0T 20608,

L_c‘ftz;’&f /] ngzmuu
Cathy M@T
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DECLARATION OF BARBARA MCCAF FERY
My ﬁamekis Barbara MeCaffery. 1am a feroale, over the age of 21, who :rcsiﬁas 1n New
Castle, Delaware. 1 make this declaration on personal knowiedge, I called tol testi\f‘y; i
~ would pz‘o'\ride the same testimony as stated herein.

1 began working for Stexling Jewelers Inc. {“Sterling”) in July 2007 as a Sales Associate
at the Javed store in Wilmington, Delaware. 1 contirmed in that position until January
2008, when I lefi the company,

Dwring ny employment at Stevling, T observed that Sterfing had a policy prohibiting its
employees from discussing their pay. For example, I was; told by District Manager Jeff
Voder thaf’employee; wete ot to discuss fheir pay with other employees, and fhiat it was
grounds ok discipline. Beoause of that policy, it is difffcult for female'ie:mplldj‘{eesv to
iciéiitiifj.,f'i'ﬁl\s‘rfaﬁéeé"whéi:émEhé&"ivere paid less than méaléemployees performing the sane,
b bt gy . N L b . f g
During m'}f‘.employmcui at Sterling, T ohserved that women also suffered discrimination
because of the manner by which promotions were made. Job openings and promotional
opportunities were not posted via a forral job posting systemn. Prometion decisions
were instead rmade by Sterling’s District Managers via 2 subjective “tap on ﬂle‘shonicjéf”
system, ih-whichlonly those employees that Sterling was interested in p-'r.omoting were
told about specific maneigemani opemings,

T expressed intevést in promotions fo the Diamond Department during my initial |
iﬁéérview‘. [ wanted to be a Sales Associate in the Diamond Department because there is
the ‘oppoltunity to eaih intréabed sales commissions,afidiwatk my way up:to Diamond

:

S -
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we at the store fearned about an incident in which Sterfing managers were naked in a hot
tub af the hotel and engaging in sex.
I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct, Signed this

g:% day of{ ZWQ%; 2013.

o Q/ng 77/ éd%

Carole McDonald
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DECLARATION OF TINA MCDONALD

. My name is Tina McDondld. I am a female, over the age 0f21, whotesides in

New Bort Richey, Florida, I makethis deelaration on persondl knowledge. If
catled to testify, I would provide the samé testimony as stated herein,

. 1 began working for Stcrliné Tewelers Tne, (“Sterling™) in approximately Februaty
1989, when | began working asa Sales Assaciate at the-Kay store in the Gulf

‘View Mall, in Port Richey, Florida. I continued it that position until
approximatefy the fall of 1991, when I iransferred as a Sales Associate to the Kay.
store in the Counitryside Mall, in Clearwater, Florida. 1 continued in that position
uritil approximately 1993, when T was promoted to Assistant Manager of the Kay

sfora in the Crystal River Mall in Crystal River; Florida. I'continued i in that

walis AL KRN

posltzon untﬂ Iwas pEDH;lDth. ta Store Mmagar at that same store, af the end of
1993 I contmued in.the pcrsmon mml approxmlately 1996 whaﬂ I becama the
Store Mangger of the Kay storé in the Lakeland Mall, in Lakeland, Fiorida. I
continued m that pasition unﬁl approximately 2002, when [ became the Stote
Méhlzt-ger of theKay ét-ore m ';che Ci.tms.Park Matl, in Tampa, Fiotida. 1 cbixtfnued
in that position until .approxiﬁlately‘ 2003, when { bécame the Store Manager of
the Marks & Morgav store atthe Gulf View S-ci;uateM:ﬂfi-, in Part Richey, Florida.,
I ci;i:mti’nu;‘eéw m rthat' position ungil approximately 2007, when I was demoted fo
Sale's’ Associate at the Marks & Morgan-store in the Coudiryside Mzll, in
Cieanvater Fionda I mntmued in that pasmon until Decetnber 2007, when

' Starimg ten'nmated my amploymmt.
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4. During my employment with Sterling, T won numeérous awards for my

performance. For example; between 1993 and 2007, L won at Jeast ten bonus teips-
taséd on fuy store’s sales performance under my-manageinent. In 2005, Iwon a

company-wide cystomer gervice awdrd.

. 1observed that Stetling had a policy prohfbifiﬁg,ité employess from discussing.

théit pay. For exanple, T was told by nuy Store Managet When 1 firet began
working for the company ﬂ‘&atiemplq‘yees.are 70t to discuss their pay with other
employeds, and that if was grounds for distipline. As Store Manager, I instructed
my employees not to discuss their pay with offier employees. That policy was
reiterated tome throughout my carcer bjmisr-Distfict Tanagers and other Stere

Managers.

. In 2005, 1 managed the Marks & Morgan store in the Gulf View Mali, in Port

Righey, Florida. Tlearned that tWo employess, Sales Associate ] amies Bartley and
Assistant Manager Ldrvssa Orlando, had been discussing their pay with each
other. Iinfomisd District Manager Dale Bowling, who told ms‘;: that this was 1ot
allowed and fliat they could get disciplined for this, including being fired. I gave

the two employeds a verbal reprithand.

. Bedause of the policy prohibiting employees frorh difcussing their pay, it is

difficult for women {o identify instances where they were paid less than male,
employees performing the same job, Nevertheless, I am aware of men being paid
more then women doing the samé job becavise [ fearned their pay through

gonverdation or in My capacity aé Stove Manager,
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I declare, under penalty of perjury thaf the foregoing is true and correct. S{gned thls

g) day of A \ous T _ﬁ; g, 2008,

.

g__)mmrl | »ﬂJ ao&m

Dana Meadows
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declaration, but signed it on the last page, 1 was not given a copy of the
declaration that I signed, In June 2012, Sterling mailed me a copy of the
declaration I signed. A copy of Sterling’s June 5, 2012 letter and the March 24,
2006 declaration is attached hereto as Exhibit A (hereinafter referred to as the
March 2006 declaration), In June 2012, I read the March 2006 declaration for the
first time, [ was very upset when I read the declaration because it contained false
statements on subjects that were not covered in the interview that [ had with
Sterling’s attorney.

For example, in paragraph 4, it states, “I believe my pay rates have been set fairly
and without regard to gender.” [ do not recall making any statement to this effect
and believe this statement to be false. In any event, I had very limited access to
pay rates during my employnient at Sterling because Sterling maintained a policy
that prohibited its employees from discussing their pay. When [ first started with
Sterling, my General Manager Tad Cyman informed me about this policy and
warned me that T was not allowed to discuss pay with other employees.
Moreover, as an Assistant Manager | enforced this policy in my store. It is
because of this policy that it was difficult for women, including myself, to
identify instances in which we were paid less than male employees similarly
situated to us.

Because I did not have access to Sterling’s pay records prior to March 24, 2006, [
could not have testified regarding whether my pay was set fairly in comparison to
male Assistant Managers. I do know that when I was promoted to Assistant

Manager in approximately 2003, I asked for a base-salary of $40,000, ‘However, [
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I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and cotrect.

i o 13
Signed this 7 day of §ZQ}LLM,1.§,F . 2012-

laws 0 ol

Anna Melton
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DECLARATION OF SUSIE MILLER
My name is Susic Miller, Jama female, over the age of 21, who resides in Orlajﬁdo,
Florida. I make this declaration on personal knowledpe. If called to testify, T would

provide the same testimony as stated hevein.

3 began working for Stetling Jewelets Inc. {“Sterling”) in 1998, as a Sales Associate at

the Jared store in Oviedo, Florida. I continued in that pesition for approximately a -
snonth, when ] was promoted fo Diamond Depa¥h1ue:1t Mlauager at t‘hat same sfore, I
cottinued in that position uniil March or April 1999, when I was promoted to Agsistani
General Manager al that same store. I continued in thal posifion until stomary 2001,
when I was promoted to General Manager of the Jared store in Orlando, Florida, T
confiuned-in that position until the end of Fuly 2005, when I was tasked with opening a
new Jared store in Altamonte Springs, Florida, That Jared store opened in January 2006,
and [ continnied working as General Manager at that stors until March 2007, Tthen
transferred as General Managei‘ to the Jared store in Akron, Ohia. T continued in that
position until Augnst 2008, when I transferted as General Manager of the Jared store in
Kissimmée, Florida, I continued in that position watil March ‘2009, when I went on short
ferm disaiﬁi}ity leave,

During my employmesnt at Sterling, [ observed that Sterling had a policy prohibiting its
employees from discussing their pay. For example, I was fold by my General Manager,
Adnan Ef Batal, when T was first hived that employees wete not to diacilss' their pay with
other employees, and that it was grounds for discip!ine,. including termination. As
General Manager, 1 have t0ld emgifoyees that they should not discuss theix pay with each

other, and that it Was growunids for discipline, including termination. Because of that-
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- manager for over fon.rteen years ab other jewelvy stores, 1 expressed iierest in becoming
a General Manager during my initial interview with General Manager Adnan B Batal, in
1598,

8. 1 continved to express interest in being' promoted to Store Manager after I began working
for Stez‘liﬁg‘ to Bl Batal, and also to my District Manager, ﬁicha1‘d Sumen. Iwas nof told
what [ needed to do in order to be promoted, except to keep up miy performance
standards, Icontlnued o express interest in becoming a Geﬁeral Manager to ﬁishict
Manager Anue Marfe Patton, who replaced Richard Sumen io approximately 1999 or
200(?.

9. Despite being éualiﬁeé for, and expressing interest in being promoted to General
Manager for approximately three fo four years, T was not promoted to General Manager

cuntil 2001,

I declare, mder penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this ;24 day

of Al , 2009.
7/ I

Se

Susie Miller

Page3of 3
CL-STR008841



A165















A166















A167



AMENDED DECLARATION OF ALAN MONG

i 1, Alan Mong, am over the ase of |8, am competent to festify (0 the
foltowing frem my persondl experience and knowledge, snd declars as follows:

2. I was employed by Sterling Jewelers, Inc. (“Sterling™) es a jowelry sales
associate from approximately July 2004 until approximately Oetober 2005, Duiing t%:a;‘
time, | wotked with Faequelyn Boyle, Caref King, Dawn: Eiouthocns, and Marte Wolf at
Sterling owned and operated Jared The Galleria of Jewelry in Brasdan, Flovida.

3. 1 was hired ag a sales associaie by the formes general manager Aaron
Seott al an hourdy mie of $13.50. When [ discovered that T wag hired at 4 hiigi}ffr hoarty
rate than Jacquelin Boyle, Carol King, and Mare Walf, T was more than surprised. [ had
no pHor jéwe}ry experience before working for Sterling whereas each of these women
had substantial jewelty industry experience and established track records working inthe
Jewelsy sales industey.

4. Prior to pry employment with Sterling, my only cormnmission sales and
retai} sales experience involved the selling of laminate floors. [ performed this fine of "
work for about a yeaf and a half. Prior to that. I worked as a fraffic reporter. [ had no .
priov experience in the jewelry indusiry and Hmited experience with commissian and
retail sales before working for Sterling,

3. Jacquelyn Boyle and 1 were hired o few menths apart sand went through
the Sterling training program t(}gethér, Ms, Boyle was good with customer and was quite

_knowledgeable about jewelry dus to her prior employment selling fine jewelry for
Service Merchandise, Additionally, Ms, Boyie has a four-year college degree and

frequently received high standard performancs ratings from Sterling managers. M,
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Bovieand | éere similarty siteated in that we perfoismed substantially eduaﬁ work that
required equal skill, effort, and responsibility woder similar working condifions. This
inciuded generating jewelry sales, providing customer Service, processing credit payment
protection plans and warranties, generating repair sales, énd assigting other sales
aﬁsaciate‘s in e compietian of a sale, Because of Ms. Buyle's education and prior

vlevant work exprerience in the jewelry industry, [ was sucprised to learn that Ms, Bovle
was earning less per hour than T was. | do not believe thare was any non-discriminatory
justification for paying Ms. Boyle fess than me.

6. Carol Kinghas sver twenty-five years of expetiencs seiling fine jewelry
and managing sleres in the jewelry industry, I typically sought out Mz, King wien ¥ had
questious about jewvelry sales or any work-reluted pracedures. Ms. King was by fér the
mest knowledgeable and experienced sales associate at the Brandon. Florida Sterding
store. Ms Kingand T were similarly situated in that we perfornred substantially equat
oK tha'l"‘requimcl equal skill, effort, and responsibility under similar workd ng conditions.
This included generating jeweiry sales, providing costomer service, processing credit
payment profection plans and warranties, generatiog repair sales, snd assisting ather sales
associates in the compleiion ;:rfa sale. [ was infnnﬁed by female employess in my stoce
that Ms. King was paid less per hour than [ was. 1 do not believe there was any non-
diseriminatory justification for paying Ms. King less than me.

7. . Marie Wolf was the lop pro&géer inthe Brandon, Florida Sterling store.
She has reached the millien doliar mails in chcirv sales: an outstanding accomplishment.
! mistakendy believed Ms. Wolf was the highest paid saies agsociate in our store ar;d lazer

legrned that Ms. Wolf was earning less per hour than the fhree misle salzs associaies she
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frequently out performed. Ms, Wolf and [ were simifarty sttoated & that we pearformed

szﬂisrantiailiy aqual work that required equal skill, effort, and responsibility under similar
working conditions. This included gét)erai‘i;jg Jewelry safes, providing customer service,
procesging credit paynient profection plans and warranties, genernting repair sakes, and-
assigting other sales assnciates in the compietfon of a sale. 1 do nat believe thers was
any nog-discrimpinatory justification for paying Ms, Welf less than me.

8. Towards the end of October 2005, L arvived at work ane day to learn that
an attorndy Tepresenting Sterfing wes conducting interviews of employees iu‘m_y‘ store.
We were given po prior notice of this meeting nor given any information regarding the
subject of the meeting, One by ane, each employee was called into the office. thﬁ:&ﬁ it
was my torn, L walked info the office and sat in an empty chair acrass from the atiarney.
Sterling’s Human Reshurces Director, Mary Bllen Menmet, was also present in the office,
Sierling's atidrney asked me questions about Company policies and practices, She asked
mie te confitm emplioyment fnformation, inchuding, but not limited to; my d%:.te:s of
employinent, pirévious work experience and earsings, and my initial and current rates of
pay. As we spoke, the attomey made a few edits to a pre-typed document on her laptop
gompoter. A tha_a conciugio ol the nterview, the attorney priez’;e‘d out the documsnt and
dsked me to read it and gien it

9. The_;- docurment that Sterlmg’s attorney requested T sign was several pages
lamig. 1 reviewed it quickly; still with no indication of why I was being inlerviewead or
why the Sterfing attommey afid my Human Resources Director wanted me to confirm my
staternents i writing. \I do not feel like I had falr opportuniiy ta review the legal

docurpent adequately. Moreover, it was intmidaling sitting i a Company office with the
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Company's head Flunman Resources Divector while an atiowriey asked me guestions abous
my emnployment praciices. [ was miataly foeused on angweting the aflorney’s questions,
signing the document the attorney prepared, and sesuming my work day. I did not know
at the time, that the documnent 1 sipned, which I now know i called a declaration, could
- be used ag,aixis:—t fernale employees of Sievling, likke Ms. Boyle, Ms. King and Ms. Wolf,
- weho I helfeve were not paid fairly. |

10. ] believe that female employees of Sterfing such as Ms. ﬁoyie; Ms. King,
M, Wolf and M. Souta-Coons have beea discriminated against o regards to pay and
promoii-én liecause each of these women did oot récefve the same pﬁy and promotion
benstits as other equally or less quatified thale empldyees who worked i end around

Sterfing’s Brandon, Florida store.

[ deciare under penally of pexjury ithie the foregoing is true aid correet.

Tty
Executed on this &/ 7 day 6f August, 2007,

.ef(/ﬁg,,ﬁ,. o ~ _,:ﬁ;::f‘“‘w\
: P . :

ALAN MONGe ™"
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DECLARATION OF CHRISTOPHER NEWTON
1. My name is Christopher “Chris” Newton. T am a male, over the age of 21, who I‘esides in
Taunton, Massachusetis, I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to testify, I
would provide the same testitnony as stated herein.
2. I began my employment at Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterting”) in approximately May 1997
as a Sales Associate at Beldeu, store number 261, focated in Brockton, Massachusetts. I was
promoted to Assistant Manager in approximately September 1998, and then promoted to Store
Manager in approximately May 2000 at the same store. In approximately January 2001, 1
transferred as Storec Manager to Kay, store number 1245, located in Hanover Mall in Hanover,
Massachusetts. I then transferred as Store Manager in approximately March 2002 to Belden,
store number 383, located in Silver City Galleria, in Taunton, Massachusetts. In approximately
January 2005, | transferred as Manager-in-Waiting to Kay, store number 1283, located in North
Dartmouth Mall, in North Dartmouth, Massachusetts, and I was promoted back to Store Manager
within the same month (January 2005). T transferred as Store Manager in approximately October
2006 to Kay, store number 1218, located in South Shore Plaza in Braintree, Massachusetts, In
approximately August 2008, I returned as Store Manager to store number 1283, and I remained
at this location until T left Sterling in approximately November 2010.
3. District Manager Lou Silva told me when I was hired that Sterling had a policy which
prohibited employees from discussing pay with one another, This policy was reiterated to me by
every subsequent District Manager I worked under as a Store Manager. District Managers Bill
Mooney, Mark Person, Jim Kowalik, and Sonya Wilking told me that as Store Manager, ] had to
tell my employees they could not discuss pay with one another. Under their direction, I told

employees about the policy when they were hired and when they received a pay increase.

Page 1 of 4

CL-STR0O09864



Sterling’s policy against discussing pay was taken very seriously and violation of this policy
could lead to termination.

4, In fact, as Store Manager, I was instructed by District Managers to discipline employees
who violated Sterling’s policy against discussing pay. In approximately 2003 or 2004, a female
Sales Associate [name unknown] a¢ store number 383 told me she and another Sales Associate
discussed their pay while at the store. She made it clear to mie that she discussed her pay with
another Sales Associate, which is a violation of Company policy. I reminded her that she was
told at the time she was hired about Sterling’s policy which prohibited employees from
discussing pay with one another, The Sales Associate’s performance was subpar at the time, but
could have possibly improved with forther training. However, given the seriousness of violating
the policy agamst discussing pay, she was terminated.

5. In approximately August 2007 at store number 1218, I learned from either my Assistant
Manager or District Manager that Sales Associate Diane Thielker had recently discussed her pay
with other Sterling employees. Although I did not witness it, it was brought to my attention
because discussing pay was a setious violation of Company policy. Even though I was aware of
the seriousness, I did not want to issue a written reprimand against Ms, Thielker because she was
one of my best employees and highest performers, Given the seriousness of the violation, District
Manager Sonya Wilking directed me to counsel Ms. Thielker and issue a write-up citing the
violation. A copy of that Employee Counseling Report is attached to this Declaration. My
signature, along with District Manager Sonya Wilking appears on the report. Because Ms.
Thielker was such a good employee, I did not agree that her actions warranted a counseling and
write-up, but I had to follow my District Manager’s orders, My District Manager even dictated

what had to be included in Ms. Thielker’s Employee Counseling Report. The language of Ms.
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Thielker’s Counseling Report was written verbatim from my District Manager’s dictation. When
I tokld Ms. Thielker that I had to counsel her because she violated the policy she stated, “You're
fust one of Sterling’s soldiers,” meaning she recognized that T was following orders from the
District Manager and above. She was right, T was carrying out Sterling’s orders and enforcing the
policy against discussing pay under the direction of my District Manager.

6. Although employees were severely disciplined for discussing pay, I [earned of Store
Manager Ellen Contaldi’s pay because we were friends and discussed pay in private after she left
Sterling. When I replaced Ms. Contaldi at store number 1283 in apprdximately 2008, T was paid
more than she was paid as Store Manager at that store, Ms. Contaldi would not have known that
she was underpaid because Stetling employees were not allowed to discuss pay with one another.
7. At Sterling, promotion opportunities were not posted in the stores, In approximately 2008
Sterling began allowing employees to register their interest in jobs to wirich they might be
inferested in being promoted on the Carcer Advancement Register (“CAR”). As Store Manager, I
encouraged employees to post on CAR, but I honestly did not think it was used for selecting
candidates for promotion. From my experience, considerations for promotion were not
influenced by whether an employee was registered on CAR. Throughout my employment at
Sterling, I observed that promotions were tnade by the District Manager singling out employees
to inform them of promotion opportunities. Not every employee in the store was informed of
promotional opportunities. Even after CAR was implemented, the District Manager typically
knew who would be promoted, irrespective of CAR. As Store Manager at store number 1283,
almost every time an employee was promoted, I was instructed by the District Manager to tell

the employee who had been selected for promotion to post their interest on CAR. This meant the
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complaint against my District Manager, T was afraid to register a complaint about my

lack of breaks, and therefore did not do so.

1 declate, under pewalty of pexfury that the foregoing is true and correct, Signed this_J [ _day
of SeDVeneR. 2009,

Paula Nieto. /"

&
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DECLARATION OF MICHELLE NOLAN

1. My name is Michelle Nofan., I am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Greenwich,. New York. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called
to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein,

2. I began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling™) as an Assistant Manager at:
the Kay store in the Wilton Mall in Saratoga, New York in approximately 2001,
I remained in that store as an Assistant Manager until I left Sterling in
approximately 2007.

3. During my employment at Sterling, I was aware that Sterling had a policy

© prohibiting its emp[byces fiom discussing their pay with other employees, and
that the consequence for violation of that policy could include dismissal, [ was
informed of this policy by District Manager Joanne Falta during my first
interview with her i_n 2001,

4, Because of that policy, it was difficuft for me or other women to identify
instances where they were paid less than male employees performing the same
job. However, I believe that women were paid less than men for performing the
same jobs. Specifically, there was a male Assistant Manager at another Sterling
store in the same mall where I worked (Eric, LNU) and a co-worker of his
accidentally found out what his salary was and then let it be known. Although I
had more experience and my sales were better, his salary was reportedly higher
than mine. Because of Sterling’s policy against discussing this type of

information, I did not mention the discrepancy to my Store or District Manager.
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5. During my employment at Sterling, ! also observed that women experienced
discrimination because of the mamner by which promotions were made. Job
openings and promotional opportunities were not posted via a formal job posting
system. Promofion decisions were instead made by Sterling via a subjective “tap
on the shouldet” system, in which Sterling notified only those employees it was
already interested in promoting about specific management openings,

6. From my first day at Sterling, T was interested in becoming a Store Manager. [
made my interest in a Store Manager job known to my District Manager when I
was hired. Prior to working at Sterling, I had jewelry industry experience at Ed
Levin, Inc., where [ worked in customer service and in quality control for
approximately eight years, I also owned and operated my own restaurant for
approximately eight years. Because of my extensive management experience and
the fact that I had worked in the jewelry industry for many years, 1 believed that
this was a reasonable goal. During my initial interview with District Manager
Joanne Falta, she told me that if T was good, T could win trips, earn lots of money
through commissions and that promotions would follow. T expressed an interest
in having my own store, and Ms. Falta said that as opportunities became
available, T would be able to get my own store down the road,

7. In the beginning of my employment, in approximately 2001-, I was informed by

' Ms. Falta that job vacancies were posted on the company’s e-mail system and that
as openings were annownced, the Store Manager and Assistant Manager were to
discuss these openings with their staff to ascertain who was interested and then

reply to the e-mail with a list of the names of the interested parties. However,
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instructed by my supervisors, that violation of the policy could result in
termination.

Because of this policy, it was difficult for women to determine if they were being
unfairly compensated compared to similarly situated male ermployees. I wasa
good example of this because while I was employed as a full time Sales Associate
and Assistant Manager, | was not aware of what other male employees were paid
for performing the same job I had. However, once | became a Store Manager this
changed. After | was promoted to Store Manager at Kay store, # 84, | found out
from Bill Purkowski, who was the Store Manager at a Rogers store in my same
mall, that he was making considerably more money than I made. In addition,
while working as a Store Manager of the Strongsville, Ohio Rogers store, 1 found
out from a male Store Manager in the Akron/Canton Ohio Market, which was not
far away, that he made a lot m@re salary than | was making even though I had
more jewelry experience than he had. Yet another example of this occurred while
I was Store Manager of the Parma, Ohio Kay store. The male Store Manager of
the I.B. Robinsoen store in the same mall {(Parma Town Mall) where I worked told
me what he earned, and it was more than what I earned. He had no more jewelry
experience than | had.

. During my several years working as a Store Manager at Sterling, 1 was involved
in the initial hiring and initial pay setting for new hires as well as in the promotion
process and salary raise setting for in-store employees. My District Manager and
Regional Vice President made the final decisions on all of these type decisions. 1

know this based on comments made to me by my District Managers. 1 recall on
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DECLARATION OF JOANNA MARRIOTTI ORLANDO
My name is Joanna Mairioiti Orlando. I am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Edinburg, Pennsylvania. T make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to
testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein,
{ worked at Sterling Jewelers Inc, (“Sterling”) from June 2006 through July 2010,
From 2006 through 2007, I worked as a full-time Sales Associate at ].B, Robinson
store 1086 at the Clearview Mall in Butler, Pennsylvania. Then in February 2007, I
was promoted to Assistant Manager of the same store. In February 2009, I was
promoted to Store Manager of Kay store 1128 at the Beaver Valley Mall in Monaca,
Pennsylvania.
As Store Manager, I'was not responsible for setting pay for employees under my
supervision. My iDi_striyct_.Man.a ger._Cargl Davis il_‘!fOrme_d me of my emp}oyees_’ wage
rates. - -
During my time at Sterling, I was aware of a rule against discussing pay. I first learned
about the rufe from my Store Manager Nicole Hunt. When | became Store Manager,
my District Manager Carol Davis told me about the rule again. Around this time,
Regional Vice President John Liebler confirmed the company’s policy when he told
me that we were not supposed to discuss pay. As Store Manager, I enforced the
policy in my store by asking my employees not to discuss pay with each other. As a
result of this rule, it was difficult for me and other female employees to identify instances
where we were paid less than male employees for performing the same jobs.
Nevertheless, I believe that men were pai_d more than similarly e)gpeticnccd women in the

same positions.- -
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Declaration of Elena Padureanu
My name is Elena Padureanu, [am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Hot Springs, Arkansas, T make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called
to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein,
I began my employment with Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) ih September
2007 as a Manager In Training at the Kay store in the McCain Mall in Little
Rock, Arkansas. In this position I floated between this store and the Kay store in
the Park Plaza Mall in Little Rock, Arkansas, In approximately April 2008, I was
pronoted to Store Manager of the new Kay store in the Hot Springs Mall in Hot
Springs, Arkansas, T continued in this position witil November 2009, when I left
employment with Sterling.
Prior to being employed by Sterling, I had over twenty years” experience in the
Jewelry business, including nine years as a Store Manager for Zales, and owning
my own jewelry store for about two years.
While I was employed by Sterling, I camed several awards from the company. T
won an incentive trip my first year as Storc Manager. In 2009, T won a bonus of
$700 based on my performance as MIT at the Kay store in the Park Plaza Mall in
Little Rock, Arkansas,
When I was first hired by Sterling, District Manager Dan Waltchack and the
Regional Vice President Judy Martin told me that it was against policy for
employees to discuss their pay with each other. When my pay was negotiated,
Waltchack told me that my salary was to remain confidential and between him

and me, In approximately 2007 or 2008, Store Manager Loren McKinzie told me
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DECLARATION OF HELEN PAGAN
1. My name is Helén Pagan. Tam a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
- Clifton Park, New York. I make this declaration én personal knowledge. If called
to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.

2. 1worked for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“*Sterling™) from 2004 through 2006 in
Missouri. For approximately seven vears, prior to joining Sterling, | worked 1n
retail jewelry sales for Piercing Pagoda, now a Zales company. For three years [
served as a District Manager overseeing multiple stores and prior to that, worked
as a Store Manager for two years, one year as a Training Manager, two-rnonths as
an Assistant Manager and two months as a Sales Associate. At Piercing Pagoda, [
made about $45,000 per year as a District Manager.

3. When 1 first interviewed for a position with Sterling, I explained that I was
interested in a Store Manager positién, but because one was not open [ was
willing to take the position of Sales Associate until a Store Manager position
became available. Itiold the company when I interviewed that as a Store
Manager, | wanted to make around $45,000 per year becanse that is what I was
pald when I was with Piercing Pagoda. During my interview, Sterling indicated
that I would be able to make $45,000 as a Store Manager.

4. I began working for Sterling in approximately November 20004, as a Sales
Associate atf the Kay’s store in the Crestwood Mall 1n St. Louts, Missouri. I
worked at that store until approximately January 2005 when.I was transferred to
work as a Sales Associate at Kay’s in the West County Mall, in Des Peres,

Missouri, store number 387. In approximately, March 2005, [ was promoted to
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Declaration of Iris 'almer
My narne is Iris Palmer. [ am a fernale, over the age of 21, who resides in
Stockbridge, Georgia. 1 make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called
to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
I was employed by Sterling Jewclers Inc. (“Sterling”) between May 2007 and
October 2010. Tbegan my employment with Sterling as a Manager In Waiting at
the Kay store in the Southlake Mall, in Atlanta, Georgia. 1 stayed in that position
until July 2007, when ! became a Manager In Waiting at the Marks & Morgan
store in the Stonecrest Mall, in Lithonia, Georgia. In August 2007 I was
promoted to Store Manager at that same store. [ stayed in that position until
approximately May 2008, when | became the Store Manager of the Kay store in
the Northlake Mall, in Atlanta, Georgia. I continued in that position until
approximately March 2010, when I became the Store Manager of the Kay store in
the Stonecrest Mall, in Lithonia, Georgia. I worked as Store Manager at that store
until I left employment with Sterling in October 2010.
I won a bonus trip from Sterling in 2009 based on my job performance.
During my employment at Sterling, [ was aware that Sterling had a policy
prohibiting employees from discussing their pay with each other. When | began
working for Sterling, my District Manager, Shannon Short, told me that
employees could not discuss their pay. Even as Store Manager, I was unaware of
employees’ pay unless they were hired during my tenure.
I believe that this policy made it difficult for women to identify instances where

they were paid less than male employees performing the same job. Despite this
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policy, [ became aware of several males being paid more than females in the same
position. [learned their pay in conversation or because they were hired into the
store while I was Store Manager.

For example, a male Sales Associate, whose name [ do not recall, was hired at the
Kay store in the Northlake Mall, in approximately 2008. He started at
approximately $10.00 an hour. A female Sales Associate that was hired around
that same time started at approximately $9.00 an hour. Another female Sales
Associate at that store, who had worked for Sterling for over 20 years, told me she
was barely making $10.00 an hour.

During my employment at Sterling, it was Sterling’s policy not to post job
openings and promotion opportunities at the store or anywhere else where
employees could see such postings. Instead, employees were selected for
promotion through a “tap on the shoulder” system in which an employee selected
for promotion was notified of the opportunity by a Sterling manager. Other
employees found out about openings and opportunities for advancement through
word of mouth, such as when an employee was leaving a store or after Sterfing
promoted someone else.

I was interested in promotions and advancing at Sterling from the beginning of
my employment, and told this to District Manager Shannon Short during my
initial interview. I continued to express interest to Short in becoming a Store
Manager until 1 was promoted to that position. After this, | expressed interest to
District Manager Short in being Store Manager at higher-volume stores and more

desirable locations.
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DECLARATION OF AISHA PARKER
1. My name is Aisha Parker. I am a female, over tHe age of 21, who resides in
Galveston, Texas. 1 make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to testify, I
would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
2. In approximately June, 2008, I began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc.
(“Sterling” or “Company™) as a full-time Sales Associate at Jared, The Galleria of
Jewelry in Webster, Texas (the “Baybrook Store™). After completing my training at the
Baybrook Store, in about August, 2008, Sterling transferred me to the new Jared store in
Pearland, Texas (Store # 1492) which [ helped to open. There. I worked as a full-time
Sales Associate until about January 1, 2009 when I was promoted to Timepiece
Department Manager in the same store, and also acted as Third Key. Iremained in that
position until June 1, 2009 when I had to go on medical leave. 1 returned from medical
leave to Store # 1492 on about August I, 2009 as a Seasonal Sales Associate and have
remained in that position ever since. | remain currently employed with Sterling.
3. Prior to being hired with Sterling, I had approximately three years of sales
experience in the jewelry industry, and had additional retail sales experience in the
clothing industry.
4, Sterling has a policy prohibiting its employees from discussing their rate of pay
with other employees. The Store Manager advised me of this policy when I was hired.
Because of this policy, it is generally difficult for women to identify instances where they
are paid less than male employees performing the same job. However, based on
information I have obtained while working at Sterling, I believe that women are paid less

than male employees performing the same or similar jobs at Sterling.
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Declaration of Jackie Perrin
1. My name is Jackie Perrin. I am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Mission Viejo, California. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to
testify, | would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
2. [ was employed by Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) between March 2008 and
November 2008. 1 began my employment with Sterling as a Manager In Waiting at the
Kay store in the Westminster Mall in Westminster, California. After approximately 2
months, I was promoted to Store Manager at the Kay store in the Laguna Hills Mall, in
Laguna Hills, California. 1 worked in that position until November 2008, when 1 left
employment with Sterling.
3. Before being hired by Sterling, 1 had approximately 20 years’ experience in the
jewelry business, including about 18 years as a store manager for Merksamer Jewelers
and Fred Meyer Jewelers.
4, While I was employed by Sterling, 1 was aware of Sterling’s policy prohibiting
employees from discussing their pay with each other. District Manager Donna Hoffman
told me when I was hired in March 2008 that employees were not allowed to talk about
their pay with each other.
5. I believe that this policy made it difficult for women to identify instances where
they were paid less than male employees performing the same job.
6. During my employment with Sterling, promotion opportunities were not posted at
the store. T learned of Sterling’s online system in which employees could express interest
in types of positions, but I do not believe 1t listed specific job openings. Instead,

employees learned about promotional openings through word of mouth, such as when
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Dectaration of Joanne Philips
1. My name is Joanne Philips. [ am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Worcester, Massachusetts. 1 make this declaration on personal knowledge. [f called 1o
testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
2. I began my employment with Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling™) in approximately
August 2006, as a Store Manager at the Kay store in Millbury, Massachusetts. [n this
position I helped get the store ready for its grand opening. I continued as Store Manager
at that store until approximately November 2009, when T was terminated by Sterling.
3. While [ was employed by Sterling, I was aware of Sterling’s policy prohibiting
employees from diseussing their pay with each other. District Manager Jennifer
Mallonee told me that employees should not talk about their pay with each other, and
violation of the policy was a terminable offense. As Store Manager, I was expected to
enforce this policy, and I told the employees I supervised not to discuss their pay with
each other, and that if they did so they could be fired.
4. This policy made it difficult for women to identify instances where they were paid
less than male employees performing the same job. Even as Store Manager I was not
allowed to know what the employees working in the store were paid. | only Jearned the
starting pay of employees that were hired during my tenure as Store Manager.
5. During my employment with Sterling, it was Sterling’s policy not to post job
openings and promotion opportunities at the store or anywhere else where employees
could see specific openings. Instead, Sterling selected an employee for a particular

promotion, and then a Sterling manager notified that employee of the opportunity. Other
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employees to not discuss their pay pursuant to this policy. As aresult, it was difficult for
female employees to identify instances where they were paid less than male employees
performing the same job.

I believe male einployees at Sterling were paid more than female employees to perform
the same job duties. Yor example, in approximately June 2002, I managed Teddy [LNU],
a Sales Associate, and received complaints from female Sales Associates that Teddy was
paid more than they were paid. As a Store Manager, I was only aware of the pay rates of
the employees I hired. Teddy was already an cmployee of store 675 when I was
transferred there so [ was not aware of his pay rate, but afier working with him, I do
know that he had very little jewelry experience comipared to the female Sales Associates
who complained to ine about being paid less, Tinformed these Sales Associates that it
was against company policy to discuss pay and that I did not have access 1o Teddy’s pay
amount. I also told these Sales Associates that pay raises were based on performance
reviews and encouraged them to keep their performance up, which would allow me to
recommend to upper management that they receive a pay raise in their next performance
review. |

In addition, in approximately 1998, Lisa Ryan, Store Manager of Kay store 1588, told me
that she learned that Barry Bache, Store Manager of Kay store 1587, who had six years
less tenure with Sterling and less jewelry experience than Ms, Ryan, was making more
than she was inaking annually.

In approximately 2001, while Greg Waidmann was my District Manager, he assured me
that I would be given a pay raise of $5,000. My current salary at the time was

approximately $32,000. However, Mr. Waidmann told me that when he made the request
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for my pay raise to his Regional Vice President, Paul Kronic, Mr. Kronic said that I did
not “deserve to make that much” and my pay raise was denied. Meanwhile, I knew I was
not making as much as other male Store Managers. At Store Manager meetings, which
accutred about once a month, I would often overhear male store managers discuss their
pay. This was how I learned that many of the male Store Managers, who were less
qualified than I was, were paid more than [ was paid. In addition, in approximately 2005,
I learned from another Store Manager, Latoya Washington, that Dexryl Borne, a male
Store Manager, who had less tenure with Sterling and less jewelry exberience than I did
was paid more than [ was paid. Ms. Washington learned of Mr. Borne’s pay after
overhearing Store Managers discussing their pay at a monthly Store Manager meeting for
her district.

Sterling did not have a formal promotional process and promotional opportunities were
not posted in the stores. Instead, the District Manager singled out specific employees and
informed them of open positions. If that employee was interested, there was no
application process. Rather, the District Manager would let upper management know.
For example, when I was approached by my District Manager, Brian Land, about the
opening in the Kay store in Valdosta, Georgia, 1 was specifically told to not say anything
about the opening to anyone. I was then immediately transferred to the Valdosta store.
In other words, no opportunity was given to other employees to apply for this position.
Very few women were selected for promotional opportunities to management and I
believe women were discriminated against with respect to proinotions at Sterling. 1
repeatedly let my District Managers know that I was interested in being promoted to

District Manager. However, I was never selected for a promotion, even in light of my
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During my time at Sterling, I was aware of a company policy against discussing
pay. During my orientation I was told by my Store Manager Deena Pilcher that
co-workers are not allowed to discuss wages with one another, and I believe that
this practice made it difficult for women to learn when they were being paid less
than men for comparable work. My general sense was that at Sterling, if you
were not a man, you were not going to be paid fairly.

One example of unfair pay differences was brought to my attention around 2005.
Shortly after I left Sterling in 2005, T ran into former Sterling Store Manager
Chuck Scherbring shortly after he had also lelt the company. He mentioned that
Sterling had paid himn better than the company where he had worked prior to that.
Then he told me what he had been earning at the previous company, and I was
able to deduce approximately how much he earned as Store Manager of store 387
at Sterling. Months after this conversation, I was talking with Sterling Store
Manager, Helen Pagan who had by then replaced Mr. Scherbring as Store
Manager of store 387, and she mentioned to me how much she was earning.
Recalling my conversation with Mr. Scherbring, 1 realized that he had been
earning about $10,000 more than she was in salary despite the fact that both Store
Managers had, to my knowledge, about the same experience. | told Ms. Pagan,
who was surprised that he had been earning so much more money than her as
manager of the same store.

During my time at Sterling, promotional opportunities were not formally posted in
stores. Instead, openings were spread by word of mouth. I observed that

Sterling’s process of promotion into management disfavored female employees.
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DECLARATION OF ELLEN S. PURDY
1. My name is Ellen S. Purdy. Tam a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Palmetto, Florida. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to testify, T
would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
2. I began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling” or “Company™) in 1987 at
Osterman Jewelers, Store 174, in Indianapolis, Indiana. There, T began working in the
office, then became a Sales Associate, and then became Assistant Manager. In
approximately November 1989, | was transferred to an Osterman’s in Springtield, Ohio
and became the Store Manager of that store. In 1990, I was transferred to another
Sterling store in Marion, Indiana and worked there as a Store Manager until 1991, when I
was transferred back to Osterman Store 174 as Store Manager. In 1992, I was transferred
to Osterman Store 172, also located in Indianapoiis, and was the Store Manager there. In
1993, Sterling transferred me to a Kay Jewelers and demoted me to Assistant Manager. T
remained at Kay’s as Assistant Manager until approximately 1996 when I left Sterling to
work for Zales as a store manager. | remained at Zales for approximately three years,
working as a store manager, and then came back to work for Sterling as a Sales Associate
at Osterman Jewelers, Store 174. Sterling then transferred me to Osterman Store 172 to
work as the Assistant Manager. In 200.0, 1 transferred to Kay Jewelers, Store 367! in St.
Petersburg, Florida where [ worked as a Sales Associate and was paid an hourly rate of
approximately $13.00 or $13.25. In approximately 2004, 1 became the Office Manager at
Store 367. I remained at Store 367 until the Fall of 2006 when Sterling offered me the

Store Manager position at Marks & Morgan, a low volume store in West Shore Plaza in

! Terry Chandler was initially the Store Manager when I came to Store 367, then Tadd Simon became the
Store Manager, and then Pamela Bennig. Dale Bowling was the District Manager.
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4, During my employment at Sterling, I also observed that women suffered
discrimination because of the manner in which promotions were made. Job openings and
promotional opportunities were not posted via any formal job posting system. Qualified
and interested employees had no way to formally apply for promotional opportunities.
Rather, Sterling utilized a “tap-on-the-shoulder” method of promoting. Because of the
manner in which promotions were made at Sterling, employees would not necessarily
know if a management position was opening and there was never an opportunity to apply
for the position. Promotions to management positions were “hush hush,” and an
employee who was offered a promotion was generally told to keep the promotion quiet
until Sterling announced it. By the time an employee interested in being promoted found
out about an opening in management, the position had usually been filled already.

5. Until approximately 2007, there was no formal way for an employee to register
his or her interest in being promoted. In approximately 2007, while T was working as the
Store Manager of Marks & Morgan at West Shore Plaza, Sterling started the Career
Advance Register (“CAR”} where an employee could register his or her interest in being
promoted. However, as far as [ am aware, CAR did not notify employees of particular
positions opening, nor did it enable employees to apply for a particular position. Sterling
did not widely publish or promote CAR. I believe Sterling sent an email about CAR,
however, as Store Manager, 1 was never trained on CAR, nor were any of the emplovyees
in my store. In fact, most, if not all Sterling employees with whom 1 worked thought
CAR was a joke. 1f Sterling wanted to promote someone, it would promote someone
regardless of whether the person was making their standards or not. However, if Sterling

did not want to promote someone, it would use the person’s standards as an eXcuse as to
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discuss my declaration, and advised me that I was not required to speak to counsel for
either Sterling or the arbitration claimants and that I could end discussions at any time.
Sterling also advised me to contact a “Christina Janice at (303) 665-6168” if I had any
“concern{s] about how [I was] being treated by either [Sterfing] or attorneys representing
individuals suing [Sterling] in relation to this matter.” Sterling did not inform me that
Ms. Janice is an attorney ot that she had represented Sterling in this case.

12. 1 found the language in Sterling’s letter telling me that I had signed the attached
declaration under oath intimidating. Idid not remember the document Sterling attached
as my declaration, and did not agree with the paragraphs therein (see §f 1, 19, 20) stating
the declaration was signed voluntarily, without threat or coercion and that I was not
required to provide the testimony in the declaration. Nor did I believe that Sterling would
not retaliate against me (see 9 19). Further, I did not agree with Y 6 and 8. 1had
complained about my rate of pay to my manager and had heard others complain about
their rate of pay due to their gender, such as Pamela Bennig, In addition, when I first
came to Florida, it was widely known and discussed amongst employees in the district
that Sterling promoted many more males than females to Store Manager under Bowling.
I feared losing my job and did not feel I had a choice but to sign the statement Sterling’s
attorney(s) handed me. Further, I was in quite a bit of discomfort and on pain medication
when Sterling’s attorney(s) interviewed me and procured the declaration from me on

March 21, 2006.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing Declaration is true and

. ; /
correct. Signed this /() day of }97&5_? - ,2012.@

EHen S. Purdy
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During my employment at Sterling, I observed that women ‘afso suffered digerimination
because of the manner by which _promotions were made. Job openings and promotional
opportunities were not posted via a formal job posting system. Promotion decisions
were instead made by Sterling management via a subjective “tap on the shouwlder™ systan,
in whic;b Sterling notified those employees it was already interested in promoting ahow:
specific management openings.’

I was interested {n promotions into management from the beginning of my eniployment
at Sterﬁng‘. I e:xpi'essed this inferest during my initial interview with District Mauager
Frin LaBranch, District Manager Marcia Hayes, and Store Manager Janis Labeﬂe. A
LaBranch asked me what I hoped for at Sterling, and I said, *“Your job,” T also-told them
that Twas willing t6 relocate for a promotion, I was told by LaBranch that T would be
brought into management, buot that first T had to be traiﬁed as a Sales Associate. At that
time, I had about five years’ expericnee as a diamond and jewel wholesaler, and ran my
own retail jewelry stoye.

1 continued fo express nterest in bel n.g promoted into management. 1 told my first Store
Manager, Janis Labelle, that T wanfed to get intc management. Labelte told me that I
would be in management within six months, She started informally training me for
manageinent, but I was nof put into Sterling’s Management Training System.

Despite being qualified for, and interested in, promotions into managemsnt, I was not
told by anj of my supervisors about available Assistant Manager positions.

1was passed over for promotion to Assistant Manager in favor of a less qualified male in
2007, Ilearned after the position was filled that there was an open Assistant Mansager

position at the Osterman store in the Lima Mall. Instead of promoting e, Sterling
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DECLARATION OF SHERRY ROBERSCGN

1 I, Sherry Roberson, am over the age of 18 and amh competént to testify to
the following froin my personal experfence and knowledge, #nd declare as follows:,

2. 1 was recrufted by Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling™} in approximately.
September 2003 fo ch?k as & Sales Associate-at Jared the Galleria 6f Jewelry (5°T. aved” } in
Orland Park, Hfinois. In approximately Febiuary 2004, I was promoted i Timepiece
Dépaﬁménf Manage: of this store. Tn approximately Apitl 2004, I Was promoted to
Asgisttit Manager of the Jared in St. Charles, Tineis. In-approximately Apiil 2005, 1
wa$ promoted to Assistant Manager of a larger volume Jared siore in Aurora, [Hincis. It
approximately Tune 2006, I ransferred to Tatnpa, Florida fo be the Assistant Manager of
the Jared in Tampa, Florida it the Citrus Park ares. ['held fhat position until I resigned in
approximately May 20607,

3 When my District Manager Allen Ruffner offered we the
Asgistant Manager position of'the Jared in St. Charles, Ifiinols in approximately April
2004 at a base salary of $35,000, 1 thought that this starting salary secemed low forthe

. Assistant Manager postiion. 1 said as much to Ruffner; however, Ruffner assured me that
all S!efiii:é,Assisfﬁnr Managers receive a starting base salary of $35,000 per year, so I
aceepted the position with that salary based on this representatiorn.

3. 1 hiad no way fo defermine if the salary 1was offered for the Assistant
Managgr position was indeed the same as the salary offered to other Sterling Assistant
Mafidgars because Sterling does not disclose pay grade information ¢r pay guidelines to
its employees. In fact, Stefling had a policy throughout my employment that prohibited

erployees frony discussing their pay. As an Assistant Manager of several Jared stores in
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and 28 a result few employees utilized thess progiams dufing fny employment with
Sterling.
I declare ander penalty of perjury that the foregoirig statement. is true and

cotrect. Dated this /4" day of Novernbe, 2008.

LeisfRibersgr.
AHERRY RUBERSON
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5 Prior to Ms. Read being denled the promotion to Assistart Manager in
May of 2007, | had enmu;agsd_ Adr, Seott to conaider Ms, Reed for 2 management
pugition. However, Mr, Seolt En'f:armed e that Ms. Reed woid severs C}Eﬁa%a 4
managerment sosktion with Sterling agaim.

& After Ms. Reed had {ormally applied for the Assistant Managee position,
Store Managers Suzsnne Mulholtand, Larry Ogburn and Avind Mohip all independently
ackncwledged ro me that Ms, Reed's involvemem In pursing an EEQC e_:h&rgc' of gender
diseriminastion was the veason sha did gt recetve the promoetion (o Assistant Manager.
M, Mulholland, aty former Stove Mansger and Ms. Reed’s currens Store Manager in
Flotidz, informed me that Ms. Keed would maost Hkely aof receive the Assistan Manages
positton she appled for beeauss of her Involvement is this cage. Mr. Osbuen, 2 Store
Menager in Dallag, Texas, who ! have spokenr swith regultarty aboat work relued matiers,
oospterenicd that Ms, Read was “done with e Corgpany.”  Likewize, my former Siore
Manager Avind Moldp confirmied that Ms. Reed has no fusure #ith S‘ﬁe:\&ﬂg becuuse of
her pariicipation in this legal action.

7. 1 believe Ms. Reed was not firly considered for the Assigtant Manager
positien she interviewsd for i approximately Ma};" 2007 and '{E{&E she has been retaliated

against for filing 2 Charge of Discrintinagion.

{ deciare ender penalty of perjury that the foregeing statement is true and

cosrect. Dhated fhis<2 e ddy of August, 2007,

} -
rd

AT S
TMULALP KL
# SHERR /BCBERSON
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I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

day of Mau\ oy , 2008.

Antoh}ﬂﬁe Roberts
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DECLARATION OF AYISHA ROBERTS

My name’is Ayisha Roberts, [ am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in Norfolk,

- Virginda. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called fo testify, I wm;ld .

provide ﬂ;e same testimony as stated herein.

I began v.;ork'mg for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling™) in October 2000, as an oﬁce
worker/sales associate at the JB Robinson stoxe in the Greenbrier Mall, in Chesapeake,
Virginia. I coniinued in that position until approximately the summer of 2001, when I

became seasonal sales help at that sams store, I continved in ihat position unti! December

2002, when I left the company.

. While employed at Sterting, it was my understanding that Sterling had a policy prohibiting

employeés from discussing their pay,

While enmiployed at Sterling, T observed that openings and promotional opportunities were
g;pt_ posted via a formal job posting system, Promotion dccisioné ;.v-;x‘e. "instead made by
Sterling’_s; District Manag;rs viaa ;'subjective “tap on the shoulder” system, in which Stexling
notified only those employees it was already interested in promoting of specific
management openings,

For examialc, I worked in the office and overheard conversations between District Manager
Al Kramer and Store Manager Milli Rodriguez. 1 heard Kramer ask Rodriguez about who
should bé‘- sent from her store fo fill a position at the Marks & Morgan store at the same mall

as our JB,,Robinson store.

1 declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregomg is true and correct, Signed this I 5

R

day of, Jwﬂuw}; 2009,

e "‘M}??
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Declaration of Margaret Robeits
My name is Margarct Roberts. [ am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Bella Vista, Arkansas. [ make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called
to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein,
I began my employment with Sterling Jewelers Inc. {(“Sterling”) in October 2006
as a Sales Associate at the Kay store in the Pinnacle Hills Promenade Mall in
Rogers, Arkansas. After approximately a year, I was promoted to Third Key at
this same Kay store. After working as Third Key for a year, in approximately
2008 or 2009, I was promoted to Assistant Manager at this store. I continued in
this position until October 2009, when I was demoted to Sales Associate, In
December 2009, I left employment with Sterling.
During my employment with Sterling, Sterling did not post job openings and
promotion opportunities at the store. Instead, Sterling selected an employee for
promotion, and a Sterling manager then notified that person of the opening. For
example, Store Manager Kathy Reddin approached me for both my promotion to
Third Key and to Assistant Manager at the Kay store in the Pinnacle Hills
Promenade in Rogers, Arkansas, Neither of these openings were posted; rather
Reddin asked me if T was interested, and I accepted the promotion before other
employees even knew there was an opening.
Other employees found out about openings and opportunities for advancement
through word of mouth, such as when an employee was leaving a store or after

Sterling promoted someone else.
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5. Despite claiming a “zero tolerance” policy for using Sterling’s TIPS line, T
experienced retaliation after doing so. 1 called the TIPS line to complain about a
male Sales Associate, Blake Sandridge, in Scptember 2009, He came to work
late, texted on the sales floor, did homework at the store, took unauthorized
breaks, and sometimes yelled at other employees. On several occasions I
discussed Sandridge’s behavior with Store Manager Kathy Reddin. As Assistant
Manager I supervised Sandridge when we worked together, Despite Reddin’s
promises to talk to Sandridge, his behavior continued. Finally, T called the TIPS
line and complained about the sifuation. Soon after, in October 2009, I was
abruptly demoted to Sales Associate.

6. I complained to Tom Parks and Mary Ellen Mennett from Sterling’s Human
Resources about being demoted for apparently using the TIPS line, which Sterling
promoles as an appropriate way to bring concerns to the company. I did not get
any relief from Human Resources and left employment with Sterling in December

2009,

I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct, Signed this

Jﬁ{ day of ilpe 2013,

Mg Roblste

Margal‘gt Roberts
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3. Prior to joining Sterling, I worked in jewelry retail sales at Macy’s in the Fine
Jewelry Department and at Ben Bridge Jewelets in Nevada. While at Sterling I earned
my Diamond Council of America (DCA) certification, and I was a President’s Club
member twice in 2006 and 2007, and 1 was rated number one in sales when 1 worked at
the Jared stores in Henderson, Nevada and Gilbert, Arizona, In addition, four of the
Diamond Sales Associates undet my direct supervision were also made President’s Club
members in 2006 and 2007. I left Sterling for a period from carly 2003 through
December 2005, during which time 1 gained additional experience in the retail jewelry
industry at Nordstrom, Gordon’s, and at a Fred Meyers store, where [ was promoted to
store manager. [ returned to Sterling in December 2005 as a Diamond Sales Associate.
4. During my time at Sterling, I knew about the Company’s policy against
discussing pay which my District Manager David Light told me about. Tbelieve that this
policy made it difficult for women to learn that they were paid less than their male
counterpatrts. Nevertheless, 1 believe that female employees were paid less than less
equally or less qualified male employees working in the same or a similar position, For
example, in 2007 when I was working as Diamond Department Manager at store 2414 in
Gilbert, Arizona, I believe that Sales Associate Randy Rowland was paid more than me,
even though he was in a lower position. I learned this when he was. talking about his
desire to take another job where he would earn more money, and he told me what he was
paid. It was more than [ was making.

5. I complained to District Manager David Light that this was unfair because [ was a
higher seller and a Department Manager, and I achieved higher standards than M.

Rowland. For instance, I got 5 out of § on my standards, but I was able to see from our
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DECLARATION OF CHERYL ROPER

1. My name is Cheryl Roper. I am a female, over the age of 21, who resides 11'1 L.ak_e
Station, Indiana. T make this declaration on personal knowledge, If called’ I@p
testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein, ‘

2. Ibegan working for Sterling Jewelers Ine, (“Sterling™) in approximately .
September 2002, as a seasonal sales associate at the Ostérman sfore in the
Soutﬁlake Mall in Mextiliville, Indiana. I continued in fhat position for
approximately two years until I became a full-time Sales Associate. I remained in
that position until approximately September 2007 when 1 left the company.

3. Whileat Steﬂinél won nurerons credit appﬁcation contests and received
recognition from corporale for customer satisfaction.

4 When e st hited, my Stbfe Manager, Dotina Orosz, told me that T was not to
show my pay st 6o o HiSTe iy pay Wit Hnyoht!"F was.dlso infotmed bya -
sales associate naed Nate Liubakka that Ms. Orosz had told him that if he
discussed his pay with anyons i was grounds for termination. Because of that
poli(:y, itis }difﬁrcult for women to identify instances where they were paid less
than mate employees performing the same job. Nevertheless, I am aware of men
being paid mere than women doing the same job,

5, ‘When [ was hired T had at least nine years of sales experience, including as a
managéri howevar, Stedling onty paid me approximately 88.50 an hour. I did not
recciv’u; any sélary increases during my first two years of employment, and later
":'rgi;,'c;ivéa oniy: 1 Thises o 6F $.50 cetd afil aiother of $.35 conts.’ T was paid

“approximately $9/35 at the tiitle I Teft thechmipany. 7> xis - -
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I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

o
3L dayof \) i {L/ _,2008. ‘

VS50

Page 4 of 4

CL-STROC8900



A204












A205





















afiaid of retaliation for calling the hotline but they had said it would not happen, Istarted
having chest pains, and got up to leave and take iny heart medication. Kennedy angﬁly
said, “Sit down right now or you are going to lose your job!” Tsaf down. Kgnnedy tried
to get mle to accept a position in the jewelry repair section, émd T said T conld not take that
job because my doctor had wained me that T could not wotk around chemicals and strong
odors {which ate in the reﬁair section). Kennedy tded to get me fo sign a paper saying [
refused the position. told Kenne{iy that | needed to take my medication and that I
wanted to call the hotline. Kennedy was furfons and told me to turn in my keys, clock .

out, and leave the store immediately,

. th
I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is frue and correct. Signed this 8 day of
S Ane k2009,

S(Md)w SQJLSMi'

Sandra Satgent
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DECLARATION OF JANIS SARHAN

1. My name is Janis Sarhan, [am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in

Smyrna, Georgia, 1 mal;e this declaration on personal knowledge. ¥ called to
testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated hereisi, |

1 began working for Sterling Tewelers Inc. (“Sterling™) in approximately
December 2000 at the Kay store in the Cumberland Mall, in Atlanta, Georgia, as
the Office Manager. 1 continued in that position until April 2001, when I left the
cbmpaﬂ_%.

I retinned to employment with Stetling in approximately November 2002, as a
Sales Associate at the Kay store in the Cumberland Mall, in Atlanta, Georgia, 1
continyed in that position uniil the spring of 2003, when 1 transfeered as 2 Sales
Associate o the Marks & Morgan store at that same mali, [ continued in that
position antil approximately August 2003, when I left the company.

During my employment af Sterling, I was aware that Sterling bad a policy
prohibiting ifs employees from discussing their pay. Because of that policy, it is
difficult for women fo identify instances where they were paid less than male
employees performing the same job.

During iy employment at Sterling, I observed that openings and promotional
opportunities were not posted via a formal job posting system. Promotion
decisions were instead made by Sterling’s District Managers via a subjective “tap
on the shouider” system, in which only those employees that Sterling was already

interested in promoting were told of specific management openings.
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I deciare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and cotrect. Sigued this

([th ayor Fe heuary 2088 2007

tnerees sda L)

Janig Sarhan
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DECLARATION OF ANNE MARIE SCALETTI

. My name is Arne Marie Scalstti. I am a female, over the age of 21, who resides

i, Amesbury, Massachusetts. T thake this detlaration on persondl knowledge. If
callgd fo testify, I would provide the same festimony as stated herein.

1 began ‘working for Sterling Jewelers Yo, (“Sterling™) in Septermber 2007, as &
Sales Associate at the Kay stare in the Northshore Mall, in Peabedy,
Massachugetts. I cofitinuad in that position fora couple miehths, watit I
trarisferved o the Kay store in the B’iiriington Mall, in Burlingfoh, Massachusetts.
I continued in tﬁat position unti approximately January 2008, when T transferted
back to the Kay store in the Northshors Mall. Icontinued in that position until
October 200.8?.‘when Sterling terminated my eruployntent.

[ betved that Sterling had a policy prohibiting ifs emiployees from discussing
thsir ﬁ_ay with ééﬁh oﬁjer. For example, when I fitst began my empibyznent with
Stcxt}_iﬁ_é, I was told by Store Manager Scott Peletier and District Manager Jim
Rowalik that employees are net to diseuss theirpay with other employees, and
_that-'it was grounds-for diséipline. Becauss oF that policy, it is difficult for womett
t6 identify instances wher&-'thcy ‘were paid less than male ¢mployees performing
the same job,

Women also suffered discrimination at Sterling becanse af the manner by which
promotians were mzde. Job openings and promotional opportunities Were oot
posted via a-formal job posting systém. Promotion decisions Were instead tiade
B‘jr: Stetling’s Diétﬂ’d :I\;‘Iah‘ﬂ gers E'B.Iiﬁi Vice Presidefits ‘viﬁﬁ'a &by é‘fz;’iiiirie"‘ta“p on the

shioulder” sys‘rezi;x,' in which Sterling notified orily those employees it was alteady
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DECLARATION OF CHARLES SCHERBRING
My name 1s Charfes *Chuck’ Scherbring. [ am a male, over the age of 21, who
resides in St. Charles, Missouri. [ make this declaration on personal knowledge.
If called to testify, T would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
I worked at Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) between January 2003 and January
2005. 1 started as a Manager in Waiting in Mid Rivers Mall at Kay store 126 in
St. Peters, Missouri. Around April of that year, | was transferred as Manager in
Waiting to South County Mall at Kay store 125 in St. Louis, Missouri. After one
month, I was told there were no Store Manager openings in that store. I felt that
the company had misled me about my job prospects, and I subsequently quit.
Approximately one week later, my District Manager Sheryl Urekar asked me to
come back to Sterling. I was given the job of Store Manager at West County
Mall, Kay store 387 in St. Louis, Missouri, where I remained until T left the
company for the second and final time in 2005. Prior to Sterling, I had over
twenty years of experience in retail, including nearly nineteen years as a manager,
and four years in the jewelry business as a Store Manager at Helzberg Diamonds.
As a Store Manager at Sterling, I did not have the authority to set pay for
employees. Final decisions about those matters were made by someone higher up
in the company.
While I worked at Sterling, I was aware of a company policy against discussing
pay. As Store Manager [ was instructed to enforce this policy among my
employees. When I was hired as Store Manager, my District Manager

specifically told me not to tell anyone what I was earning.
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DECLARATION OF MELISSA SEIGER

1. My name is Melissa Seiger. I am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Sinking Spring, Pennsylvania. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If
called to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.

2. Inapproximately October, 2000, I began working for Sterling Jewelers, Inc.
{(“Sterling™) as a full-time Sales Associate at Kay’s Store # 1102 in
Wyommissing, Pennsylvania. | remained in that position until 2004, when [ was
promoted to Assistant Manager of that store. T was promoted to Store Manager of
Kay Store # 1124 in Exton, Pennsylvania in July, 2006. My next position was
Store Manager of the Belden’s in Wyommissing in 2007, My last job at Sterling
was Store Manager of the Fairgrounds Kay Store in Reading, Pennsylvania.

3. During my employment at Sterling, I was aware that Sterling had a policy
prohibiting its empléyees from discussing their rate of pay with other employees,
and that it was grounds for termination to do so. I was told this by my Store
Manager, Richard Difrancesco, when I was first hired in 2000. As a Store
Manager, [ was also expected to tell new hires in my store about the policy and to
warn them that violating the policy could result in termination. I was told to do
this by my District Managers, Anita Chilcoat and Ron Robinson.

4. Because of that policy, it was generally difficult for women to identify instances
where they were paid less than male employees performing the same job.
However, based on information I obtained while in my jobs at Sterling, I do
believe that women were paid less than male employees performing the same or

similar jobs at Sterling.
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5. For example, | was earning approximately $14.50 per hour when | was promoted
to Assistant Manager of the Wyommissing Kay Store in 2004. However, I am
aware of another male Assistant Manager named Robert Kassas who worked at
Belden Store # 291 in my mall who earned substantially more than [ earned even
though I had several more years experience at Sterling. [ learned about Mr.
Kassas® pay from him.

6. Another example occurred in 2009 when [ became aware that a male Assistant
Manager at my Belden Store # 291 was paid $16.00 an hour as a starting salary.
This was not fair compared to what | had made at Store # 1102, which was a
much larger volume store.

7. During my employment at Sterling, I also observed that women suffered
discrimination because of the manner by which promotions were made. Job
openings .and promotional opportunities were not posted via a formal job posting
system. Qualified and interested employees had no way to formally apply for
promotional opportunities. Promotion decisions were instead made beginning
with Sterling’s District Managers notifying only those employees it was already
interested in promoting about specific management openings. This system only
changed in approximately 2007 when Sterling started the Career Advancement
Registry (“CAR™), which was supposedly a way for employees interested in
promotions to show that interest. Even afier the CAR program began, it was not
applied in a manner consistent with how Sterling had said it was supposed to
operate. For example, | am aware of a few instances where I was told by my

District Manager, Anita Chilcoat, to tell employees who had already apparently
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1.

DECLARATION OF MELISSA SHADE
My name is Melissa Shade. I am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
West Lawn, Pennsylvania. [ make this declaration on personal knowledge. If
called to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.
1 began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) in late 1998 at Kay Store #
1102 in Wyomissing, Pennsylvania as a part-time Sales Associate, [ became a
full-time Sales Associate in late 1999 and stayed in that position until Tuly, 2007,
when I resigned. I next worked for Sterling in September, 2009 for about one
month as a full-time Assistant Manager at Belden’s store # 291 in Wyomissing,
Pennsylvania. Iwent from that job fo a full-time Sales Associate job in that store,
leaving Sterling in June, 2010. I last worked for Sterling for approximately one
month as a seasonal Sales Associate in December, 2010 at the Park City Mall Kay
store in Lancastet, Pennsylvania.
When I was initiaily hired at Sterling, my Store Manager told me that I was not to
discuss my pay with other Sterling employees. This was Sterling’s policy the
entire time I worked for it. Even though Sterling had the policy, T became aware
of what some of my co»workeré were paid.
While employed at Store # 1102 between 1999-2007, I was generally the lowest
paid full-time Sales Associate. Several male full-titne Sales Associates were paid
higher rates of pay even though they had less seniority than I at Sterling and were
no better Sales Associates than T was. Some of the male Sales Associates I recall

who made miore than I incladed Brian (I.NU); Holland Franks and Robert Kassas.
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8. “You know how the women around here are.” I interpreted this as his attempt to
forge a bond with me as a male fo the exclusion and in derogation of women in our

workplace.

T declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Signed this /4 day of j&[/\/@ , 2013,

L St

Daryl Shélton
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6. Iwas interested in promotions into management, and expressed this inferest to my
Siore Managers throughout my employment with Sterling, For example, I fold
Store Manager Rachel (LINU), in approximately 2004, that | wanted fo work my
way into management. Rachel did not fell me what [ needed fo do or learn in
order fo be promoted.

7. Talso expressed inferest in management in approximately 2003, fo my next Store
Manager, Jean Luc Ballet. He told me to expz’éss this inferest to the Disirict
Mauager, Cher Pappapietro, I then told Papbapietro that T was interested in
becoming an Assistant Manager or Store Manager.

8. During my employment with Sterling, I was never approached by management. |

about any opeﬁ Third Key or Assistant Manager positions.

1 deélére, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

< :‘“\“‘
DA dayof L )oYeasw, 2008,

(gl
Joyf SHyff

Y

PageZof 2

CL-STR008918



A213



DECLARATION OF DEBRA SHULMAN

1. My name is Debra Shulman. I am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Orlando, Florida. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to
testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.

2. Ibegan working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) in June 2004, at the Kay
store in the Mission Valley Mall, in San Diego, California, as a Sales Associate. I
worked in that position until I was promoted to Third Key, in approximately
September 2004. I continued in that position until I left the company in June
2006.

3. T observed that Sterling had a policy prohibiting its employees from discussing
their pay. For example, during my initial interviews in June 2004, Store Manager
Deanne Castle and District Manager [Jane Doe 1] told me that [ was not allowed
to tell other employees how much I was paid. I was told that it was a private
matter between my District Manager and myself. Further, I was told that I could
get fired for violating this policy.

4. Because of Sterling’s policy, it was difficult for female employees at Sterling to
identify instances in which they were paid less than similarly qualified male
employees doing the same job.

5. Intwo years of employment with Sterling I did not receive a raise, even when |
was promoted to the Third Key position. During the Christmas 2005 sales season,
I was the top seller in the store. When I had my performance review the
following April or May, I received a good review. However, I did not receive a

raise. In May 2006, I asked District Manager [Jane Doe 1] why I did not receive
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a raise, and she offered no credible reason why I did not receive a raise. [Jane
Doe 1] told me that there was nothing she could do. I called Sterling’s TIPS line
and complained about not receiving a raise. I was told that they would investigate
the situation. I also called Sterling’s Human Resources, and complained about
not getting a raise. Human Resources told me that my pay was up to my District
Manager. I left the company because of what I believed was discrimination in
pay.

6. During my employment with Sterling, my Store Manager, Deanne Castle, told me
that she was paid less than male Store Managers in the district.

7. I was interested in promotions into management from the beginning of my
employment with Sterling. Prior to Sterling, I had been a Store Manager of
Claire’s Boutique for approximately 5 years. I expressed interest in promotions
into management during my initial interview with District Manager [Jane Doe 1].
I also expressed interest in promotions to my Store Manager, Deanne Castle,
throughout my employment with Sterling.

8. During my employment with Sterling, I also observed that job openings and
promotional opportunities were not posted via a formal job posting system, nor
were they available to look at anywhere I knew of. Instead, employees learned of
promotional opportunities by Sterling’s District Managers via a subjective “tap on
the shoulder” system, in which only the employees Sterling was interested in
promoting learned of the opening.

9. For example, after I had worked at Sterling for approximately a month, District

Manager [Jane Doe 1] approached me about an Assistant Manager position at the
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- that I was inferested in beconting an Assistant Manager, but felt that I was still in
fraining. Itold Tate that [ wanted to do a good joE for the company, and that I
wanted fo be considered for Assistant Manager positions again. I would not have
known of the opening at the Kay store in Chula Vista, California, if Tate hadn’t
told me about it, I was not told of any other opening for Assistant Manager egain,

10. In 2006, [ learned that Tate approacted the Assistant Manager of our storé, Aaron
Delgado, about, an Assistant Manager position at the Kay store in the Parkway
Plaza in El Cajon, California. I learned about this promotional opportunity only
after Delgado told me that he had aceepted the position. Further, Delgado told me
that he did nét want this position and that he was happy working at n;.vur Kay store.r
At that time I was' interested in and qualified for the Assistant Manager position in
Chula Vista, California. However, I was unable to express interest in that

particular pasition becanse I did not know it was available until afier it was filled.

1 declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this )%W

day of 222%4 ~t_ 2008,

Debra Shuimaﬁ
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Sterling was interested in promoting were told about specific management
openings.

G. Employees sometimes found out about management openings through word of
mouth, For example, when T learned, around February 2009, that the Assistant
Manager position at our store was coming opet, I iold Store Manager Joanne
DeCorte I was interested in it. I also expressed iutegest in the position fo District
Manager Andrew Webber around that same time.

7. At that time, Webber told me to post my im‘ere'st in the position on Stetling’s
Career Advarcement Registry, which was the first tinse T had been told of this
systent. 1 posted my interest in the Assistant Manager position and heard nothing
back. Instead, wo were later told by DeCoﬁe that Justin (LNU), who had just
become a S‘;aies Associate, was then going to become the Assistant Manager,

8. 1 did not comptain fo ‘Webber about being passed over for a less-quatified male
employee because I believed it would be futife. I did not believe I would be

treated fairly by the company, and songht employment elsewhere.

I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is frue and correct, Signed this

Tﬁ’? day of ( 7&7&@- 2009
ﬂdf%@j)@mﬂ

%

ﬁms
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policies and procedures to the new Jared coneept, Although pay s;ca]es for Jared
were set solely by Vice President Joe Friedman, and the Sierling Fluman Resource
policies stayed the same, we were in charge of making some existing Sterling
policies stricter due to the fact that the Jared concept was considered to be more
high~end than the Mall Stores division. Forinstance, we made a stricter dress
code, and discounting of merchandise was not allowed at Jared.

. While ¥ was employed at Sterling, I witnessed gender discrimination regarding
many different employment practices. -FOIF example, while I was a Store Manager
and 2 General Manager, I observed that women were consistently hired at lower
salaries than their similarly situated male counterparts.

. Wamen also suffer discrimination because of the manper by which pramotions
are made, Jab operings and promotional opportumities are not posted via a formal
job posting system, Promotion decisions are instead made by Sterling’s
predoiinintly foale District Managess and Vice Presidents via a subjective “tap
on the shouldes” system.

. Males were promoted much more frequently than females. The commnonly heard
joke around the compaty was that you could anly get promoted i youTad 2’
peis.

. Tn Spring of 1998, Dave Everton took over Suthen’s position as District Manager,
Everton consistently paid fomalc employees less than theis similarly situated male
counterparts. For instance, in approximately 2000, my pumber one sales associate
at that time was Denise Maddux. Maddux was paid only $8 an hour. Dus to her

exceptional performance with the company, she wanted a significant raise, [
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DECLARATION OF ARISSA SMITH

. My name is Arissa Smith. I am a female, over the age of Zni, who resides in
Stonawood, West Virginia. Imake this declaration on personal knowledge. If
cafled to testify, I would provide the sume testimony as stated herein,

. Thegan woﬂdﬁg for Sterling Jewelers Inc, (“Sterling”)} inOctober 2002, as 2 Sales
Associate at the Kay s‘tore inn the Meadowbrook Maﬁ, in Bridpeport, West -
Virginia. 1 confinved in that position until March 2003, when I was promoted to
Assistant Manager at the Kay store in the Grand Cenlbral Mall, iﬁ Vienna, West
Virginia. Icontinued in that positiou until Septeml.:er 2003, when 1 became a
Sales Associate at the Kay store in the Morlgantown Mall, in Morgantown, West
Virginia, I continued in that position uﬁtil Tune 2004, when I was promoted to
Assistant Manager af that same store. I continued working as Assistant Manager,
untit August 2004, when 1 was promoted to Store Manager at the Kay store at the
Crossroads Mall in Mt, Hope, West Virginia, { continued in that position unil
May 2007, when Sterling terminated my employment.

. During mfy emi—Jloyment at Sterling, 1 obseﬁed that Sterling had a policy
prohibiting its employees. from discussing their pay. For example, Twas told by -
Store Manager Tason Moore when 1 firsf atarted wérking for the company, that
employzes were not to discuss their pay with other employees, and that it was
grounds for discipling, including termination. As Store Manager, I instructed the
employees that I suporvised to not discuss their pay with other employees.
Because of that policy, it is difficult for women fo identify instances where they

were paid less than male emiployees performing the same job. Nevertheless, I am
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openings and promotional opportunities were not posted via a formal job posting
system. Promotion decisions were instead made by Sterling’s District Managers
via a subjective “tap on the shoulder” system, in which Sterling notified only
those employees it was already interested in promoting about speci'ﬁc

management openings.

I declare, under pena[ty: of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct, Si gned this

. & ! dayof_@é&i&}_&&%t)&
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DECLARATION OF KAREN MARIE SMITH

My name is Karen Marie Smith. Iama f‘mlnale, over the age of 21, who resides in Isant,
| Minnesota, 1 niake this declaration on personal knowledge. If called io testify, T wounld
provide the same testimony as stated hereis

1 began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) in approximately 1989 as a
Manager in Training at the Goodman Jewelers store in Duluth, Mivnesota, Iremained in
this position for app.mxhnately a year. In approximately 1990, T transferred to Goodman ‘
Jowelers in St. Cloud, Mimtesotn an Assistant Manager. T was an Assistant Manager in
the St. Cloud store for approximately a month, nnfil my position and title was changed to
Co-Assistant Manager. I remained in the position of Co-Assistant Manager until
approximately 1991, when 1 left Sterling to work on my own jewelry business in which 1
crafied my own jewelry and sofd it at various shows. In approximately (995 or 1997, I
returned to Sierling 'and‘ worked for a few months as a full-time sales associate at
Goodmantf ewelers in Roseville, Mitnesota. In approximately 2006, I was recruited back:
10 Stexling to work as a full-thme sales associate at the Kay store i the Noxthtown Mall in
Blaine, Minnesota, [ remained in‘ that position for approximately one year, and then left
Sterling for a higher paying job at another retail jewelry store, In May of 2008, I was
offered a $1.25/hour raise to return to Sterling and so [ refurned to work at the Kay Store
in the N«c;ﬂhrown Mall in Blaine, Minnesota, I was employed at this store as a full-time
sales associate until the end of May, 2009, when I was offered & management position at

a different jewelry store.
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1 have worked in the jewelry indusiry since fhe late 19805, have been a top writer at every

stote I have worked at and have veceived prestigious aweards at each store in recognition

" of my achievements. For exarnple, in the late 1980s, L won a President’s Club award at

Gc;rdon Jewelers, wheve T worked as an Assistant Manager. I won a carat contest (m
which 1 sold the most carat weight of all the s‘toresAin the Twin Cities area) at Hoff
Jewelers when I worked in approximately 2006. L1 2007, I won a President’s Club Pin at
Stgrling. ‘ | |

During my employment at Sterling, I have observed that Sterling has a policy prohibiting

its employees from discussing their pay. As described above, T have been hived by

Sterling on five soparale occasions. Each time I was hired, T was told that employees

were not to disciiss their pay with other employees, and that it was grounds for disgip]jne,
including %Bl‘lninatic.m This information was provided o me by District Managers
Barbars Dufrane and Katie Jones as well as evéry Slore Manager and Assistant Store
Manager that T had. Because of this policy, it is difficult for women to identify instarices

wheye they were paid less than male employees performing the same job,

- Although Sterling employees are expressly forbidden from discussing theit pay, I believe

that fernales are paid less than males who perform the same or similar work. For
example, in approximately 1991, I shared the position of Co-Assistant Manager with a
male, Jolm McPonald, We split the responsibilities for that position equally. Although I
do pot have details about Mr. McDonald’s wages, he did inform me in a general way that
he made mote than T did.

During 1‘(13/ employment at Sterling, I observed that women suffered discrimination

becanse of the mauner by which promotions were made. Job openings and promotionai
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opportunities are not posted via a formal job posting system. Promofion decisions are
instead made by Sterding’s District Managers via a subjective “tap on the shoulder”
gystem, in which Sterling notifies only those etnployees it is already interested in
promoting about spéciﬁc management openings. During my employment with Stetling, T
was never informed of any way to register my interest in promotional opportunities, Gthe;
than to orally state my interést to nuy Store Manager and/or District Manager.

Tt approxi_mately 2006, 1 left my job as a Store Manager at another retail jewelry store for
a sales associﬁte position, under the belief that I would bave the same opporﬂmity at
Steﬂing.. A male, Jon Sandquist that worked under me as a Manager in Training 4t the
other jewelry store had recently been hired by Sierling and promoted to a management
position, Although I expressed an interest in promotional opportunities and managemens
positions to my District Manager Katie Jones, she never gave me any acknowledgement
that promotions were even a possibility for me.

Some time after | ¢ame back to Sterling in 2006, a brand new Kay store was built in
Ri'verdale;. Minnesota. On several occasions while fhis store was being built, [ asked
District Manager Katie Jones and Store Manager Tonya Stangler about working there and
expressed‘au interest in management opporfunities at that store. In addifion to the
opportunity for promotion; T was very interested In working at that store because the
commute was much oloser to my home. At the {ime, I was commuting approximately
fifty miles to work cach day and the new store was approximaiely only thirty miles away, ‘
When the store opened, I was not promoted or transferred to work there, A male named
Rob Sifrith was hired as the Store Manager for that store. It was well known that Rob

Smith had very kitile, if any jewelry cxpetience at ail. I remember my Store Manager, -
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management. Ollie also said that Mike Angelica was “a nice young man”™ who could help
promote a good image for the store. [ understood this as a message from Sterling that as
a woman, the company did not want me to be in a management position. Mr. Angelica
did not have a strong sales record, and I recall him telling me that he needed to get his
sales up to meet his standards.

8. Mr. Angelica asked me to train him so he could take over my job duties. He said
he had never done anvthing like the Assistant Manager job before, and on several
occasions he asked for my help and advice on how to sell the higher priced merchandise.
9. My Store Manager at the time of my demotion was Charles (“Chuck™)
Scherbring. Mr. Scherbring told me later that he had not had a say in Sterling’s decision
to promote Mr. Angelica to Assistant Manager and demote me. He said, “l never wanted
this to happen to you™ and added that he did not believe that it was right that I was
demoted. He said that if I wanted to pursue a complaint against Sterling, he would back
me up 100%.

10. T never complained about Mr. Angelica’s promotion into my job because I
thought this would jeopardize my livelihood and might get me fired.

11.  During my employment at Sterling, [ observed that Sterling had a policy of
prohibiting its employees from discussing their pay. Because of that policy, it was
difficult for women to identify instances where they were paid less than male employees
performing the same job. Nevertheless, 1 have heard that male managers are paid more
than female managers. For example, I heard from my Store Manager Helen Pagan that
she was earning a lot less than Mr. Scherbring, despite having similar qualifications and

experience.
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DECLARATION OF SCOTT SMITH

. My name is Scott Smith. Tam a male, over the age of 21, who resides in

Fairlawn, Ohio. [ make this declaration on personal knowledge. If catled to

testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein,

. I'worked for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (*Sterling™) from approximateiy 1984 1o

1997, and from 2002 until 2003.

. 1began my employment with Sterling in approximately 1984 as a Sales Associate

at the Leroy’s store in Akron, Obio. I'was then pro‘motcd in appro¥imately 1987
to Assistant Manager of the Leroy’s store in Medina, Ohio. I worked as Assistant
Marager at that store until I was promoted in 1987 to Store Manager at the

Leroy’s store in Canton, Ohio. Imanaged that store for one year, until I

transferred to the Ostennan’s store in Elyria, Ohio in 1988, | managed the .

Osterman’s store for approximately one and a half years, until T transferred to the
LeRoy’s store in Parma, Ohio, in approxirzately 1989. I manaped that store for

approximately one year, until | was promoted to District Manager for Arizona aud

' Colorade in approximately 1990. I worked ag District Manager there for

approximately two years, until I became a District Manager in North Cerolina and
South Carolina in approximately 1993. [ worked as District Manager theré, vl
appfoxima‘iﬂy 1994, when I transferred as District Manager to manage the district

of Washington state, North Dakota, and South Dakota. I continued in that

position and district until approximately 1995, when I becane the Store Manager

of the Shaw’s store in the Southill Mall in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, | mavaged

that store for approximately one year, until approximately 1996 when I iransferred
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. was on the sales floor fess, which hurt my ability to carn commissions. Powell's.
refuisal to'provide even 2 pay rangk madé be believe that thers wonld be no raise
ot just a slight raige if I was promoted to Perimeter Manager., Had Powell told me-
I worild have feceived a $2 or'$3 pay ratse I waild have stayed in the program

and continued to-seek the Perimeter Manager position.

I deciar@iinderpﬁadity of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

o4/ _ dayof fﬁz% ZM;, , 2068,

it
P 2 o '@f&@f'
Tracy Smderf\ u
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DECLARATION OF MARGARET (BAGLEY) SPINK
My name is Margaret (Bagley) Spink. 1 am also known by my nickname
“Megan.” Tam a female, over the age of 21, who resides in Pevely, Missouri. 1
mabke this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to testify, I would provide
the same testimony as stated herein,
I worked at Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”, “the Company”) from November
2002 through mid-2006. Fram 2002 through 2004, T was a Sales Associate at Kay
store 388 located at Northwest Plaza Mall in St. Ann, Missouri. Then, from
October 2004 {o early 2005, I was transferred in this same position ta Kay store
387 at West County Mall in Des Peres, Missouri. 1also helped out with office
support in that store. From carly 2005 through July 2006, I worked as a Sales
Associate with some office duties in Jared stove 2411 at The Boulevard in
Richmond Heights, Missouri. For one month during this time periad, the whole
staff from store 2411 went to Jared store 2410 at St. Louis Mills in Richmond
Heights, Missouri, to help set up and open that new store. 1 left Sterling in July
2006,
During my time at Sterling, I was aware of a policy against discussing pay. I
recall learning about this upon hiring, 1 also believe that men were vatued and
compensated more favorably than women in similar positions,
Around 2003-2004, T heard Store Manager Chris Mohme make a disturbing
comment to me and some other Sterling employees while we were setting up the

store for the day. In the coursc of a conversation about pay, he said something to
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DECLARATION OF RICHARD SUMEN
My name.is Richard Sumen [ am a male, pverthe age of 18, and I reside in North
Dlrsted, Ohio, T am competent to testify to the following frore iny personal sxperience
and kiowledse, and declare as follows:
I bégan my carcer-with Sterling Jewélers Ine. (“Sterling”) in approximately 1992 it
Cleveland, Ohio through Sterling’s acquisition of Rogers Jewelers ( I as originally hired
' in1986 with Rogers). My jQE fitle was as a district manager over sgverd] of Sterting’s
brand names; amongthem: Rogers, Kay, TeRoy, Os-férﬁlé;ii?"ék_ dnd other mall op'cr.até:d
_ stares. As .distﬁct_mamager, my territory cweréd 10 to 15 mall stores in. Clevei;:':id, Chio
and thf:--surréunding areas. As disirict manager, I was responsible for store eperatiors,
including, but-not limited o, hifing, firing, training, storc-operiings ahd closing, sales
generatior; and revenug, ind employee counseling.
T zipprdxﬁnétely 1993, T was chosen to be part. ofa stall tedin responsible. for favilitating:
t‘hé’ redevelopinent of the Sterling division called Jared The Galleria Of Jewelry (*Jared™):
Iﬂ'ifis‘ﬂi'jr,' this posilion was overse¢ing the 3 ariginal Jared stores whils redevaloping and
re-writing almost ali of the division’s policy and pracedures. -Over the next several years
my responsibilities fncluded the opaniilg of mariy new storés, the training of new Jared
managers and staffs, the training of new JTared district tnanagers along with supejivisirig
my owr districts/markets. Thesé inarkéts included new an'd‘ existing stores in the states
of Ohio, Colorade, Maryland, Florida, Washington, D.C., Virginia, Nevada, Michigan,
and Texas. [continued to work as a distriet manager for Jared stores unil approximately

2003.
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employees, the mediation pariel was hot an independent decision making body. Thave
friends who have been chosen and sat on a médiaﬁbn panel. They have informed me that
Sterling’s legal counsel advises the paniel before the mediation on what questions to ask
claimants dnd wiat issues to igaore, The attorney then officiously assists the pgnel m
making their dec.ision. Many times, employees that are targeted to be “terininated” or
“reﬁmwcd” are vften offered séverance packages-with-comprehensive releases, including:
provisiéns that they are not pe;nqitfeﬁ-to discuss of pirticipate in any legal action sgainst
Sterling or thiey will be required to réfimd the severance and pay for all attorrey foes
related to the breach. This ‘;Sévcrance package” was offered to me and several others that
Iknow. 1 do not believe Sterling’s RESOLVE program is a.fair process to efiployees.
Lhave alse witnessed Sterling vice-presidents discuss and brag in my presenice about how
Sterling has successfutly killed off most lawsuits by requiring employess 'to‘-'a.g!'efe to.use
the RESOLVE Panel to resolve afl disputes and with paying employees off with
sevérance packages. ,I know other foiter Sterling employees who wonld testify to
Sterlirig’s unlawful employreént practices agiinst Wwomen but are afraid io come forward

because they have signed these severance agreements,

T declare under penalty of perjuty that the foregpitig statement is tue'and correct. Diated

el

R_{ HARD SUME

this 221G day of July, 2008.
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11

This was the type of ;.vorkplace conduct fhat was acceptable and commonplace at

‘Sterling. -

As a Store Manager, I was responsible foy interviewing and' hiving ail sales associates
and managers who worked in my store. Typical]y,,.the fermale sales associates I hired
outperformed the male sales associates in generating sales revenue, Nonetheless, most
pcrso;:lg hired in%‘o Ster[iﬁg managemeni-in-raining or management-in-waiting
programs wetre male, nn;;t female. |

Sterling’s nwnagément—in—training program was run by corporate and regional
managers, They made the fﬁring. pay, training, and position decisions asscoiated with
this program. Persons in this program were hired from ouiside the company, paid
mattager wages, and wete blaced in stores for accelerated on-the-job training,

In setling an employee’s hourly pay rate, [ was required to obtain approval from the
District Manager. For certain pay rates and positions, the Regional Manapger’s
approval was also rcqui'red‘ There were no pay guidelines for me or other store
managers to follow in sei’tiu,g initial pay rates,

Sterling did not have promotional guidelines or any objective criteria for me and other
store managers to follo‘{v when making promotion suggestions. At Sterling, there was
a discretionary “tap—on;{%he—shouidm"’ system for promoting individuéls to full-time
and manageinent positions. Like pay decisions, promotions needed to be approved by
the Distiict Maﬁéger and/or Regional Managér.

Based on my expetience and long history with Sterling,_i believe Sterling thinls it can

pay fernale employess less than male employees doing the same job., The mindset at
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Sterling was that men Werp p.ﬁid more than wommen because they had families‘ to
support. 1 i}e]ieve fhis mindset affects pay and promotion decisions at Sterling,
Fernale etployees who are unfaitly paid Jess than males performing similar jobs
cannot discover this information easily. Throughout my employment with Sterling,
Sterl; ng had a company-wide pnlit:}': that employees were not allowed fo discuss pz;.y,
At one point, I recall this was a wrilten policy. ﬁowever, written or not, managers
were acutely aware thaé employees were not to discuss pay, and it was a policy strictly
enforced in everj;' district I encountered.

T declare under penalty of perjury that the forepoing statement is tete and cotrect.

sl e

DANIEL SZLAG &

{, ) X
Dated this “7 “day of Apiil, 2009.
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opportunities were rot posted via a formal job posting system. Promotion
decisions were instead made by Sterling’s District Managers and Vice Presidents
via & subjective “tap on the shoulder” system, in which only those emiployees that
Sterling was already inferested in promoting were notified of specific
managenent openings,

. After I became an Assistant Manager in early 2001, I was interested in being
promotéd to Store Manager, I expressed this interest to Store Manager Christine
Chann and District Manager Michael Molinare, —

. InJuly 2001, Molinare approached me about being the Store Manager of the Kay
store in Massena, New York. This sfore was about three hows from my home, |
and n1y fiancé would not be able to move with me to Massena. Itold Mb}fnare
that T would rather wait for a Store Manager position to come available in
Syracuse, Mew York. Ihad heard that there may be some Store Manager
positions opening up in Syracuse, whieh was about an hour from my home and
was within commuting distance. Molinare replied that if I did not aécept this
position then I would not get another chance at being a Store Manager. He added
that if I did not take the position then he could not teke me seriously. Sincel
observed that the District Manager’s snpport was crucial to advancement within |
the company, and I took Mo liuare"s warnings seriously, I accepted the promotion.
. Within months of this promotion, I learned that several Store Manager positions
opened up in the Syracuse area that wentf to mate employess,

. The Kay store in Massena that I was promoted to was known in tﬁa district tobe a

troubled store. The previous Store Manager was arrested for theft, and the Store
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DECLARATION OF ADAWIE TARRAB
My name is Adawie Tarrab, Tam a female, over the age of 21, who resides in St.
Petersburg, Flerida. I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to
testify, [ would provide the same testimony as stated herein,
I began working for Sterting Jewelers Inc. {*“Sterling”™) in chober’IZUOD, as 4 Sales
Associate at the Kay store in fhe Tyrone Square Mall, in St. Petersburg, Florida. 1
continued i that position until March 2001, ;w'hen I left the company,
Ibegan working for Sterling again in May 2001, as a Sales Associate at the Marks
& Morgan store o the Brandon Town Ceniey, in Brandon, Florida, Tcontinued in
that position vhal M;}F 2603 when I transferred to the Kay store in'the = -

Intemat;oqaﬁlazq i ”gazppa, Florida, I contnmcd in that posltmn antid M'ay

lfﬂ! RN

2006 when bl ft.tbﬁb gmpany. . T G D

mhm 1 rrn; m.

‘ Dm_ip'g my g;’;;p;oyg;ggt w:th Steﬂmg, Iwas in the Premdcnt’s CIub ever fulI

O G LG,
. “Eape L L BE .
year that I worked for the company.

Duriag my err'lploimi%ﬁt with Sterling, I observed that Sterling had 4 policy
prohibiting its énﬁalgyées from discussing their pay. For example, I was told b'y‘ '
Store Managezs throughout my career that employees were not fo drsauss theu
pay wzth other employees, and that it was grounds for termination. Because of
tha;,pohcy, it ;s d;fﬁgllff for women to identify instances where they were pald
less than m;:ﬂeE :éhli;lg;ees performing the same job.

;jpb$ew,e,d th;}t,Women,sgffered d:scnmmatlon at Stelilflg beo_auﬁef Jofttli}e)‘mﬁ{}!nex

by ¥ Wlnch prog;joq s }t{,@}‘e made. Job openings and promotional opportunities

.w{e;gn‘o_,;,pglsti?!ti ;_&gta f;ormai job posflng system, Promohon declsmns were

R Y i
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5. Paragraph 1 of the Sterling declaration is untrue because I did not
voluntarily provide the statement. [ was told by my then Store Manager Melissa Scanlon
that I was required to participate in the interview. In addition, the statement does not
reflect my personal knowledge.

6. Paragraph 11 states that I was never denied a promotion based upon my
gender. This was nof true; [ believe I was denied a promotion in 2001 in favor of a less
qualified male for just that reason. In addition, I was not aware of other promotions
which T might have received but for gender discrimination because Sterling did not post
promoftional vacancies.

7. Paragraph 17 of the statement states that I typically tracked my own hours
and incentive and reviewed my paychecks fo be sure my pay was accurate. In fact this
was nof my practice pot did 1 state that it was. In addition, I never had complained about
inaccuracies in my pay to my store manager or to Human Resources. This had not
occurred and no such example as that described had occurred,

8. Paragraphs 22 and 23 also falsely represent that I voluntarily provided the
statement. In fact I was intimidated, afraid to refuse to participate in the interview and
feared retaliation if I refused to sign the statement or disagreed with its contents. I felt
that I had been summoned to the interview specifically “to agree” and that the process
was being conducted for the benefit of Sterling, to protect it from some legal trouble.

9. I do not recall being provided with a copy of the statement at the time I
signed it. Several months ago, I received a letter from Sterling reminding me that I had
signed this statement for the Company under oath. This letter disturbed and intimidated

me,
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10.  Because I am no longet employed by Sterling or dependent upon Sterling
for my livelihood, I no longer feel afraid to acknowledge experiences I had during my
employment, which demonstrated to me that Sterling did in fact make promotion
decisions in favor of males based upon gender and that Sterfing would transfer females
who complained of sexual harassment rather than discipline or demote the harasser.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing declaration is true and

cotrect.

Signed this f, day of \.,,,,2 , 2013,

M’% - \/l A Jh“

Adawie Mais Tarrab™~-
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DECLARATION OF MARY TAYLOR
My name is Mary Taylor. 1 am a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Endicott, New York. I make this declaration on personal knowledge, If called to
testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein,
I began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“*Sterling”) as a Sales Associate at the
Weisteld store in the Westminster Mali, in Wesiminster, Colorado, in
approximately May 1993, I continued in that position until approximately March
1994, when I quif this position,
I began working for Sterling again as a Sales Associate at the Belden store in the
Oakdale Mall, in Johnson City, New York, in approximately May 1994, 1
continued in fhat position until approximately the end of 1995. I then began
working as a Sales Associate and part-time Office Manager at the Kay store in
ti{alt.rsafni‘a rﬁéll. I cont.i‘nuéc'i" iﬁ 'th:é-t' posmon until approximately the end of 1997,
when I quit tllié position. |
I began working for Sterling again as a Sales Associate at the Kay store in the
Oakdale Mall, in Johnson City, New York, in approximatety 2000. I worked for
about a year, and quit this position in approximately July 2001,
I began working for Sterling again as a Sales Associate at the Kay store in the
Oakdale Mall, in approximately 2002, I continued in this position for about nine
months, when I quit in 2003,
During my employment with Sterling, I observed that Sterling had a policy

-prohibiting its employees from 'dischssiﬁg their pay.

CL-STR009368






cettificate, previous jewelty and management experience, and had worked for
Steriing for over a year.

11, Icomplained to my Store Manager about being passed over for promotion, and
asked him why this male was hired for the position instead of giving the
promotion to me. My Store Manager gave me no credible explanation for my not
getting promoted to Assistant Manager; rather, he told me that T was a good sales
person and knew the store’s merchandise.

12.  Inapproximately 2002 or 2003, T was again passed over for promotion to
Assistant Manager at the Kay store in the Oakdale Mall, in Johnson City, New
York. Instead of promoting me, Sterling promoted a less-qualified male

employee from a store in Elmira, New York, to this Assistant Manager position,

I declare, under penalty of perjury, that the {oregoing is true and correct, Signed this

2| day of f\pri l_ , 2012,

Unana o s

Mary Taylar) g
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AMENDED DECLARATION OF DIANE THIELKER
1, My name is Diane Thielker, Iam a female, over the age of 21, who resides in
Raynham, Massachusetts. 1 make this declaration on personal knowledge. If called to
testify, [ would provide the same testimony as stated herein,
2. I began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Stetling”) in October 2004, as a Sales
Associate at the Kay store in the Southshore Plaza in Braintree, Massachusetts. 1
continned in that position until I became the Third Key at that same store. ¥ continued
working as Third Key until approximately February 2008, when I became a Sales
Associate at the Jared store in Plymouth, Massachusetts. 1 applied for Timepiece
Manager but never was promoted. In June 2008, I was terminated for allegedly deficient
sales standards.
3. I began working for Sterling again in August 2008, as a Sales Associate at the
Kay store in the Southshore Plaza in Braintree, Massachusetts, In April 2009, T was
transferted to a Kay’s Store in Kingston, where I worked until January 2010, I
transferred to a Kay’s Store in Brockton, Massachusetts and worked as sales associate
and Third Key Holder until April 2013, when I requested and received a transfer to a
Kay’s Store in Plymouth, Massachusetts, where I am currently employed as a fuil-time
sales associate.
4. I observed that Sterling had a policy prohibiting its employees from discussing
their pay. For example, I was told by Store Manager Chris Newton that employees are
not to discuss their pay with other employees, and that it was grounds for discipline,

including termination.
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Newfon or other managers tell employees about the existence on this online system for

expressing interest in promotions.

1 declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

,2013.
(NI i
A0 o et
Diape Thielker
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DECLARATION OF BETTY TUMLIN

1. My name is Betty Tumlin. I am a femals, over the age of 21, who resides in
Fairmont, West Virginia. I make this declaration on persenal knowledge. If
calied to testify, T would provide ihe same testimony as stated herein.

2. In 1982, I began working as a Store Manager af Clifford’s Jeweless, at the
Meadowbrook Mall, in Bridgeport, West Virginia. At some point around 1985,
Sterling Jewelers Inc, (“Sterting”) acquired this store and it then became a
Leroy’s store. I confinned working as Store Manager of that Léroy’s store for
approximately shree years, when [ was demoted in 1985 fo Assistant Manager at
that seme store. I worked as Assistant Manager at that Leroy's storg for
approximately a year and a haif, when I was promoted to Store Manager at that
same store. I contitined as Store Manager until 1990, when 1 was promoted fo
Store Manager of the Leroy’s store in the Grand Ceniral Mz, in Parkersburg,
West Virginia, T continued in fhat position until 1999, when I was promoted to -
District Manager of the West Virginia district, which included two stores in
Pennsylvania. I continued in that position until June 2006, when I was demoted
from District Manager while on medicail leave. I'began working as the Store
Manager of the JB Robinson store in the Mofgﬁntown Mall, in Morganiown, West
Virginia in January 2007, I continue in that position to the present,

3. During my employment at Sterling, 1 observed thet Sterling had a policy
prohibiting its employees from discussing their pay, I was toldl by District
Managers tlroughout my career that employees were not to discuss how much

they were pald. As Store Manager and District Manager, I have instracted
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DECLARATION OF STEVEN TUREK
My naine is Steven Turek. I am a male, over tho age of 21, who resides in Newport
News, Virginia. Tmake {lts declaration on personal knm{vledg& If catled to testify, I
would provide the seme testimouy as sfated hereiﬁ.
I began working for Steriiﬁg Jewelers Ine, (Sterling) as a Sales Asgsociate af the Kay store
in the Patricl; Hémy Mall, in Newport Newé, Virginia, in 2002, T co]ltinuefi in that
position for approximately one and a half yéars, until 1 left the company in 2003.
I returied to employment at Sterling in Aptil 2006, again as a Sales Associate at the Kay
store in the Patrick Hemry MaU,‘i.n MNewport News, Virginia, [ continued in that position
until Tune or Tuly 2006, when | was promoted to Assistant Manager at that same stote, T
continued it1 that position uutil January 2008, when I was promoted fo Store Manager of-
theé IB Roﬁihson store in the Patrick Hem'y‘Mall, in Newport News, Virginia. Icontinued
in tﬁat poéi fHon Uﬂhj January 2009, wévhen 1 lefi the company,
During my'emﬁloyment at Sterling, T observed that Sterling had a policy prohibifing its
employeés from discussing their pay. For example, I was told by  Store Manager Mjsty
Pace, at the Kay store in the Patrick Henry Mail, that employees were not to discuss their
pay with other employses, and that it was grounds for discipling including termination.
In approximately 2006, [ saw Store Manager Misty Pace discipline two Sales Associates,
Josie Watson and Tina Diongzon because she found out they were discussing their pay.
D; approximately 2006, District Manager Bob Griffin warned m & not to disquss how
much I was paid afier I came back to work at Stevling in the Kay store in the Patriek

Henry Mall,
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Declaration of Theresa (Borders) Ward
My name is Theresa Ward, formerly Theresa Borders. [ am a female, over the
age of 21, who resides in Pensacola, Florida, I make this declaration on personal
knowledge. If called to testify, I would provide the same testimony as stated
herein.
I worked at Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”, “the Company”) between 1994 and
2004, During this time, I moved several times for personal reasons and [ worked
at several different Sterling stores focated in Alabama, Georgia, and Texas. The
below facts reflect the dates and locations of my work with the Company to the
best of my recollection, I started with Sterling in 1994 as a part-time Sales
Associate at Kay store 271 at Wiregrass Commons in Dothan, Alabama. In
approximately 1995, I became a full-time Sales Associate at this store and
remained there until approximately suminer 1997. Then I moved to Georgia and,
around 1998, I transferred to Kay store 1406 located at Southlake Mall in
Morrow, Georgia in the same position, In approximately 1999, I transferred to
Kay store 1439 located at Shannon Southpark Mall in Union City, Georgia where
I continued to work as a [ull-time Sales Associate. Later in 1999 [ transferred to
Kay store 1457, at Arbor Place Mall located in Douglasville, Georgia as a Sales
Associate. I remained there until around the end of that year, when I transferred
to Jared store 468 in the same Mall. In approximately 2000, I returned to store
1457 and was promoted to Assistant Manager. Later that year, 1 transferred to
Kay store 1436 at the Cumberland Mall in Atlanta Georgia, where I was offered

the Third Key position. T was not offered a pay raise, though, so I ook the
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transfer buf remained a full-time Sales Associate during the few months I worked
in that store. Around the end of 2000, I moved back to Alabama and worked at
Kay store 635 as an Assistant Manager at Bel Air Mall in Mobile, Alabama for
about six months. Aficr that, in approximately 2001, I returned to Georgia to work
at Kay store 1439 at Stonecrest Mall in Lithonia, (Georgia as a Sales Associate. [
took the Sales Associate job because I was told that there were no Assistant
Manager positions available at that time. I only stayed there for a few months.
Around fall 2001, I transferred to Kay store 1839 in Stonccrest Mali in At{anta,
Georgia as a Sales Associate. Then I moved to Texas and, in spring 2002, [
transferred to Kay store 1536 at Valley View Center Mall in Dallas, Texas as a
Sales Associate. Then I transferred to Kay store 1500 at Town East Mall in
Mesquite, Texas as a Sales Associate. | remained at store 1500 until
approximately mid-2003, when I returned to Georgia and to store 1839, this time
as a Sales Associate. Around summer 2003, T was promoted to Store Maunager of
Kay store 1407 in Gwinnelt Place Mall in Duluth, Georgia. Then, around May
2004, [ transferred as Store Manager to Marks and Morgan store 1975 at
Stonecrest Mall in Lithonia, Georgia, I remained in that position until [ was
terminated by Sterling in August 2004,

. During my time at Sterling, I do not recall any formal posting of promotional
opportunities for current employees in the stores. It is my understanding that
Sterling basically just promoted whomever it wanted to promote.

. During my time at Sterling, I believe that I was repeatedly passed over for

promotion in favor of less qualified males. It took me six yeats to work my way
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DECLARATION OF BARBARA WHITE

. My name is Bazbara Whlte I am a female, over the age of 21, who 1eszdes in
Palkersbm £, West Vl;;ima I ;ﬁake this deolaraﬁ;l; (:;11 personal knowiedge If
called to testlfy, I would provide the same testimony as stated herein.

. ibegan working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. (“Sterling”) as a Sales Associate at the
Leroy’s store in the Grand Ceniral Mali, in Parkersburg, West Virginia, in
approxhnatély 1982. I contimyed in this position until approximately some time:
in the 1990's, when I was promoted fo Third Key at that saine store, After’
working as a Third Key for several years, I became a Sales Asscoiate af that same
store, 1 contmued ity that position until approximately December 2006, when T
left the company

i

. Durmg my employment at Sterling, I'was ;)ﬂen .a ;fop seiler I was a men'ﬂ:el of

the Presidests Club f01 ﬁﬁeen to sixteen ycars, and won trips base’(’l Iou n|1y i
perfoﬁnancel ' |

. During my employment at Sterling, I observed that Sterling had a policy
pmi1i!;iti11g its employees from discussing their pay, For example, Twastoldhy ~
- my Stor§ Managers and District Méﬁagers throughout my career that employces -
were never to discuss their pay with other employees, and that il was grounds for
discipline, including termination.

. Some time during the 1990°s, T found out what a male Sales Associz;.te was being
paid,’ T was upset to learn how much more he was paid thair T was, everd though T

had been with the coptpany at least ten years longer, and had an excellent sales

record. I comijslained to the Store Manager, whose name I canuot recall, T told
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the Store Manager I wanted to be paid as much as this male Sales Associate. The

* Store Manager fold me that the Sales Associate was not supposed to say how

bmu(:h he is paid, and fired him that day. The Store Manager told me he would

talk to the Disirict Manager about my pay, but I did 1ot receive 3 raise.

. Because of Sterling’s policy prohibiting employees from discussing pay, it is

difficult for women fo identify instances where they were paid less than male
employees performing the same job. Idid not discuss pay with othier employees
because 1 was afraid of being fired,

During my employment at Sterling, I observed that women suffered

discrimination because of the manner by which promoticns were made. Job

openings and promotionzl opportunities were not posted via a formal job posting

system. Promotion decisions were instead made by Sterling’s Store Managers
and District Managers via a subjective “tap on the shoulder” system, in which
enly those employees whg Sterling wanted to promote were notified of spe‘ciﬁc
managesnent openings.

I the mid to late 1980°s, after I had worked at the company for several years, I
told my Store Manager that T was interested i becoming an Assistant Managey,
He and the other employees asked me why I wanted to be an Assistant Manager.
Sometimes they feased me and made jokes about me being a manager, Nothing
came of telling 1y Store Manager about my interest in management except.
ridicule. He did not tell me what I needed to do or learn in order to be prometed,
or even how to apply. Neither he nor aﬁy of the next Store Managers or Distriet

Managers told me of any open Assistant Manager posifions.
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14. Throughout my career at Sterfing, I observed that the female employees had to
clean the store, This included cleaning the bathrooins, jewelry cases, and

vaguuming the floors. The male émployees were ravely told to clean the store,

Ideclare, lmder_perialty of pexjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this-

_@_ day of _%MJ& 2009, |
%m}%&xz )7%%{)_

Barbara White
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12.

13.

14.

I5.

Sterling managers make similar comments about the need to pay men more
becaunse they had families to support.

I also believe that Sterling unfairly denied me raises that I earned. Between 2006
and 2008 my store was doing extremely well, and I outperformed other managers
in my district in terms of sales. John Grande praised me and my work at the
company, and told me that he trusted me to run the store successfully without
much oversight. During this time, I repeatedly asked Mr. Grande and my
Regional Vice President, Bill Mooney, for a raise. | was denied, and Mr. Grande
gave me excuses for why the company would not give me a raise such as, “We’re
not really giving raises now.... It’s a recession.” [ received minor, incremental
raises, and | think that these were designed to stop me from complaining but they
did not reflect my accomplishments at the company. Nor did these raises bring
my pay to where it should have been relative to that of male employees with less
experience, who had met with less success in the company in terms of sales.

I also faced pushback from management when I sought raises on behalf of my
mostly-female employees. For example, John Grande would give me the same
response he had given me when I asked for a raise for myself (e.g. “It’s a
recession”). On other occasions, Mr. Grande would decline to discuss my request

and blow me off altogether.

~ To my knowledge, Sterling did not have a formal process by which promotional

opportunities were announced during my time with the company.
I believe that Sterling showed preferential treatment to males in terms of

promotion. For example, around 2007 after I had been working as Store Manager
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5. During my employment at Sterling, there was no forimal promotion system.
Instead, promotions were made by Sterting picking the person it wanted for the
job without any applications being made. This process also seemed unfair.

I declare, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Signed this

"7 dayor_ Ay ,2012.
Ronald Wilson
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DECLARATION OF KELLY WYTAS

. My name is Kelly Wytas. I am a female, over the age df.?l, who resides in

Kensingfon, Connecficut, I make this declaration on personal knowledge. If

called to testify, I would provide the same festimony as stated herein.

2. 1 began working for Sterling Jewelers Inc. {“Sterling”) in December 2004, asa

Sales Associate at thie Belden.store in the Meriden Square Mall, in Meriden,
Comnecticut. T continved in that posiiion untit May 2005, when I transfarred as a
Sales Associate to the Kay store at that same mall. T continued in that position

untii Novermber 2005, when I left the company,

. While employed at Sterling, I understood that Sterling had a policy prohibiting its

employees from discussing their pay, Becuuse of that poticy, it is difficuit for
women to identify instances where they were paid less than male en‘iplﬂyees

performing the sarte job, - - -

. Women suffered discrimination at Sterling because of the manner by which

promotions were made. Jobr openings and promotional apportunities were not
postéd vin a formal job posting system. Bmployees found out sbout such
openings thirough word of mouth, such as when we learhed soimeone was quitting

or was terminated.

. Twas interested in promotions from the beginning of my employment with

Sterling. I expressed this interest to my Store Manager, Hector Acievedo. He
never told me of any available Third Key or Assistant Manager positions,

e

Page f of 2

CL-5TR008998



1 declars, under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and corzect. Signed this

NI dayofggégwmhgﬁ , 2008, :
MenVa
567,{’/56 G
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